

The Effects of Management Practices on Grassland Birds— Golden Eagle (*Aquila chrysaetos*)

Chapter O of

The Effects of Management Practices on Grassland Birds



Professional Paper 1842–0

U.S. Department of the Interior U.S. Geological Survey

Cover. Golden Eagle. Photograph by Craig Koppie, used with permission. Background photograph: Northern mixed-grass prairie in North Dakota, by Rick Bohn, used with permission.

The Effects of Management Practices on Grassland Birds—Golden Eagle (*Aquila chrysaetos*)

By Robert K. Murphy,¹ John P. DeLong,^{2,3} Lawrence D. Igl,² and Jill A. Shaffer²

Chapter 0 of **The Effects of Management Practices on Grassland Birds**

Edited by Douglas H. Johnson,² Lawrence D. Igl,² Jill A. Shaffer,² and John P. DeLong^{2,3}

¹Eagle Environmental, Inc.

²U.S. Geological Survey.

³University of Nebraska-Lincoln (current).

Professional Paper 1842–0

U.S. Geological Survey, Reston, Virginia: 2023

For more information on the USGS—the Federal source for science about the Earth, its natural and living resources, natural hazards, and the environment—visit https://www.usgs.gov or call 1–888–ASK–USGS.

For an overview of USGS information products, including maps, imagery, and publications, visit https://store.usgs.gov.

Any use of trade, firm, or product names is for descriptive purposes only and does not imply endorsement by the U.S. Government.

Although this information product, for the most part, is in the public domain, it also may contain copyrighted materials as noted in the text. Permission to reproduce copyrighted items must be secured from the copyright owner.

Suggested citation:

Murphy, R.K., DeLong, J.P., IgI, L.D., and Shaffer, J.A., 2023, The effects of management practices on grassland birds—Golden Eagle (*Aquila chrysaetos*), chap. O *of* Johnson, D.H., IgI, L.D., Shaffer, J.A., and DeLong, J.P., eds., The effects of management practices on grassland birds: U.S. Geological Survey Professional Paper 1842, 65 p., https://doi.org/10.3133/pp18420.

ISSN 2330-7102 (online)

Contents

Acknowledgments	V
Capsule Statement	1
Breeding Range	1
Suitable Habitat	3
Breeding Habitat	4
Nests and Nest Sites	6
Perch Sites	8
Winter Habitat	8
Prey Habitat	9
Area Requirements and Landscape Associations	11
Brood Parasitism by Cowbirds and Other Species	13
Breeding-Season Phenology and Site Fidelity	13
Species' Response to Management	14
Electrocution	14
Collisions	15
Poisoning—Lead Toxicosis	16
Poisoning—Rodenticides and Other	17
Shooting	19
Incidental Trapping	19
Energy Development	19
Other Land-Use Changes	21
Recreational Activity	
Fire	23
Grazing	24
Climate Change	26
Management Recommendations from the Literature	27
Electrocution	
Collisions	
Poisoning—Lead Toxicosis	31
Poisoning—Rodenticides and Other	
Shooting	
Incidental Trapping	34
Energy Development	34
Other Land-Use Changes	
Recreational Activity	
Fire	
Grazing	40
Climate Change	41
References	42

Figures

01.	Breeding, year-round, migration, and nonbreeding distribution of the Golden Eagle	
	(Aquila chrysaetos) in North America	!

Tables

01.	Nesting chronology of Golden Eagles (<i>Aquila chrysaetos</i>) recorded across the
	Great Plains and adjoining areas6

Conversion Factors

International System of Units to U.S. customary units

Multiply	Ву	To obtain
	Length	
centimeter (cm)	0.3937	inch (in.)
meter (m)	3.281	foot (ft)
kilometer (km)	0.6214	mile (mi)
	Area	
square meter (m ²)	0.0002471	acre
hectare (ha)	2.471	acre
square kilometer (km ²)	247.1	acre
square meter (m ²)	10.76	square foot (ft ²)
hectare (ha)	0.003861	square mile (mi ²)
square kilometer (km ²)	0.3861	square mile (mi ²)
	Volume	
cubic meter (m ³)	35.31	cubic foot (ft ³)
cubic meter (m ³)	1.308	cubic yard (ft ³)
	Mass	
gram	0.03527	ounce (oz)
kilogram	2.205	pound (lb)

Temperature in degrees Celsius (°C) may be converted to degrees Fahrenheit (°F) as °F = (1.8 × °C) + 32.

Abbreviations

APLIC	Avian Power Line Interaction Committee
APWRA	Altamont Pass Wind Resource Area
AR	anti-coagulant rodenticide
BACI	before-after-control-impact
BGEPA	Bald and Golden Eagle Protection Act
DDE	dichlorodiphenyldichloroethylene
DDT	dichlorodiphenyltrichloroethane
FWS	U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service
ppm	part per million
RND	relative nesting density
spp.	species (applies to two or more species within the genus)

Acknowledgments

Major funding for this effort was provided by the Prairie Pothole Joint Venture, the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service, and the U.S. Geological Survey. Additional funding was provided by the U.S. Forest Service, The Nature Conservancy, and the Plains and Prairie Potholes Landscape Conservation Cooperative. We thank the following cooperators who provided access to their bibliographic files: Louis B. Best, Carl E. Bock, Brenda C. Dale, Stephen K. Davis, James J. Dinsmore, Fritz L. Knopf (deceased), Rolf R. Koford, David R. C. Prescott, Mark R. Ryan, David W. Sample, David A. Swanson, Peter D. Vickery (deceased), and John L. Zimmerman (deceased). We thank Patsy D. Renz for her illustration of the Golden Eagle and Paul G. Rodewald, editor of the Cornell Lab of Ornithology's Birds of the World Online series (https://birdsoftheworld.org/ bow/home), for permission to use the range map from Kochert and others (2002). We also thank Courtney L. Amundson, Joel S. Brice, Rachel M. Bush, James O. Church, Shay F. Erickson, Silka L.F. Kempema, Emily C. McLean, Susana Rios, Bonnie A. Sample, and Robert O. Woodward for their assistance with various aspects of this effort. Lynn M. Hill and Keith J. Van Cleave, U.S. Geological Survey, acquired many publications for us throughout this effort, including some that were very old and obscure. Comments and ideas from Bryan E. Bedrosian, Ross H. Crandall, Julie A. Heath, Michael N. Kochert, Kevin J. Kritz (deceased), Brian A. Millsap, Elizabeth K. Mojica, and Brian A. Tangen greatly improved this document; Jeremy E. Guinn provided helpful insights on an earlier version of this chapter.

The Effects of Management Practices on Grassland Birds—Golden Eagle (*Aquila chrysaetos*)

By Robert K. Murphy,¹ John P. DeLong,^{2,3} Lawrence D. Igl,² and Jill A. Shaffer²

Capsule Statement

Keys to Golden Eagle (*Aquila chrysaetos*) management in western North America's grasslands, particularly those of the Great Plains region, include maintaining open, mostly undeveloped landscapes that sustain at least modest population levels of suitable prey (most typically rabbits [Leporidae] and prairie dogs or ground squirrels [Sciuridae]); safeguarding nesting territories (that is, breeding areas), especially nest structures within territories, from human disturbances; mitigating major sources of anthropogenic mortality, particularly electrocution on powerlines, shooting, collisions with structures and vehicles, and poisoning by lead and rodenticides; and averting climate change.

Breeding Range

Golden Eagles have a Holarctic distribution, occurring throughout most of North America, Europe, Asia, and parts of northern Africa (Katzner and others, 2020b). One (Aquila chrysaetos canadensis) of six recognized subspecies inhabits North America. Figure O1 shows the breeding, year-round, migration, and nonbreeding distributions of the Golden Eagle in North America in general (not all geographic places mentioned in this report are shown on figure). A more detailed map of the species' distribution in western North America is found in Wheeler (2003). According to Wheeler (2003), the species' breeding range extends from far northern Alaska, Yukon Territory, and the Northwest Territory; south to central Mexico; west to much of the Pacific Coast; and east to southwestern North Dakota, central South Dakota, and far southwestern Kansas. An eastern North American population breeds in parts of Manitoba, Ontario, Quebec, and throughout Labrador (Katzner and others, 2020b). However, this account focuses mainly on Golden Eagles in the Great Plains and other grassland and shrubsteppe regions of western North America.

²U.S. Geological Survey.

³University of Nebraska-Lincoln (current)



Golden Eagle. Illustration by Patsy D. Renz, used with permission.

The year-round distribution of nonbreeding Golden Eagles in western North America is as germane to conserving the species as is the species' breeding distribution. The Golden Eagle is a K-selected species, with sexual maturity (that is, adult age) typically delayed until the fifth year of life and breeding pairs exhibiting low reproductive output (Katzner and others, 2020b; Millsap and others, 2022). As such, preadult-aged individuals constitute a crucial population component, and their year-toyear survival is nearly as critical as that of adults. Many adultaged Golden Eagles are floaters (that is, individuals that fail to secure a breeding area in a given year); these individuals are quickly able to fill vacancies in breeding areas as such opportunities arise, and thus serve to buffer populations from declines (Haller, 1996; Hunt, 1998; Hunt and others, 2017). Together with overwintering migrants, the geographic distribution of preadults and floaters extends beyond the species' breeding range and includes most of the Great Plains.

¹Eagle Environmental, Inc.



Figure 01. Breeding, year-round, migration, and nonbreeding distribution of the Golden Eagle (*Aquila chrysaetos*) in North America.

Golden Eagles from northern Canada and most of Alaska are strongly migratory (Kochert and others, 2002; Katzner and others, 2020b). The species occupies its northern summer range from about mid-March through mid-October, except some individuals remain year-round in parts of southern Alaska, southern Yukon Territory, and northwestern British Columbia (Wheeler, 2003) and in parts of Saskatchewan (Houston, 1985). Individuals migrating from northern latitudes of western North America overwinter in much of southwestern Canada; throughout the conterminous western United States, eastern portions of the Great Plains, occasionally western parts of the upper Great Lakes States, and the upper Mississippi River Valley; and most of northern and central Mexico (Kochert and others, 2002; Wheeler, 2003; Katzner and others, 2020b). Golden Eagles from regions south of the boreal forest are mostly nonmigratory, although some individuals from mid-latitudes could be considered short-distance migrants; breeding individuals tend to remain on territory year-round but their home ranges may increase in size during winter (Katzner and others, 2020b). Based on a compilation of telemetry-based movements from 571 Golden Eagles across North America, annual ranges of individuals from western North America seldom overlapped with those of conspecifics from eastern North America (Brown and others, 2017).

Suitable Habitat

Golden Eagles use a broad range of habitat types but generally occupy open landscapes ranging from arid deserts, grasslands, and shrubsteppe to arctic and alpine tundra (Katzner and others, 2020b). In North America, Golden Eagles breed at elevations from nearly sea level (Poole and Bromley, 1988) to 3,630 meters (m) (G.R. Craig, personal commun. in Katzner and others, 2020b). In the southern Rocky Mountains, breeding occurs up to 3,048 m (E. Wellein and T. Ray, unpublished report in McGahan, 1968), and nonbreeding individuals use areas up to 4,000 m (R. Murphy, personal obs., July 10, 2020). Habitat use varies with season, an individual's age and breeding status, and specific activity or behavior (for example, night-roosting, migration, or territorial display) (Katzner and others, 2020b). Golden Eagles sometimes use woodland, riparian, and cropland habitats but generally shun extensive closed-canopy forest, areas of intensive agriculture, and dense populations of humans, with some exceptions. Domenech and others (2015) studied winter ranges and habitat use of 14 adult, migrant Golden Eagles overwintering mainly in the Rocky Mountains from Idaho to New Mexico; the primary habitat used by the eagles was coniferous forest, although habitat use varied considerably among individuals. Migrant eagles probably used forests to avoid intraspecific competition with resident breeding eagles, although gut piles from hunterkilled big-game animals may have attracted eagles to forests in many cases (Domenech and others, 2015). Golden Eagles overwintering in eastern North America (from the coastal

plains to the bottomlands of the Mississippi River) often perched and roosted in forests and may have foraged there if edges and small openings were available for access to prey (Miller and others, 2017).

High topographical relief (that is, large hills or ridges to mountains) likely is the species' "most consistent habitat association" (Katzner and others, 2020b, unpaginated). However, dense breeding populations of Golden Eagles occur across the Powder River Basin of northeastern Wyoming and locally in other parts of the northern Great Plains (Bedrosian and others, 2019; Dunk and others, 2019); these landscapes on average are much less rugged than other places where the species breeds at relatively high densities. Moreover, Katzner and others (2020b, unpaginated) acknowledged that a relationship between Golden Eagles and rugged landscapes is less clear during the nonbreeding season, especially among overwintering migrants, which can occur nearly "wherever perches and prey are available." This use of less-rugged landscapes could be said also of nonmigratory, preadult-aged Golden Eagles year-round; many juveniles (that is, first year of age) from the southern Rocky Mountains and Colorado Plateau disperse east to the southern Great Plains and south to arid grasslands of the Chihuahuan Desert (Murphy and others, 2017). Generally, as Katzner and others (2020b, unpaginated) stated, "Shrublands or grasslands are the dominant cover types of [Golden Eagle] home ranges at intermediate latitudes."

There are various qualitative, brief descriptions of Golden Eagle habitat in the Great Plains and adjoining areas. In the northern Great Plains, landscapes used by Golden Eagles include shortgrass prairie, mixed-grass prairie, and xeric scrub/grassland in southwestern North Dakota (Stewart, 1975; Allen, 1987); prairies and riparian areas in western South Dakota (Johnsgard, 1980; Tallman and others, 2002); Sandhills mixed-grass prairie and shortgrass prairie interspersed with buttes and cliffs in western Nebraska (Mathisen and Mathisen, 1968; Faanes and Lingle, 1995); and shrubsteppe and grassland interspersed with scattered hayfields and woodland in eastern Wyoming (Phillips and Beske, 1990; Phillips and others, 1990). In Montana, Golden Eagles use grazed and ungrazed shortgrass prairie, montane grasslands, shrubsteppe, and mixed-conifer woodlands (Baglien, 1975; Crandall and others, 2015). In the southern Great Plains, landscapes used by Golden Eagles include shortgrass prairie and shrubsteppe in northeastern Colorado (Ryder, 1972; Olendorff, 1973), and shortgrass prairie, shrublands, and open pinyon pine (Pinus edulis)/oneseed juniper (Juniperus monosperma) habitats in western Oklahoma, southeastern Colorado, northeastern New Mexico, and northwestern Texas (Lish, 1975; Andersen and others, 1990; Andrews and Righter, 1992; Boal and others, 2008; Stahlecker and others, 2022). Croplands were avoided in northeastern Colorado (Olendorff, 1973) and eastern Wyoming (Phillips and others, 1984). In the Great Basin in southwestern Idaho, Golden Eagle home ranges included shrubsteppe, native and nonnative grasslands, cropland, and riparian habitats (Collopy and Edwards, 1989; Marzluff and others, 1997).

Breeding Habitat

Before the early 2000s, attributes of Golden Eagle breeding habitat in the conterminous western United States (hereafter, western United States) were quantified mainly in areas known or thought to have high numbers of breeding pairs and in areas dominated by publicly owned lands potentially subject to resource development (for example, fossil-fuel extraction). In the cold desert shrubsteppe ecoregion (or the northern Great Basin region), Marzluff and others (1997) found that habitat composition and use by Golden Eagles within breeding territories associated with the Snake River Canyon in southwestern Idaho varied considerably among individual eagles and between breeding and nonbreeding seasons, based on radio-telemetry data collected from 15 Golden Eagles at 8-9 breeding areas annually during 1992-94. Home ranges of most individuals included less cover dominated by agriculture (not defined) and grassland (Poa secunda, Bromus tectorum, Elymus elymoides), and more cover dominated by big sagebrush (Artemisia tridentata) and rubber rabbitbrush (Ericameria nauseosa), than expected based on availability within 4.5 and 9.5 kilometers (km) of the canyon rim (where the eagle's nests were sited), in breeding and nonbreeding seasons, respectively (Marzluff and others, 1997). Cliffs and rock outcrops also were important, largely because they constituted a small yet crucial home-range component by providing nest sites, perch sites, and updrafts for flight. Preference for big sagebrushrabbitbrush habitat was most obvious when this habitat occurred infrequently within eagle home ranges dominated by agriculture and grassland cover. Sagebrush-rabbitbrush habitat probably was favored strongly because black-tailed jackrabbits (Lepus californicus), a main prey of the species, were closely associated with this habitat type. Salt-desert shrubs (Sarcobatus vermiculatus and Atriplex species [spp.]) also were selected but to a lesser degree; sagebrush-rabbitbrush habitat constituted a much greater proportion of used habitats, and its use tended to be correlated with its availability within eagle home ranges (Marzluff and others, 1997). Use of sagebrush-rabbitbrush habitat increased during the breeding season. Grassland was the most common habitat type within eagle home ranges; it was used less than expected based on availability, but this selection tendency likely reflected the predominance of grassland habitat (Marzluff and others, 1997). However, wildfires burned parts of the northern Great Basin landscape 10-15 years before the study (Knick and Rotenberry, 1997), exacerbating invasion by cheatgrass (also known as downy brome; Bromus tectorum), an aggressive, nonnative grass species that has vastly diminished the quality of sagebrush shrubsteppe as habitat for native species of birds and other wildlife (Knick and others, 2003; Bradley and others, 2018), including black-tailed jackrabbits (Kochert and others, 1999). Agriculture (not defined) and disturbed areas (not defined) were combined in the habitat-selection analyses; these habitat types were avoided consistently by individual eagles during both seasons (Marzluff and others, 1997).

In other early, but more local, research in cold desert shrubsteppe of the northern Great Basin, several species of raptors, including up to eight pairs of Golden Eagles, nested on transmission line towers in areas of southeastern Oregon and southwestern Idaho with more rangeland, fewer roads, and shorter total lengths of powerline compared to areas around unused towers (Steenhof and others, 1993). Collectively, however, towers used for nesting by all raptors did not differ from unused towers in amounts of cover in the surrounding (within 1 km) landscape dominated by shrub, grass, or agricultural lands; topographic variation; habitat dispersion; or numbers of human structures. Craig and Craig (1984) found more Golden Eagles nesting along sections of a southern Idaho canyon that was bordered by sagebrush and areas converted to crested wheatgrass (Agropyron cristatum) cover than in sections bordered by agricultural lands. Compared to nests of breeding pairs with adult Golden Eagles, nests of breeding pairs with one subadult were surrounded by substantially more intensively farmed land and had more roads and human habitation nearby, suggesting that territories held by subadult-adult pairs were inferior; however, reproductive success of subadult-adult pairs was not dissimilar from that of adult pairs (Steenhof and others, 1983).

In Wyoming, Phillips and others (1984) measured Golden Eagle breeding densities across a gradient of areas dominated by wheatgrass (formerly Agropyron spp.) grasslands and sagebrush shrubsteppe. The area with the highest density of eagle breeding pairs was characterized by abundant, diverse types of prey and many suitable nest sites, whereas the area with the lowest eagle density had few suitable nest sites and was fragmented by cropland (crop types were not described). The only habitats in which breeding eagles were absent or rare were areas of contiguous forest, extensive cropland, and flat, desert-like terrain, although these habitats were not surveyed as intensively as others. More recently, Olson and others (2015) found greater Golden Eagle breeding densities in mixed-grass prairie landscapes of eastern Wyoming (93.9 and 100.6 square kilometers [km²] per breeding pair in High Plains and Northwestern Great Plains ecoregions, respectively) than in big sagebrush-salt desert scrub landscapes of central and western Wyoming (Wyoming Basin Ecoregion; 277.1 km² per breeding pair).

A comprehensive "relative nesting density" (RND) model developed by Dunk and others (2019) was used by Bedrosian and others (2019) to predict occurrence of Golden Eagle breeding areas across the Northwestern Plains Ecoregion (includes the Northwestern Great Plains and portions of the Northwestern Glaciated Plains regions), based on habitat attributes associated with known natural nest sites. A detailed summary of the salient aspects of Bedrosian and others' (2019) predictive models is warranted here, given the report's substantial sample sizes of nests, large number of habitat and topographic attributes, and geographic coverage. The sample for the model was derived from 23,991 Golden Eagle nest records, which were screened to avoid duplicating breeding areas of Golden Eagles because such areas often have

5

multiple nest structures (Kochert and Steenhof, 2012; Millsap and others, 2015). Twelve predictor covariates were included in the final RND model, representing topography, vegetation and land cover, and lift (orographic and thermal) for eagle flight (Bedrosian and others, 2019). Orographic lift occurs when an air mass is forced from a lower elevation to a higher elevation as it moves over higher terrain; thermal lift occurs when columns of rising air form through the warming of the Earth's surface by sunlight. Overall, topographic variables and land-cover variables contributed 51.3 and 42.8 percent to the model, respectively, followed by lift (orographic and thermal lift combined, 5.8 percent). Terrain slope (standard deviation of grade, at 120-m scale; positive relationship), which reflected ruggedness, constituted 49.9 percent of the final model's predictive contribution. Bedrosian and others (2019) surmised that the strength of this covariate was linked mostly to high availability of thermal uplift in rugged terrain. Of note, on a smaller geographic scale, Crandall and others [2015] found the eagle's proclivity for terrain ruggedness in south-central Montana to be associated mainly with cliffs for nesting. The second most important (14.6 percent contribution) covariate in the RND model was the proportion of sparsely vegetated area (6.4-km scale; positive relationship) (Bedrosian and others, 2019). Sparse vegetation landforms include badlands, sandstone bands, breaks along river corridors, rock outcrops, and areas where geologic uplifts have permitted downcutting (a geological process by hydraulic action that deepens a channel or valley) by ancient streams with less than (<) 10 percent vegetation cover. Such features may provide available cliff-nesting habitat, as well as small pockets of ponderosa pines (Pinus ponderosa) for tree nesting, but still provide less vegetation at a larger landscape scale (Bedrosian and others, 2019). Good examples of these features are found in the Little Missouri River drainage basin of North Dakota and South Dakota (R. Murphy, personal obs., June 17, 2021). The third most important covariate (11 percent) was the proportion of cultivated cropland (6.4-km scale; negative relationship). Because this covariate was highly variable in the dataset of Bedrosian and others (2019), the authors suggested that Golden Eagles preferred habitat that uniformly lacks cultivated cropland, likely because of lack of prey. The fourth most important contributor (6.7 percent) was the mean proportion of eastern cottonwoods (Populus deltoides; 1-km scale; positive relationship), likely because Golden Eagles nest in cottonwood trees across much of the region, especially in areas lacking cliff sites. Lastly, the proportion of ponderosa pine (6.4-km scale) contributed 5 percent, but the association was negative, suggesting that Golden Eagle breeding pairs avoided large, contiguous tracts of pines and perhaps other conifers. This avoidance seems to contrast with general knowledge that Golden Eagles in the northern Great Plains often use ponderosa pines for nest sites, but Bedrosian and others (2019) pointed out that such nesting tends to occur at edges of pine forests or in very small or open stands.

A similar modeling approach that was developed for 12 regions of the western United States included the

Southwestern Plains Ecoregion (approximating the southern Great Plains; Dunk and others, 2019). This model was less robust than that of Bedrosian and others (2019) for the northern Great Plains because the model for the southern Great Plains was represented by far fewer Golden Eagle breeding areas. Ten covariates were included in the final model. A terrain ruggedness index (standard deviation of grade) contributed 80.9 percent (positive relationship) to the model, and the proportion of steeply sloping landforms contributed 11.0 percent (positive relationship). Terrain likely was an overwhelming positive driver for the model because southern Great Plains landscapes are more level than the Northwestern Plains, on average, and breeding pairs tend to be concentrated at the limited number of available cliff sites (Stahlecker and others, 2022). The importance of terrain in the model for the Southwestern Plains also may explain why the proportion of land cover in cottonwoods and in grasslands were not important (greater than or equal to $[\geq] 5$ percent) contributors to the model. The U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service (FWS) has not completed a Golden Eagle Conservation Strategy for the Southwestern Plains Ecoregion at the time of this writing (2023), so additional analyses including RND model correlation with general environmental attributes, such as those presented in Bedrosian and others (2019) for the Northwestern Plains Ecoregion, were unavailable.

Bedrosian and others (2019) included a map that illustrated results of the Golden Eagle RND model for the Northwestern Plains Ecoregion. Areas with predicted high densities of nest sites include the Missouri River Basin in eastern Montana, the Little Missouri River Basin in western North Dakota, and most of the Powder River Basin of northeastern Wyoming. Areas with predicted low densities include the Missouri Plateau of southwestern North Dakota, the Black Hills of South Dakota and Wyoming, and most of central South Dakota. In the Southwestern Plains (Dunk and others, 2019), areas with high predicted nest-site density are less pronounced and widely scattered, with highest densities predicted in the Palo Duro Canyon of northern Texas and across far northeastern New Mexico and a nearby area of southeastern Colorado. But, again, Dunk and others (2019) did not consider the Southwestern Plains RND model to be robust because of the lower number of reference nest sites. A recent compilation of nest surveys by Stahlecker and others (2022) accurately conveyed Golden Eagle nest-site distribution for most of the southern Great Plains and could be used to improve the predictive distribution model by Dunk and others (2019). Perhaps the most important implication of the RND work for managing Golden Eagle breeding habitat in the Great Plains is that a very high proportion of breeding areas occur on a very small proportion of the landscape (predicted and actual breeding densities in the modeling hold-out dataset were strongly congruent; Dunk and others, 2019). Thus, as stated by Dunk and others (2019, p. 17), "prioritization of conservation actions on a small portion of [the landscape]...could have a disproportionately large benefit to breeding Golden Eagles." Conversely, negative environmental impacts on a small portion of the landscape

supporting high breeding densities of Golden Eagles could have profound negative effects at a population level.

RND models in Bedrosian and others (2019) and Dunk and others (2019) generally corroborated the results from recent empirical, local, and regional studies of Golden Eagle habitat. For example, others have identified terrain, wind, and orographic lift as key attributes of home ranges used by Golden Eagles (reviewed in Dunk and others, 2019). In south-central Montana, Crandall and others (2015) found that Golden Eagle breeding pairs selected home-range core areas based mainly on high percentages of terrain ruggedness and intermixed shrub-grassland, which they considered primary prey habitat. For landscapes similar to their study area, the authors recommended that areas with rugged topography surrounded by habitat with adequate prey should be priorities for Golden Eagle conservation. Breeding areas in extremely rugged terrain may be an exception, however, because Crandall and others (2015) found a negative relationship between daily nest survival and ruggedness. Using measures of many environmental and anthropogenic attributes of landscapes encompassing 483 Golden Eagle nest sites in northeastern Wyoming, Tack and Fedy (2015) found evidence of selection for local areas of sharp relief (cliffs and steep landscapes, 200-m scale) encompassed by or adjacent to relatively flat, open landscapes (5-km scale).

Nests and Nest Sites

Nests and nest sites of Golden Eagles are described profusely in the scientific literature; broad syntheses include those in Palmer (1988), Kochert and others (2002), and Katzner and others (2020b). Grubb and Eakle's (1987) detailed measurement of 12 Golden Eagle nest structures (nine on cliff ledges, three in trees) in central Arizona provide a general picture of the species' more typical nests in the western United States (mean plus or minus [\pm] standard deviation, range): length 176 \pm 46 centimeters [cm], 122–264 cm; lining length 94 \pm 36 cm, 53–185 cm; width 120 \pm 41 cm, 84–203 cm; lining width 79 \pm 36 cm, 38–160 cm; height 65 \pm 53 cm, 13–201 cm; stick length 58 \pm 10 cm, 8–78 cm; stick weight 64 \pm 26.7 grams (g), 5–820 g. The authors did not define "lining," which was measured at only eight of the nests. In this section, nest sites are summarized mainly in the context of the Great Plains.

Golden Eagles typically construct their bulky stick nests in large trees and on ledges or in potholes (that is, shallow caves) of cliffs. Substrates that support nests must be substantial. For example, in New Mexico, a Golden Eagle nest in a ponderosa pine measured 4.9 m tall and 1.4 m wide (J. Ligon, unpub. notes *in* Stahlecker and others, 2010), and an unusually large nest on a western Oklahoma sandstone cliff was roughly 4 m long, 2 m wide, and 2 m high, likely totaling about 16 cubic meters (m³) of nest material (R. Murphy, personal obs., and D. Stahlecker, Eagle Environmental, Inc., Santa Fe, N. Mex., written commun., May 30, 2016). Trees and cliffs account for 53.1 and 40.3 percent, respectively, of nest sites in

the northern Great Plains, based on 21,637 nest records with nest-site substrates reported (Bedrosian and others, 2019). Plains cottonwood (Populus deltoides subspecies monilifera) and ponderosa pine are the primary nest trees used (Bedrosian and others, 2019). Unusually high proportions of nests used by Golden Eagles in northeastern Wyoming and northwestern South Dakota were in trees (86 percent of 170 nests [Menkens and Anderson, 1987] and 86 percent of 35 nests [Datta, 2016], respectively). In northeastern Wyoming, Phillips and Beske (1990, p. 12) reported that "...eagles seemed to prefer nesting in large pines [presumably ponderosa pines] if given the choice between cottonwoods and pines." Green ash (Fraxinus pennsylvanica) and Douglas-fir (Pseudotsuga menziesii) often support Golden Eagle nests in the northern Great Plains and adjoining areas, and narrowleaf cottonwood (Populus angustifolia), limber pine (Pinus flexilis), and other juniper (Juniperus) species are used occasionally (Bedrosian and others, 2019). Dead or dying trees (that is, snags) sometimes are used to support nests despite lack of shading. Regardless, tree nests of Golden Eagles in the western Great Plains and adjoining areas typically are built in the top one-third of trees that are isolated or near edges of stands (Baglien, 1975, Menkens and Anderson, 1987, Phillips and others, 1990). In northwestern South Dakota, average height of 30 Golden Eagle nests in trees was 15.8 m and ranged from 10.9 to 18.2 m (Datta, 2016).

Cliff nests in both the northern Great Plains and adjoining areas typically are on vertical faces of sedimentary rock formations, especially sandstone, and less so on igneous rock formations, depending on availability (Houston, 1985; Bedrosian and others, 2019). In the southern Great Plains, mainly northeastern New Mexico and northern Texas, Golden Eagles place nests on ledges and in potholes at the top of sandstone escarpments, canyon walls, and mesas (Stahlecker and others, 2010, 2022; D. Stahlecker, Eagle Environmental, Inc., Santa Fe, N. Mex., written commun., October 12, 2021). Where cliffs are unavailable, the eagles may nest in eastern cottonwood trees along broad, intermittently flooded drainages (Stahlecker and others, 2022).

Other natural nest sites used by Golden Eagles in the Great Plains also include river or creek banks; rims of isolated mesas or buttes; rocky hillsides (Bedrosian and others, 2019); hills or small buttes composed of clay, siltstone, or scoria; and pedestals or "hoodoos" of sedimentary rock, especially in badlands (R. Murphy, personal obs., June 2, 2010; D. Stahlecker, Eagle Environmental, Inc., Santa Fe, N. Mex., written commun., October 12, 2021). Nesting on the ground by Golden Eagles has been noted in several parts of the western United States, including nests constructed on small hills or slight rock outcrops in North Dakota (Ward and others, 1983; Coyle, 2008) and Wyoming (Menkens and Anderson, 1987), but ground nesting is rare.

Human-made structures used by Golden Eagles as nest substrates in the Great Plains grasslands and shrubsteppe communities include electrical transmission towers and distribution poles (Steenhof and others, 1993), ledges on mine highwalls (that is, the unexcavated face of exposed overburden and mineral in a surface mine; Postovit and others, 1982; Postovit and Postovit, 1987; Phillips and Beske, 1990), abandoned windmills at livestock watering locations, oil and gas well structures, observation and communication towers, and artificial nesting platforms (Phillips and Beske, 1990). Steenhof and others (1993) provided a detailed case history of nesting by Golden Eagles and other raptor species and Common Ravens (Corvus corax) on a newly constructed 500-kilovolt transmission line extending 596 km from south-central Oregon to south-central Idaho. Thirty-seven artificial nest platforms with sticks were installed on nonrandom towers. Golden Eagle pairs nesting on towers increased from one to eight during the first 8 years after construction. Six pairs began nesting on transmission towers in landscapes where other nest substrates for Golden Eagles were unavailable within 3 km and where no nesting occurred before the transmission line was constructed (Steenhof and others, 1993). Seventy-two percent of Golden Eagle breeding attempts documented were on nesting platforms even though only 2 percent of transmission towers had platforms; eagles constructed other nests on tower crossarms, bridges, or within tower latticework. Golden Eagles experienced high nest success on platforms whereas all nesting attempts failed in towers without platforms, largely due to nest damage from strong winds (Steenhof and others, 1993).

Fates of Golden Eagle nesting attempts (attempt defined as the laying of an egg or eggs) at tree nests in the Great Plains may be similar to those at cliff nest sites. In south-central Montana, daily nest survival did not differ between nestlings in 28 tree nests and nestlings in 32 cliff nests distributed across a total of 47 breeding areas (Crandall and others, 2016). Some Golden Eagle breeding areas had both tree and cliff nest sites, and pairs in such areas sometimes switched between types among years (Katzner and others, 2020b). In northeastern Wyoming, apparent success of Golden Eagle nests was 56 percent in trees and 43 percent on rock outcrops (not considered cliffs) and peaks (not defined) (Phillips and Beske, 1990). In addition to availability of suitable nest sites, suitable nearby, prominent perch sites and protected ledges on cliffs for roosting also are important to breeding Golden Eagles (Collopy and Edwards, 1989).

Local geography is one of the most important factors influencing selection of nest sites on cliffs by Golden Eagles (Bedrosian and others, 2019). Such sites tend to be characterized by (1) broad, unobstructed view of the surrounding landscapes; (2) strong updrafts that provide lift to facilitate eagle flight; (3) close proximity to foraging areas; and (4) lack of access for mammalian predators and humans. In Montana, the total area of sagebrush/grassland within 0.4 km of Golden Eagle nests was greater than expected (Baglien, 1975). There were fewer cliffs visually obstructing the view of sagebrush/ grassland from nests than expected, and there was more sagebrush/grassland below the 500-cm snowfall line within 0.8, 1.6, and 3.2 km of the nest than expected. Snow could lessen the formation of thermal uplift and could be driven by wind into nest sites, especially those on lee sides of cliffs (Baglien, 1975).

Selection of nest sites on cliffs by Golden Eagles also is driven by factors influencing microclimate and exposure at nests. Katzner and others (2020b) extensively reviewed this subject. Nest-site aspect (that is, directional orientation of nest sites and nests) may be selected at least in part such that exposure to inclement weather is minimized. In general, Golden Eagle nest sites on cliffs at northern latitudes of western North America tend to have southerly orientations, whereas the converse is true for cliff nest sites at southern latitudes. For example, Mosher and White (1976) found that nests in Alaska were oriented more frequently than expected to the south-southeast, Montana nests were oriented more frequently to the south, and Utah nests were oriented more frequently to the north-northwest (total numbers of nests observed by State were 62, 47, and 37, respectively). The authors also noted a slight trend towards northerly orientation for nests in Texas, but evidence of such was weak, perhaps in part because the sample was somewhat small (20 nests). Regardless, at each of the four study areas, the critical period of thermoregulation for nestling eagles (3-6 weeks of age) occurred at a time that corresponded with approximately thermoneutral temperatures (Mosher and White, 1976).

Influences of directional orientation on selection of cliff nest sites by Golden Eagles also can be altered by presence of overhangs and elevation. Overhangs provide shade from direct sun that can otherwise overheat nestlings and also can lessen exposure to cold, snowy conditions, especially in northern parts of the eagle's range (Katzner and others, 2020b). In the southern Great Plains and nearby Colorado Plateau regions, Golden Eagle nests typically are beneath protective overhangs and within shallow caves of sandstone cliffs, features created by subtle differences in weathering among the rock's successive horizontal strata (R. Murphy, personal obs., and D. Stahlecker, Eagle Environmental, Inc., Santa Fe, N. Mex., written commun., December 12, 2020). At a given range of latitude, south-facing nest sites at higher elevations likely are cooler than those at lower elevations (Mosher and White, 1976). Elevation also can affect persistence of snow cover at cliff nest sites; breeding pairs tend to avoid sites that in most years are snow-covered during at least the early breeding season (Baglien, 1975). In general, such sites occur at more northerly latitudes or at higher elevations than found in the Great Plains. Direct exposure to sun in late spring or early summer may trigger thermal stress among nestlings, possibly decreasing their survival as has been reported at cliff nests in southwestern Idaho (Kochert and others, 2019). Young Golden Eagles at nests in southwestern Idaho with southern to western aspects exhibited lower survival when maximum daily temperatures exceeded 32.2 degrees Celsius (°C) compared to nestlings in nests with northern to eastern aspects, which were shaded in the afternoons. Broods in exposed nests with artificial shade structures exhibited higher survival than broods in exposed nests with no shade structures (Kochert and others, 2019).

Much less attention has been given to orientation of Golden Eagle nests in trees. In Scotland, Golden Eagles exhibited selection for nest trees on hill slopes with northerly rather than southerly exposures (Watson and Dennis, 1992); northerly aspects likely provided the best protection from inclement weather, which came from the southwest, and protected nestlings from hyperthermia because of direct sun exposure.

Perch Sites

Presence of suitable perch sites may dictate the extent to which Golden Eagles use a given locale, especially in areas lacking rugged topography. In general, selection of perch sites by Golden Eagles depends on proximity to important environmental resources (for example, prey), behavioral context (for example, sleeping or preening), season and thermal protection needs, eagle age and breeding status, and access to thermal or orographic lift (Duerr and others, 2019b). For example, Duerr and others (2019a) found that steep slopes were selected for perching year-round by Golden Eagles in eastern North America (primarily along the Appalachian Mountain Range), but that south-facing steep slopes were selected in summer and east-facing steep slopes were selected during migration season. Adults preferred to perch in broadleaf forests during summer and on ridges during fall. Selection for roost-site perches was equivocal, however (Duerr and others, 2019a).

During nesting, Golden Eagle breeding pairs perch close to their nest; after egg-laying through brooding stages, females may roost at the nest site (Collopy, 1984). On nesting cliffs, breeding pairs may benefit from additional ledges for roosting and general perching (Collopy and Edwards, 1989), mostly using sites below cliff rims (Watson, 2010). During the breeding season in Norway, Golden Eagle perches typically were within 100 m of the nest, tended to be slightly higher, and appeared to provide a clear view of the nest (Bergo, 1987).

In the southern Great Plains, resident, preadult-aged Golden Eagles most frequently perched on cliffs, trees, small hills, and structures supporting overhead electrical lines (24.6, 21.2, 16.6, and 10.8 percent, respectively, of all perch events) based on 1,050 randomly selected perch events determined from satellite telemetry (Dwyer and others, 2020b). Perch-site use varied with time of day. Fence posts, electrical transmission-line towers, and trees were used for perching more than expected during morning, afternoon, and night (roosting), respectively. The authors speculated that trees were selected for roosting because they afforded the best protection against strong winds that were prevalent on the study area, and that perching on fence posts during morning was associated with foraging on black-tailed prairie dogs (Cynomys ludovicianus) in adjacent livestock pastures. Dwyer and others (2020b) surmised that an observed increase in the eagles' use of transmission structures in the afternoon was due, in part, to thermoregulation because Golden Eagles may perch on crossarms shaded by the power pole. Along electrical distribution lines,

poles with transformers and associated equipment were used for perching more often than poles without transformers, even though the former were far less common; this behavior could exacerbate electrocution risk (Dwyer and others, 2020b). In the level, open landscape of northeastern Colorado, overwintering Golden Eagles perched mainly on haystacks and in trees (Marion and Ryder, 1975). Preference for haystacks was thought to be associated with enhanced availability of leporid prey. Preference for powerline poles as perch sites was moderate, and preference for fenceposts was low.

Winter Habitat

Winter habitat of Golden Eagles in the Northwestern Plains Ecoregion (approximating the northern Great Plains) was assessed by Bedrosian and others (2019) based on telemetry data from 556 resident and migrant individuals. Variability in broad, flat areas at a 20-km scale (measured by the standard deviation of a "Weiss plains landform index") was the strongest covariate, constituting a 20.6 percent contribution to the model. Although flatter elevations can generate thermal uplift for hunting and general movement across landscapes, orographic lift provided by updrafts in rugged terrain could serve the same purposes. The measure of variability reported by Bedrosian and others (2019) indicated a high degree of elevational heterogeneity across landscapes at a moderate (20km) spatial scale, providing both for areas of thermal uplift and areas of orographic uplift. Climate indices contributed 18.4 percent; climate indices included solar-energy influx at ground level and mean number of days greater than (>) 5 °C. Vegetation covariates contributed 5.4-8.8 percent; variability in shrub cover and mean proportion of crop cover contributed 7.5 and 5.4 percent, respectively. These most likely were positive and negative covariates, respectively, but that information was not provided. Relatively high predictions of concentrated use by Golden Eagles during winter occurred across the transition from plains to mountains along the northern Great Plains' western margin. In general, predictions of relatively high use by Golden Eagles were associated with areas of higher topographic relief, including small mountain ranges and low mountains, such as the Chalk Buttes and Sweetgrass Hills of southeastern and north-central Montana. A map of predicted density of Golden Eagles during winter is included in Bedrosian and others (2019).

Fourteen migrant, adult Golden Eagles tracked by satellite telemetry generally selected riparian and coniferous forest habitats at relatively low elevations while overwintering near the eastern margin of the Rocky Mountains from west-central Montana across the Great Plains to central New Mexico (Domenech and others, 2015). They also selected terrain with east- and south-facing aspects, which were oriented toward prevailing wind directions, and rugged terrain that provided orographic uplift, open viewsheds, and elevated perches. The eagles avoided urban and cultivated agriculture areas. Nonsagebrush shrub, pasture, and grassland also were avoided, although these types were not defined; pasture may have included hayland, and grassland was combined with a pinyon-juniper type for some analyses. Regardless, Domenech and others (2015) speculated that grasslands appeared to be avoided because the eagle's primary prey, "hares" (presumably *Lepus* spp.), likely moved from grasslands to sagebrush during the fall. Domenech and others (2015) also noted that selection of winter habitats by Golden Eagles can be affected by the presence of resident, territorial individuals defending their breeding areas; the eagles' use of coniferous forests, which generally are not used by breeding Golden Eagles, may be a means of reducing such competition.

Winter habitat use by Golden Eagles in the southern Great Plains is poorly documented. Mitchell and others (2020) conducted ground-based surveys of Golden Eagles during winter in the center of the region. The number of eagles observed in a category of habitat consisting of semidesert and grassland/shrubland was greater than expected, based on the habitat's availability; few Golden Eagles were observed in agricultural fields or in grasslands encroached by juniper trees. Preadult-aged Golden Eagles tagged with satellite transmitters in northern Texas and eastern New Mexico tended to be associated with small (generally <16 hectares [ha]), widely scattered colonies of black-tailed prairie dogs during winter (R. Murphy, personal obs., March 2, 2017).

Prey Habitat

In the western United States, Golden Eagles mainly "forage in open habitats such as grasslands or steppe-like vegetation" (Katzner and others, 2020b, unpaginated). The species preys primarily on mammals, less so on birds and reptiles, and rarely on fish (Bedrosian and others, 2017; Katzner and others, 2020b); carrion can form an important part of the diet especially during late fall and winter, coinciding with biggame hunting seasons (Domenech and others, 2015; Watson and others, 2019). During the breeding season, optimal mass for eagle prey ranges from 0.5 to 5.0 kilograms (kg; Watson, 2010; Katzner and others, 2020b). Availability of prey of this moderate size range can determine the species' breeding success and distribution (Schweiger and others, 2015). Two species of jackrabbits (black-tailed and white-tailed [Lepus townsendii] jackrabbits) and three species of cottontail rabbits (eastern [Sylvilagus floridanus], desert [Sylvilagus audubonii], and mountain [Sylvilagus nuttallii] cottontails), hereafter referred to collectively as "leporids," constituted more than one-half of the number (that is, frequency) of prey used by Golden Eagles in 35 breeding-season studies conducted across the western United States during 1940-2015 (Bedrosian and others, 2017). A caveat in these collective findings, however, is that most studies were based on prey delivered by breeding adults to their young at nest sites during the latter half of breeding season (roughly, spring through early summer). Clearly, prey resources available during the nonbreeding season are important to breeding and nonbreeding Golden Eagles

alike (for example, for overwinter survival). Only six of 45 studies of Golden Eagle diets in the western United States reviewed by Bedrosian and others (2017) were conducted during the nonbreeding season, two of these being old studies (Woodgerd, 1952; Arnold, 1954) with relatively small samples based on stomach contents of shot eagles. Another caveat in studies of breeding-season diets of Golden Eagles is that most have been based on prey remains found at nests, which can be biased compared to prey data collected via camera recordings at nests (Harrison and others, 2019).

Based on nine accounts for the West Central Semi-Arid Prairies and South Central Semi-Arid Prairies ecoregions reviewed by Bedrosian and others (2017), primary prey of Golden Eagles in the Great Plains generally include (1) leporids, specifically white-tailed jackrabbits in the northern Great Plains, black-tailed jackrabbits from the southern Great Plains to southern parts of the northern Great Plains, and cottontail rabbits throughout; and (2) sciurids, most notably the blacktailed prairie dog. White-tailed jackrabbits and black-tailed jackrabbits are sympatric, especially in eastern Wyoming, eastern Colorado, western Nebraska, and southwestern South Dakota. Colonies of the black-tailed prairie dogs are patchily distributed across Great Plains landscapes; in locales where the prairie dog occurs, it tends to be the most important prey of Golden Eagles (for example, in northeastern Wyoming) (Phillips and others, 1990). Because of this irregular distribution, the importance of black-tailed prairie dogs to Golden Eagles can be understated in reports of average Golden Eagle diets. In grasslands west of the Great Plains, especially the Wyoming Basin, black-tailed prairie dogs in Golden Eagle diets are replaced largely by other colonial sciurids, mainly white-tailed prairie dogs (Cynomys leucurus) and Wyoming ground squirrels (Urocitellus elegans) in western Wyoming (Millsap, 1978, MacLaren and others, 1988), and Gunnison's prairie dogs (Cynomys gunnisoni) in grasslands of the Southwestern Plateau Ecoregion (Stahlecker and others, 2009).

Thus, a discussion of the habitat of prey of Golden Eagles across the Great Plains and western shrubsteppe should focus mainly on leporids and sciurids, while acknowledging that Golden Eagles in the region also prey on other species of mammals and a broad array of bird species (Bedrosian and others, 2017). In two studies in south-central Montana, for example, birds accounted for 24 percent (Reynolds, 1969) and 40 percent (R.H. Crandall and C.R. Preston, unpub. data in Bedrosian and others, 2017) of the numbers (that is, frequency, as opposed to percentage biomass) of prey delivered by Golden Eagle pairs to nests. In Wyoming's Bighorn Basin, just west of the Great Plains, birds constituted an annual mean of 9.7 percent of prey used by Golden Eagle pairs during a 7-year period (Preston and others, 2017). Most frequent avian prey were Common Raven, Black-billed Magpie (Pica hudsonia), Ring-necked Pheasant (Phasianus colchicus), and Greater Sage-Grouse (Centrocercus urophasianus).

A comprehensive review of the biology of jackrabbits as prey of Golden Eagles in the western United States was completed by the FWS (Hansen and others, 2017a). The

10 The Effects of Management Practices on Grassland Birds—Golden Eagle (Aquila chrysaetos)

habitat associations of black-tailed and white-tailed jackrabbits generally overlap (Hansen and others, 2017a). Optimal habitats for both species may include open areas with grass and other herbaceous vegetation that provide food, visibility, and freedom of movement; and denser shrub or grass cover that provides a stable source of food and cover from predators and weather (Orr, 1940; Bear and Hansen, 1966; Knick and Dyer, 1997; Flinders and Chapman, 2003; Desmond, 2004; Simes and others, 2015; Hansen and others, 2017a). However, black-tailed jackrabbits tend to associate more with shrubby vegetation and occur at lower elevations, whereas white-tailed jackrabbits tend to associate with grasslands and other open habitats and occur at higher elevations (Lim, 1987; Simes and others, 2015; Hansen and others, 2017a). Open grasslands can provide suitable habitat for black-tailed jackrabbits if scattered shrubs or other densely canopied plants are available to provide cover near food sources or as obstacles when evading predators (Desmond, 2004; Lightfoot and others, 2010; Hansen and others, 2017a; Wagnon and others, 2020). Black-tailed jackrabbits may use dense shrub or weed cover during the day and often inhabit open, grass-dominated habitats for feeding during the night (Fautin, 1946; Johnson and Anderson, 1984). In a shortgrass prairie in northeastern Colorado, Flinders and Hansen (1975) reported that white-tailed jackrabbits selected upland pastures regardless of grazing intensity, and blacktailed jackrabbits selected lowland pastures that were lightly to moderately grazed by cattle and provided denser vegetative cover.

Habitat use by black-tailed and white-tailed jackrabbits varies seasonally (Hansen and others, 2017a). For example, in southern Colorado, Bear and Hansen (1966) reported that white-tailed jackrabbits used grasslands more than they used areas dominated by rabbitbrush (Chrysothamnus spp.) or sagebrush and rarely used meadowlands. Grasses and forbs provided most of the white-tailed jackrabbit diet in spring, summer, and early autumn. During the winter, numbers of white-tailed jackrabbits were nearly equal in grasslands and meadowlands (Bear and Hansen 1966). Shrubs (mainly fringed sagewort [Artemisia frigida] and green rabbitbrush [Ericameria parryi]) provided much of the winter diet. Whitetailed jackrabbits use areas during the winter where wind or terrain limit snow accumulation at depths that impede foraging or traveling (Bear and Hansen, 1966; Braun and Streeter, 1968; Hansen and others, 2017a).

Encroachment and expansion of trees and shrubs may replace or degrade semiarid and arid grasslands, shrublands, and savannas in the western United States (DeLoach, 1985; Archer, 1989; Miller and Rose, 1999; Van Auken, 2000; Miller and Tausch, 2001; Hansen and others, 2017a). The changes in the amount or quality of shrub cover and palatable grasses and forbs will have mixed effects on jackrabbits (Hansen and others, 2017a). Cheatgrass and other nonnative annual grasses also may replace or degrade shrublands and grasslands and alter the frequency and extent of wildfires within the western United States (Pellant and Hall, 1994; Reid and others, 2016; Hansen and others, 2017a; Fusco and others, 2019). The altered fire regime can destroy jackrabbit habitat and negatively impact Golden Eagles (Knick and Dyer, 1997; Kochert and others, 1999; Heath and Kochert, 2016; Hansen and others, 2017a; Watson and others, 2020). MacCracken and Hansen (1982) indicated that herbaceous vegetation may be more limiting than shrub cover in areas with dense, uniform shrub cover.

Although habitat loss to agriculture is a factor implicated in the population declines of white-tailed and black-tailed jackrabbits (Washington Department of Fish and Wildlife, 2015), conversion of native habitats to agriculture has had mixed effects on the two species of jackrabbits (Simes and others, 2015; Hansen and others, 2017a). Both species depredate agricultural crops, but such damage by white-tailed jackrabbits is rarely widespread (Johnson and Peek, 1984; Simes and others, 2015). Black-tailed jackrabbits have had extensive, negative economic impacts on cropland in the western United States, especially during drought, when jackrabbits likely benefit from having succulent food available during portions of the year when grasses and forbs are dry or unavailable. Where the two species' ranges overlap, black-tailed jackrabbits have partially or completely replaced white-tailed jackrabbits in many areas following agricultural land conversions (Simes and others, 2015: Hansen and others, 2017a).

Mountain, desert, and eastern cottontail rabbits were, collectively, among the three most important species or species group of prey in six studies of Golden Eagle diets from semiarid prairies across the western Great Plains, as summarized by Bedrosian and others (2017). A comprehensive review of the biology of cottontail rabbits as prey of Golden Eagles in the western United States was completed for the FWS by Hansen and others (2017b). Mountain cottontail rabbits typically are associated with sagebrush habitats (Hansen and others, 2017b). Lower slopes of bunchgrass-covered hills and rocky areas (for example, ridges, outcrops, ravines, badlands, and canyons) appear to be selected by mountain cottontails in the Great Plains and other regions in the western United States, as well as riparian areas dominated by tall shrubs, such as willows (*Salix* spp.) (Jones and others, 1983; Hansen and others, 2017b). Jones and others (1983) also noted that, in the northern Great Plains, mountain cottontails exhibit an affinity for stands of coniferous trees. Like the other two cottontail rabbit species discussed herein, mountain cottontails often rest in brushy areas and thickets during the day and may use underground burrows, especially during periods of cold weather and heavy snow cover or to escape predators (Jones and others, 1983). In their review, Hansen and others (2017b) indicated that desert cottontail rabbits inhabit lower elevations in arid and semiarid shrublands, shrub-grasslands, scrub and riparian habitats, and open grasslands with scattered shrub cover. Flinders and Hansen (1975) reported that desert cottontails in shortgrass prairies of northeastern Colorado were more abundant when the intensity of grazing by cattle during summer and winter was relatively moderate, compared with other combinations of grazing intensity by season. Jones and others (1983) noted that desert cottontails sometimes occur in

mesic habitats that may also harbor eastern cottontails. In discussing eastern cottontail habitat, Hansen and others (2017b) drew chiefly on literature from the eastern United States because little information on eastern cottontails is available for the western United States. In general, the eastern cottontail is associated with shrublands, shrub-woodlands, abandoned agricultural fields, and anthropogenic features, such as shelterbelts and piles of wood or junk (Hansen and others, 2017b). In western montane areas, eastern cottontails may inhabit shrubfilled gullies and forest edges (Hoffman and Pattie, 1968).

Prairie dog species, especially the black-tailed prairie dog, are important prey used by Golden Eagles in much of the Great Plains (Bedrosian and others, 2017), despite their patchy distribution. In landscapes where black-tailed prairie dogs occur, the species tends to be the most strongly selected prey of breeding Golden Eagles, at least in terms of dietary biomass (Phillips and others, 1990). Black-tailed prairie dog colonies generally occur on open, slightly sloped terrain in shortgrass and mixed-grass prairies; steeper terrain can reduce visibility, a crucial need of prairie dogs, and may be more erodible, to the detriment of prairie dog burrows (Reading and Matchett, 1997). Optimal vegetation height for black-tailed prairie dogs is about 5-20 cm (Clippinger, 1989). Compared to colonies of conspecifics in the southern Great Plains, black-tailed prairie dogs in the northern Great Plains are more often on terrain with southerly aspects, which promotes better growth of herbaceous vegetation than other exposures (Koford, 1958). The prairie dog's extensive burrow systems must be constructed where soil types are unlikely to collapse, such as in alluvial or clay-loam series (Koford, 1958; Reading and Matchett, 1997).

General patterns of prey use by breeding pairs can be inferred from habitat associations encompassing Golden Eagle breeding areas. Prey communities in north-central Utah, reflected by the frequency of various species of prey noted at 254 Golden Eagle nest sites during 1970-2014, were best predicted by environmental variables rather than geographic location (Brown and others, 2021). Golden Eagle use of blacktailed jackrabbits, cottontail rabbit species, rock squirrels (Otospermophilus variegatus), and yellow-bellied marmots (Marmota flaviventris) could be predicted by grassland, sagebrush, cropland, and forest variables, respectively. For example, leporids occurred most often as prey remains in Golden Eagle nests when the proportion of land cover dominated by grassland cover within 6.4 km reached about 30 percent (the 6.4-km radius was based on a scale of likely foraging habitats from Dunk and others [2019]). Brown and others (2021) acknowledged that factors other than strictly prey abundance may sometimes influence prey use by breeding Golden Eagles (for example, changes in eagle foraging efficiency related to vegetation structure).

Area Requirements and Landscape Associations

Means of and terms used for describing spatial needs of Golden Eagles can differ among studies. In general, an eagle's home range and core area are areas that encompass the greatest concentration of 95 percent and 50 percent of Golden Eagle location records (typically determined by telemetry methods), respectively. A core area could represent a focal area of a key resource, such as the area immediately encompassing a nest or, within an overwintering home range, a cluster of perch and roost sites. In southwestern Idaho, for example, 95 percent of locations recorded from nine Golden Eagles via radio telemetry occurred within a mean of 14.4 percent and 25.3 percent of their breeding and nonbreeding home ranges, respectively (Marzluff and others, 1997). Home-range size among individual Golden Eagles varies greatly especially with (1) prey availability and distribution; (2) age, sex, breeding status, and residency status (for example, a year-round resident, an individual on a migration stopover, or an overwintering migrant); (3) season; and (4) key physical attributes of landscapes, especially topographic features supporting orographic lift and sites for nesting, perching, and roosting, as described in the "Suitable Habitat" section. Moreover, presence of breeding Golden Eagles markedly limits local space use by nonbreeding individuals. Pairs vigorously defend their breeding areas from conspecifics during the breeding season but are more tolerant of conspecifics during the nonbreeding season (Katzner and others, 2020b). An exception is that juvenile Golden Eagles tend to be tolerated by pairs even during the breeding season, perhaps because their unique plumage distinguishes them as noncompetitors for breeding areas (Steenhof and others, 1983; Ellis and Lish, 2006).

Prey availability is an important determinant of raptor habitat quality (Newton, 1979) (note that for Golden Eagles, "prey" also could include carrion, especially roadside carrion from vehicle collisions [Grubb and others, 2018; Slater and others, 2022] and carrion associated with big-game hunting seasons during late fall and winter [Domenech and others, 2015; Watson and others, 2019]). The best illustration of connection between prey availability and habitat quality for Golden Eagles in North America comes from several decades of research at the Morley Nelson Snake River Birds of Prey National Conservation Area in southwestern Idaho, where the number of nesting territories occupied by the species generally declined as abundance of the eagle's main prey, black-tailed jackrabbits, decreased due largely to fire-induced conversion of native sagebrush-rabbitbrush habitat to cheatgrass (Kochert and others, 1999). In the same area, Collopy and Edwards (1989) found size of breeding-season home ranges of four Golden Eagle pairs to be inversely related to amounts of shrub vegetation, which the authors considered to be a proxy for good black-tailed jackrabbit habitat. Home ranges measured 11.6-48.9 km² (minimum convex polygons, using location data derived from direct observation). In the same area,

Marzluff and others (1997) did not detect a significant effect of habitat quality (again, shrub cover) on home-range size of breeding individuals during breeding and nonbreeding seasons, although sample size, like that of Collopy and Edwards (1989), was relatively small.

Home-range sizes of resident pairs of Golden Eagles tend to differ markedly between breeding and nonbreeding seasons. Although there are no relevant published data from the Great Plains, these contrasts have been observed elsewhere. For example, Watson and others (2014) reported that, based on 95-percent isopleths estimated by a Brownian Bridge movement model, mean home-range sizes of 10 Golden Eagles breeding in the Columbia Basin Ecoregion of Washington and Oregon during breeding versus nonbreeding seasons were 42.1 and 87.0 km², respectively. Corresponding 50-percent isopleth estimates of core-area size during breeding versus nonbreeding seasons were 4.9 and 15.0 km², respectively. In southwestern Idaho shrubsteppe, breedingand nonbreeding-season home ranges of Golden Eagles covered 1.9-83.3 km² (mean=28.2 km²) and 13.7-1,700.0 km² (mean=344.8 km²), respectively, based on radio-telemetry data collected from eagles in nine breeding areas and analyzed by using a concave polygon estimator (Marzluff and others, 1997). During the nonbreeding season, some individuals ranged far from their breeding areas apparently to seek better foraging opportunities. Breeding-season home ranges overlapped little among pairs (mean 3.7 percent), likely because of strong territorial behavior, but overlap was greater (mean 22.1 percent) outside of the breeding season. In the same general area, Kochert (1972) recorded a mean nearestneighbor distance of 4.3 km (range=0.8-16.0 km) between breeding area centers of 56 pairs; centers of Golden Eagle breeding areas seldom are <1 km apart (Kochert and others, 2002). Comparing data from their study to previous studies, Marzluff and others (1997) found that home-range boundaries in each of four breeding areas used by Golden Eagle pairs changed little during circa 20 years.

There are few published studies of area requirements of Golden Eagles in the Great Plains. Crandall and others (2015) used satellite telemetry to track 12 adult Golden Eagles during the breeding season in south-central Montana, which is the region's western margin. Based on 95 and 50 percent kernel density estimates, mean home-range and corearea sizes were 15.8 km² (range=3.1-27.3 km²) and 2.1 km² (range=0.1–4.7 km²), respectively. Top models for predicting selection of home ranges (that is, resource selection at the second-order level; Johnson, 1980) included prey habitat and proportion of pasture as covariates. "Prey habitat" was defined as open areas of mixed sagebrush and grassland, because previous studies indicated that primary species of prey of Golden Eagles on the study area were associated with this habitat type (Crandall and others, 2015). At the corearea scale, strongest covariates in models were prey habitat and terrain ruggedness. The authors found the latter scale to be a stronger predictor of resource selection at the secondorder level. The third order of selection (that is, resource

selection within the home range; Johnson, 1980) in this study was based on analysis of 15,182 Global Positioning System locations collected from the 12 eagles, and important covariates included aspect, distance to nest, terrain ruggedness, distance to prey habitat, and an interaction between the latter two covariates (Crandall and others, 2015). Overall, the most important covariate for describing resource selection by breeding Golden Eagles was terrain ruggedness. However, the interaction term reflected strong selection for areas of rugged terrain close to prey habitat; probability of use of highly rugged areas declined as distance to prey habitat increased (Crandall and others, 2015).

Golden Eagles that either are floaters or preadult-aged individuals are not tied strongly to specific sites like breeding adults are to nests and nest areas. Size and configurations of home ranges of nine nonmigratory, subadult Golden Eagles tracked by satellite telemetry in the northern Great Plains, especially southeastern Montana, were reported in Bedrosian and others (2019). Home ranges were estimated by a minimum convex polygon method, apparently including all observations for a given eagle during a given season. Mean annual home-range size was 6,513 km² (range=1,248 to 54,672 km²). Mean home-range size during summer (May-August) was 6,182 km² (range=99-25,591 km²) and during winter (November-February) was 6,513 km² (range=489-34,989 km²). The authors reported that no patterns in seasonal home-range size were evident; home ranges of some individuals were larger in winter than in summer, whereas the opposite was true for others (Bedrosian and others, 2019).

In the southern Great Plains, home ranges of 12 juvenile Golden Eagles during fledging through December (that is, between about 2 and 9.5 months of age) averaged 3,070 km² (standard error=1,484 km²), based on 95-percent kernel density estimates (Mitchell, 2017). Although these home-range size estimates imply that juveniles in the region required considerable space, the eagles concentrated their activity in up to 10 "cluster areas" within their respective home ranges, suggesting that much area within home ranges was unused. Indeed, a coarse-level analysis of habitat use indicated that extensive areas of cropland, developed land, and grasslands heavily encroached by juniper were avoided by the eagles. Mitchell (2017) considered that it may be impractical to describe home ranges of juveniles on the study area because movement behavior varied so greatly among individuals.

Apparently, no other reports of spatial needs of juvenile Golden Eagles in the Great Plains are available; however, such data from areas immediately west of the Great Plains may have implications for the region. Dispersal of Golden Eagles from natal areas during their first year of life in the southern Rocky Mountains and Colorado Plateau west of the southern Great Plains was studied by Murphy and others (2017). Most (66.7 percent) juveniles dispersed short (<120 km) distances with relatively little wandering. For 38 of these "short-distance dispersers," cumulative monthly home-range size based on 95-percent minimum convex polygons increased from (medians) 149 to 612 km² during November through the following April, when the eagles reached roughly 12 months of age. Concurrently, percentage overlap between successive monthly home ranges varied but reached 57.1–76.1 percent during February through March. During the same period, cumulative monthly home ranges of 10 juveniles that dispersed moderate (120–500 km) distances were comparatively large but varied little among months from (medians) 8,746 to 10,318 km²; percentage overlap between monthly home ranges increased steadily from 20.4 to 83.0 (Murphy and others, 2017). Overlap of 95-percent kernel density home ranges at ages 12 and 24 months was 42.2 and 26.5 percent for short- and moderate-distance dispersers, respectively, suggesting that Golden Eagles in the Southern Rockies and Colorado Plateau regions are relatively settled by the end of their first year of life, especially if they had dispersed comparatively short distances. Juveniles that dispersed more than 350 km from natal areas moved east to the southern Great Plains and south to desert grasslands in northern Mexico (Murphy and others, 2017).

Fewer relevant, published data on space use by Golden Eagles are available from eagles originating in far northern regions and overwintering in the Great Plains and nearby areas. Fourteen adults that were captured and tagged with Global Positioning System transmitters during fall migration in western and central Montana overwintered from Montana to Texas (one-half in Colorado or New Mexico; four were monitored for two consecutive winters and 13 others for at least one entire winter) (Domenech and others, 2015). Based on 95-percent minimum convex polygon estimates, sizes of winter-season home ranges of 13 eagles monitored for at least 3 months each varied from 814 to 46,648 km² (Domenech and others, 2015). The larger home ranges were characterized as having dispersed winter locales (that is, low migratory connectivity), across which individuals altered sizes of areas of use through the season; at the same time, space use in some places was constrained by breeding pairs exhibiting territorial defense. Winter core areas of the same eagles, delineated by 50-percent kernel density estimates, ranged greatly from 444 to 5,420 km². Collectively, the 14 eagles studied remained on wintering areas for 31-180 days. Six individuals that were tracked for 2 consecutive years exhibited strong fidelity to their respective winter areas; home ranges estimated by 50-percent minimum convex polygons overlapped by 58-100 percent (Domenech and others, 2015).

Golden Eagle home-range dynamics that have been documented in several other parts of the western United States and elsewhere in the world are summarized by Katzner and others (2020b) and thus are not reviewed herein.

Brood Parasitism by Cowbirds and Other Species

Neither interspecific nor intraspecific brood parasitism are known to occur in Golden Eagle nests (Shaffer and others, 2019; Katzner and others, 2020b). Eggs of the Brown-headed Cowbird (*Molothrus ater*), an obligate brood parasite of passerines, have not been documented in Golden Eagle nests (Shaffer and others, 2019).

Breeding-Season Phenology and Site Fidelity

The Golden Eagle's breeding season in the Great Plains and nearby areas varies with latitude, starting earliest in southernmost areas and later farther north. In the southern Great Plains and nearby Four Corners region of Utah, Colorado, Arizona, and New Mexico, nest initiation (that is, egg-laying) occurs from early February through late March, whereas in Montana and North Dakota, laying occurs from mid- to late March through April (table O1; after the "References" section). At a given latitude, Golden Eagles tend to initiate nesting later at higher elevations in mountains bordering the western Great Plains (Boeker and Ray, 1971). Snow accumulation, severe winters, or prey shortages can delay initiation (Phillips and Beske, 1990; Young and others, 1995; Steenhof and others, 1997). Eggs hatch 41-45 days after laying, and fledging occurs roughly 65 days later (median date), but fledging age can range from 45 days to more than 76 days (Steenhof and others, 2017); renesting rarely occurs. In southwestern Idaho, only 0.01 percent of 674 nesting attempts by Golden Eagles were attributed to renesting (U.S. Geological Survey, unpub. data in Katzner and others, 2020b). From three studies reviewed by Kochert and others (2002), renesting at 13 nests occurred an average of 24 days (range 19-30 days) after losses of initial clutches. Regardless, Katzner and others (2020b, unpaginated) stated that "there are no records of [Golden Eagle] pairs producing more than one brood in a year."

Golden Eagles generally show strong fidelity to breeding areas and often reuse nests ("use" of a nest defined as the laying of an egg or eggs, also called a nest attempt), but individuals sometimes change breeding areas (Marzluff and others, 1997; Katzner and others, 2020b). In breeding areas where multiple nest sites are available, pairs often maintain more than one nest, to varying degrees, and may construct new nests within a year (Kochert and Steenhof, 2012; Millsap and others, 2015; Slater and others, 2017). In successive years, a pair of eagles may either reuse a previous year's nest or switch to an alternate (that is, "alternative" [Steenhof and others, 2017]) nest (reviewed *in* Katzner and others, 2020b). The most extensive case history of nest use by Golden Eagles comes from sagebrush shrubsteppe in southwestern Idaho where many potential nest sites on cliffs were available (Kochert

14 The Effects of Management Practices on Grassland Birds—Golden Eagle (Aquila chrysaetos)

and Steenhof, 2012). During a 41-year period, pairs used 75 percent of 454 nests up to four times and 36 percent only once (Kochert and Steenhof, 2012). The eagles used up to 18 nests in a single breeding area; on average, 6.9 nests were used per breeding area. Time between reuse of 300 nests that had been used more than once ranged from 1 to 39 years, and 85 percent of 66 breeding areas held at least one nest that was reused after a lapse of more than 10 years. Seven nests in six territories were empty for at least 30 years before being reused (Kochert and Steenhof, 2012). Distances between nearest alternative nests averaged 191 m (range=1-1,822 m) (Kochert and Steenhof, 2012); distances of up to 6 km have been recorded in other studies (McGahan, 1968). During a study in the northern Great Basin within Utah, where many cliff nest sites were available, 28 Golden Eagle breeding areas were monitored for at least 25 years (Slater and others, 2017). Breeding areas contained 1-8 nests each (average=2.9 nests). Pairs used individual nests within a given breeding area every 3.3 years and initiated nesting in any nest every 1.8 years, on average. They also switched nests during 43.3 percent of consecutive nest attempts.

The comprehensive studies by Kochert and Steenhof (2012) and Slater and others (2017) demonstrated dynamics of nest use by Golden Eagles in areas with high availability of nests sites, exceeding that across the Great Plains, where cliff nest sites often are lacking and potential nest sites in trees are limited (see "Suitable Habitat" section). Where breeding areas occur in the Great Plains, few or no alternative nest sites may be available, although breeding areas with single nests have been known to support pairs indefinitely in the western United States; for example, a nest in California was occupied by Golden Eagle pairs for at least 50 years (Hanna, 1930).

Species' Response to Management

Because the Golden Eagle is a K-selected species, exhibiting delayed sexual maturity and low reproductive output, its population stability tends to be highly sensitive to slight changes in survival, especially for adults (Katzner and others, 2017; Millsap and others, 2022). In the contemporary western United States, anthropogenic mortality is the foremost driver of Golden Eagle population status and trend; anthropogenic mortalities account for about 60 percent of all mortalities and 73 percent of mortalities among individuals >1 year of age, and likely will continue to increase (Millsap and others, 2022). The four most important anthropogenic sources of mortality among Golden Eagles across the western United States are electrocution, collisions, poisoning, and shooting (Millsap and others, 2022); relative importance among these factors is uncertain, however, as credible intervals accompanying estimates overlapped considerably. Other factors that may negatively affect Golden Eagle population status in the western United States, either directly via mortality, injury, or disturbance of individual eagles or indirectly by alteration and loss of habitat,

include injury or death due to incidental capture in traps set for other wildlife; habitat fragmentation and disturbance associated with energy development; other land-use changes, such as agricultural or urban development; disturbance from intensive recreational activities in important eagle-use areas; fire-enhanced invasion by nonnative plant species that degrades prey habitat; grazing; and climate change (see individual subsections below). Herein, the terms "disturb" and "disturbance" are used as defined in the Bald and Golden Eagle Protection Act (BGEPA; Title 50 CFR § 22.6): "to agitate or bother a Bald or Golden eagle to a degree that causes, or is likely to cause, based on the best scientific information available, (1) injury to an eagle, (2) a decrease in its productivity, by substantially interfering with normal breeding, feeding, or sheltering behavior, or (3) nest abandonment, by substantially interfering with normal breeding, feeding, or sheltering behavior."

Electrocution

Electrocution on poles supporting electrical distribution lines is one of the most important, widespread sources of direct mortality among Golden Eagles throughout the species' range (Lehman and others, 2007; Dwyer and others, 2016; Mojica and others, 2018; Millsap and others, 2022). Eightytwo percent of 416 carcasses found along powerlines during surveys in Idaho, Wyoming, Utah, Nevada, New Mexico, and Oregon during a 3-year period were Golden Eagles (Benson, 1981). Fifty-four percent of 61 reported bird electrocutions in Montana between October 1980 and December 1985 were Golden Eagles (O'Neil, 1988). More than 300 cases of electrocution of Golden Eagles and Bald Eagles (Haliaeetus leucocephalus) were documented in Texas, Arizona, New Mexico, Oklahoma, Kansas, Utah, Colorado, and Wyoming between 1969 and 1971 (Boeker and Nickerson, 1975). In 1972 and 1973, an additional 250 Golden Eagles were found electrocuted in 14 States, mostly in Utah (32 percent), Nevada (24 percent), Idaho (12 percent), and Montana (10 percent) (Boeker and Nickerson, 1975). Based on cause-of-death findings from Golden Eagles tracked by telemetry during 1997-2016, Millsap and others (2022) estimated that 506 Golden Eagles were electrocuted annually in the western United States (median estimate, based on the sum of median first-year mortality [69] and median after-first-year mortality [437]). However, the estimate was accompanied by considerable uncertainty; the lower and upper 95-percent credible intervals were 20 and 174 for first-year individuals and 231 and 731 for after-first-year individuals.

Electrocutions occur when one part of an animal simultaneously contacts a grounding source (such as grounding lines) and any energized but uncovered component, such as conductors (energized lines), lightning arresters, transformers, and jumpers (that is, wires that connect conductors to one another or to other equipment mounted on poles, especially transformers) (Avian Power Line Interaction Committee [APLIC], 2006). Electrocutions also can occur when two or more

15

energized components are contacted simultaneously. Fleshy parts of the eagle's body (for example, simultaneous contacts of a foot and the hand [manus] of a wing) must make contact for electrocution to occur; feathers are nonconductive except possibly when very wet (APLIC, 2006). Electrocution risk varies considerably among poles depending on the configuration of components; some poles pose far greater risk of electrocution than others, and some pose almost no risk (APLIC, 2006; Dwyer and Mojica, 2022; Mojica and others, 2022).

Electrocution of Golden Eagles on distribution lines is well studied in the United States and elsewhere. Mojica and others (2018) synthesized this information and provided a comprehensive overview of measures to reduce electrocution risk to the species. Drawing directly from findings in their review, the authors identified eight electrocution risk factors for Golden Eagles. Most important was the presence and configuration of electrical equipment, such as transformers and exposed jumper wires on power poles. Poles with equipment (for example, transformers) and poles in sites where distribution lines meet typically pose greatest risk (Harness and Wilson, 2001). The next most important electrocution risk factors presented in Mojica and others (2018) included (1) ageyounger age classes of eagles are more vulnerable; (2) morphology-electrocution risk increases with eagle size because the likelihood of contacting two energized points or an energized and nonenergized point simultaneously increases, such as when both wrists of an eagle's outstretched wings touch different conductor wires on a pole crossarm; (3) surrounding land cover and topography-for example, eagles are likely to select poles on terrain that is higher than the surroundings or in areas where other types of perches are scarce; (4) availability of prey-use of a given area by eagles increases, especially when concentrated prey resources exist, such as leporids or colonies of burrowing rodents; and (5) habitat quality-risk is greater in areas of high prey availability or nest sites. Other important electrocution risk factors include season, weather, and eagle behavior (Mojica and others, 2018).

Increasingly, an indirect consequence of electrocutions of eagles and other large birds on power poles is the fire-hazard threat created when a bird is electrocuted on a pole, falls to the ground, and its burning carcass ignites a wildfire (Lehman, 2002; Barnes and others, 2022). Avian electrocution-caused wildfires were found to occur more often than expected in the Mediterranean California Ecoregion than in the Great Plains, semiarid, desert, or forested regions of the United States (Barnes and others, 2022). In addition to human health and safety concerns, wildfires in some areas may facilitate habitat conversions that are unfavorable not just for Golden Eagles, but possibly entire ecosystems; for example, wildfires may result in conversion of native big sagebrush shrubsteppe habitat to that dominated by cheatgrass (Kochert and others, 1999; Neilson and others, 2005; Chambers and others, 2014). The significant adverse implications of this habitat change for Golden Eagles are detailed in the "Suitable Habitat" section and the "Management Recommendations from the Literature" section.

Collisions

Collisions with human-made structures, such as vehicles, wind turbines, and powerlines, account for an estimated 611 (14.4 percent of total) deaths of Golden Eagles annually in the western United States, based on fates of Golden Eagles tracked by telemetry during 1997-2016 (estimated from the sum of first-year and after-first-year medians in Millsap and others, 2022). Katzner and others (2020b) considered vehicle collisions the most common of this mortality type. Vehicle collisions typically occur when eagles are feeding along roads on carcasses of wild ungulates and other animals that have been struck by vehicles (Russell and Franson, 2014; Allison and others, 2017; Grubb and others, 2018; Slater and others, 2022). Eagles mainly are struck as they flush from carcasses (Slater and others, 2022). Incidence of collisions may increase during periods of low prey availability and may occur more commonly during winter, as Phillips (1986) noted in his report of nearly 100 Golden Eagles killed on highways during a single winter near Rock Springs in southwestern Wyoming. Factors that may increase availability of wild ungulate carrion for eagles along highways in the western United States include carcass size (larger carcasses persist longer), ambient temperature (carcasses persist longer when colder), presence of Common Ravens (raven presence may alert eagles to carcasses), eagle density (carcasses are scavenged more quickly when more eagles are present), and whether whole carcasses have been torn open by mammalian scavengers such as covotes (Canis latrans) (Grubb and others, 2018; Lonsdorf and others, 2018; Slater and others, 2022). Although attention on eaglevehicle collisions has focused on carcasses of large animals, eagles also are struck by vehicles when feeding at carcasses of small prey, especially rabbits, when such are frozen to the pavement (B. Bedrosian, Teton Raptor Center, Wilson, Wyo., written commun., August 12, 2022).

In a comprehensive study of Golden Eagle-vehicle collisions in Oregon, central Utah, and southwestern Wyoming, Slater and others (2022) used cameras to document responses of Golden Eagles at carcasses (mainly deer [Odocoileus spp.]) to vehicle traffic; flushing by eagles from a roadkill in response to vehicles was considered a proxy for collision risk. The probability of a carcass being used by eagles increased with increased distance from roads, and conversely, the probability of an eagle flushing from a carcass decreased with increased distance from roads. There was little support for predictions that carcass use decreased with increased traffic volume or when tall vegetation was nearby, or that carcass use increased when live prey was likely to be less available (due to snow cover), when carcasses were in areas with many eagle sightings, or when carcasses were in areas identified as roadkill hotspots based on expert elicitation and available data (Slater and others, 2022). Based mainly on expert elicitation, Lonsdorf and others (2018) also reported that carcass distance from road edge was a key risk factor. Lonsdorf and others (2018) developed a model for estimating the extent of Golden Eagle-vehicle collisions in a hypothetical Wyoming county

16 The Effects of Management Practices on Grassland Birds—Golden Eagle (Aquila chrysaetos)

during fall–winter, based mainly on expert-selected levels of eagle density, road traffic volume, and carcass abundance. Modeled eagle mortality increased in concert with carcass numbers especially at low levels of traffic volumes (15–35 vehicles per hour); at high traffic volume (65 vehicles per hour), model-based mortality was limited because of the frequent disturbance caused by traffic, which reduced time that eagles spent at carcasses. Other factors considered to influence the risk of Golden Eagles to vehicle collision included traffic speed and extent of carcass removal by highway maintenance crews (Lonsdorf and others, 2018).

Powerlines and fences pose collision risk to Golden Eagles across the western United States. During 1994–97, 5 percent of 61 deaths of Golden Eagles tracked by telemetry at the Altamont Pass Wind Resource Area (APWRA) in California were attributed to fence collisions, compared to 3 percent to vehicle collisions (Hunt and others, 1999). Golden Eagles are most at risk of collision with fences and overhead powerlines wherever these structures cross high-quality foraging habitat or migration paths (Watson, 2010). The Golden Eagle was among the most commonly reported species documented in 88 collisions by raptors with telephone lines and electrical distribution and transmission lines in California (Olendorff and Lehman, 1986). The authors noted that these collisions most likely occurred during periods of high winds or poor visibility, or when raptors were distracted while in pursuit of prey. Fences partly hidden by tall vegetation can be particularly dangerous in this regard. In south-central Montana, carcass remains of 23 Golden Eagles were found beneath mid-spans of a distribution line, suggesting they were killed by collisions rather than electrocution (Harness and others, 2003). Three of the carcasses were beneath consecutive midspans that crossed a draw near an in-use Golden Eagle nest and <1.6 km from a black-tailed prairie dog colony; the draw likely was a routine travel and hunting corridor for eagles (Harness and others, 2003).

Golden Eagles seem unusually vulnerable to collisions with wind-turbine blades (Hunt and others, 1997; Smallwood and Thelander, 2008; Smallwood and others, 2008, 2009a, 2009b; Noguera and others, 2010). In the United States, the Golden Eagle is thought to be one of a few bird species for which collisions with turbines may account for more than 1.5 percent of annual fatalities (Beston and others, 2016). Beston and others (2016) developed a prioritization system to identify avian species (428 species evaluated) most likely to experience population declines in the United States from wind facilities based on the species' current conservation status and the species' expected risk from wind turbines. The Golden Eagle scored a 4.72 out of nine, where nine indicated high risk, and Beston and others (2016) estimated that 2.4 percent of the Golden Eagle breeding population in the United States is exposed to wind facilities. In a radio-tracked population of Golden Eagles at APWRA in California, the annual mortality rate from collisions with wind turbines varied from 35 to 42 percent of 26 and 100 total fatalities, respectively (Hunt and others, 1997; Hunt and Hunt, 2006). The high rate of

collisions was attributed to having a dense breeding population of eagles and close proximity of the wind-energy facility to an important foraging area of the eagles. Katzner and others (2016) estimated that at least 25 percent of the Golden Eagles killed at APWRA originated elsewhere, mostly from areas >100 km away; the authors considered the area to be an ecological sink, reliant on continental-scale immigration to maintain population stability although they did not explicitly indicate whether any eagles breeding on the area originated as immigrants. Based on a spatially explicit demographic model that combined empirical demographic data with data on breeding habitat distribution, prey resources, and planned renewable energy sites, Wiens and others (2017) found evidence of strong dependence on immigration to maintain Golden Eagle population stability in a region of renewable-energy development in southern California. Pagel and others (2013) reported that at least 79 Golden Eagles were killed at wind-energy projects in the western United States during 1997 through June 2012 (excluding mortality at APWRA), but the authors believed this total greatly underrepresented the actual number killed in the western United States because rigorous monitoring and reporting of eagle mortalities at the time was generally lacking.

The growing demand for wind energy to reduce carbon emissions has raised concerns about the increase in Golden Eagle mortality associated with the proliferation of windenergy development (Millsap and others, 2022). Wind-energy development in the United States accelerated from 40 to 122 gigawatts between 2010 and 2020 and was predicted to reach 224 gigawatts by 2030 (U.S. Department of Energy, 2021). Compared with other major regions of North America, the Great Plains provides the highest quality wind potential for onshore wind-energy development (fig. 1 *in* U.S. Department of Energy, 2021).

Poisoning—Lead Toxicosis

Poisoning by heavy metals and pesticides, mainly lead and anti-coagulant rodenticides, respectively, is a leading anthropogenic cause of Golden Eagle deaths in North America. Millsap and others (2022) estimated that 427 Golden Eagles die annually from poisoning in the western United States, based on recoveries of eagles tracked by telemetry during 1997–2016. Lead toxicosis, likely the single most important cause of Golden Eagle poisoning, stems mainly from ingestion of spent lead ammunition associated with animal carcasses. The most unbiased evidence of deaths from lead toxicosis comes from 386 Golden Eagles monitored via telemetry during 1997-2013 (FWS, 2016a); cause of death could be determined for 97 of 139 of the eagles that died and were recovered. Based on use of a Bayesian model to extrapolate the results, an estimated 3 and 5 percent of 6,029 total annual deaths and 321 total annual anthropogenic-related deaths, respectively, of Golden Eagles resulted directly from lead toxicosis (table 8 in FWS, 2016a), although much uncertainty was

associated with the estimates. The potential effect of sublethal levels of lead toxicosis on vulnerability of Golden Eagles to other sources of mortality, such as collisions or starvation, may be more significant than direct mortality but difficult to assess (Kramer and Redig, 1997; Herring and others, 2017; Katzner and others, 2020b). For example, elevated blood lead levels were detected in Mute Swans (*Cygnus olor*) that died from various collisions (O'Halloran and others, 1989).

Blood samples collected from Golden Eagles in both western and eastern North America commonly show elevated lead levels. Categories of elevated blood lead include subclinical (0.2-0.6 part per million [ppm]), clinical but treatable (0.61–1.2 ppm), and generally lethal (>1.2 ppm; Kramer and Redig, 1997). Roughly 30-56 percent of Golden Eagles captured on migration or during winter in North America have exhibited elevated lead levels (see detailed review in Katzner and others, 2020b). Blood lead levels did not differ between migratory and resident Golden Eagles captured during winter in Montana (Domenech and others, 2021), probably because individuals in both groups had been scavenging remains of big-game animals shot with lead ammunition by hunters. Lead levels also can be measured in liver tissues. For example, 23 percent of 31 Golden Eagles found dead in Alberta, Saskatchewan, and Manitoba had high lead exposure, as measured in liver and kidney tissues (Wayland and Bollinger, 1999). However, blood and liver samples tend to indicate acute exposure, which can be somewhat temporary (Harmata and Restani, 1995). Bone samples from eagle carcasses, especially femurs, provide a means of measuring chronic lead exposure. Slabe and others (2022) reported that 46 percent of 206 Golden Eagles sampled from across North America during 2010-18 had lead levels in bone samples that were greater than levels classified as chronic poisoning. Adult individuals exhibited chronic lead poisoning more often than subadults and juveniles. Based on blood lead levels and liver lead levels, acute poisoning was evident in 9 percent of 383 individuals and 7 percent of 163 individuals, respectively. Lead levels detected in feathers indicated that 35 percent of 23 individuals sampled experienced acute lead toxicity at least once during their lives. The authors estimated that liver lead levels in 4.9 percent of Golden Eagles that died had exceeded severe poisoning thresholds (Slabe and others, 2022). Findings on bone lead levels indicated that the eagles are repeatedly exposed to lead, which accumulates in their bodies over time, thus creating demographic constraints. Lead poisoning suppresses annual population growth rates of Golden Eagles by an estimated 0.8-3.8 percent (Slabe and others, 2022). Lead exposure among nestling Golden Eagles may be substantial when eagles nest near agricultural lands where rodents are shot to protect crops and for recreation, negating the potential for high nestling growth rates in such areas (Herring and others, 2020). Herring and others (2020) reported that 34 percent of 258 nestling Golden Eagles sampled in agricultural areas in four western States had blood lead levels that have been shown to impair flight in adult eagles (Ecke and others, 2017). Four percent had levels exceeding subclinical poisoning.

Based on stable isotope signatures, ammunition was the source of lead in 45 percent of the poisoning cases in general and was the source in 89 percent of cases where severe clinical poisoning was indicated. Moreover, nestlings remained in nests for several weeks after blood sampling and then fledged, presumably acquiring more lead.

Fortunately, the principal cause of lead toxicosis among Golden Eagles, as well as many other species of predatory and scavenging birds, is well documented and reasonably well understood; reviews of the issue include but are not limited to Church and others (2006), Haig and others (2014), Golden and others (2016), and Pain and others (2019), but literature on the subject is copious. Game animals shot by hunters with lead ammunition can retain lead residues and fragments of the projectiles, or even retain somewhat intact projectiles such as shot pellets used for bird hunting. Golden Eagles that either kill and eat such game animals or scavenge on their carcasses can directly consume the lead deposits (reviewed in Golden and others, 2016; Katzner and others, 2020b). Golden Eagles also may consume lead residues when scavenging carcasses of ground squirrels (mainly Urocitellus spp.) and prairie dogs killed by recreational shooters (Harmata and Restani, 1995, 2013; Katzner and others, 2017; Herring and others, 2020) and game bird carrion left by hunters (Bedrosian and others, 2019). Evidence implicating consumption as the primary avenue for lead toxicosis is robust (Golden and others, 2016; Katzner and others, 2020b). Inhalation of anthropogenic lead in the atmosphere can be a route of exposure (Katzner and others, 2017). Also, livestock or pest species (for example, feral pigs [Sus scrofa]) are sometimes killed with lead ammunition, and lead-contaminated parts of their carcasses may subsequently be consumed by Golden Eagles. In some areas of western North America, blood lead levels among scavenging bird species, including Golden Eagles, have been shown to peak annually in concert with hunting seasons (Pattee and others, 1990) and to decrease significantly after widespread bans are placed on use of lead ammunition for most hunting activities (Kelly and others, 2011).

Poisoning—Rodenticides and Other

Golden Eagles in the western United States may be incapacitated or killed by anti-coagulant rodenticides (ARs) when the eagles ingest prey (including scavenged items) that have consumed the rodenticides or ingest prey that have consumed remains of other animals laden with rodenticides (that is, secondary poisoning, such as capturing and feeding on a Common Raven that recently had scavenged remains of a poisoned prairie dog). The FWS (2016a) estimated the cause of mortality for 97 Golden Eagles that were recovered via telemetry after death in North America between 1997 and 2013. Based on use of a Bayesian model to extrapolate results, poisoning, excluding lead toxicosis, annually caused 1,025 (credible interval=316–2,266) deaths of Golden Eagles in North America, representing 17 and 30 percent of total annual deaths and total annual anthropogenic-related deaths, respectively. Although not directly reported in FWS (2016a), potentially lethal levels of ARs were documented in nearly all cases for which cause of death was attributed broadly to poisoning (R. Murphy, personal obs., and B. Millsap, U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service, Albuquerque, N. Mex., written commun., September 17, 2021).

In rural areas of the western United States, rodenticides are used chiefly to control or locally eradicate prairie dogs and ground squirrels (mainly Urocitellus spp.) that are thought to depredate crops, reduce herbaceous forage for livestock, and create burrows that may interfere with farm operations or inflict livestock with leg injuries (Golden and Gober, 2010; Katzner and others, 2020b). For example, in some States (for example, Nebraska; Schumacher and others, 2016), private landowners are required to prevent black-tailed prairie dogs from expanding colonies into neighboring land. Contemporary rodenticides are referred to as second-generation because target species developed resistance to the original suite of chemical rodenticides (Buckle and others, 1994). According to Thomas and others (2011, p. 916), the newer class of rodenticides includes chemicals that are more acutely toxic at lower doses; the authors stated that "greater acute toxicity increases the potential for primary poisoning amongst nontarget species while the longer tissue half-lives [of the rodenticides] enhance the potential for bioaccumulation in nontarget predators in particular, and so may increase the risk of secondary poisoning." Moreover, rodents may live for several days and continue to eat poisoned bait after consuming high, even lethal, doses such that predators and scavengers sometimes ingest exaggerated levels of poison when consuming small amounts of contaminated prey. Regardless, eagles and other raptor species that ingest ARs exhibit hemorrhaging from internal organs especially the heart, lungs, brain, and subcutaneous regions (Newton and others, 1999). ARs were detected in 81 percent of 133 total Bald Eagle and Golden Eagle carcasses examined at the Southeastern Cooperative Wildlife Disease Study laboratory for necropsy during 2014-18, and ARs were determined to be the cause of death in 4 percent of the cases (Niedringhaus and others, 2021). Brodifacoum, a widely used, highly lethal anticoagulant rodenticide that poses one of the highest risks of secondary poisoning to birds in general (Erickson and Urban, 2004), was the principal AR detected (81 percent of 133 total eagles tested). In the United States, brodifacoum is available to the general public but must be dispensed only by certified pesticide applicators.

In general, poisoning of Golden Eagles by pesticides in the western United States has occurred for at least a century (Bortolotti, 1984). Compared to Bald Eagles, Golden Eagles in the western United States generally have exhibited low or no detectable exposure to organochlorine pesticides, especially dichlorodiphenyltrichloroethane (DDT) and its metabolite dichlorodiphenyldichloroethylene (DDE), because Golden Eagles prey mainly on mammals (Reichel and others, 1969; Katzner and others, 2020b). Evidence of limited exposure to DDT and DDE is reviewed in Katzner and others (2020b) and briefly summarized here. Golden Eagle eggshell thickness did not change significantly after DDT was introduced. During 1964-75, DDE residues in tissues and eggs of Golden Eagles remained below levels that could hinder reproduction, and DDE residues were low but detectable in Golden Eagles captured and tested in the western United States from the early 1990s through 2013 (Katzner and others, 2020b). Moreover, organochlorine pesticides were not implicated in deaths of 125 telemetered Golden Eagles in the western United States and for which cause of death was determined, although deaths of three were attributed to multiple substances, including lead (Millsap and others, 2022). Other classes of pesticides and other toxins have become a greater concern to Golden Eagle conservation in recent decades. During 1985-95, 87 percent of 144 pesticide-related Golden Eagle deaths documented in the United States stemmed from pesticide use in violation of legal specifications on the label (Mineau and others, 1999). Golden Eagle mortality accounted for 17 percent of 734 total raptor deaths attributed to pesticides (usually by carbofuran). Eagle mortalities were not associated with labeled use of pesticides, possibly because of the minimal overlap of the Golden Eagle's distribution with intensive agricultural areas. However, Golden Eagles died after eating waterfowl that were accidentally poisoned in agricultural fields in the United States and Canada (Mineau and others, 1999). Golden Eagles in the western United States are sometimes poisoned when scavenging on carcasses laced with restricted-use or banned toxic substances, such as strychnine, thallium, and aldicarb, to control livestock predators (Russell and Franson, 2014; Katzner and others, 2020b). For example, Golden Eagles tracked by telemetry in a domestic sheep (Ovis aries)-ranching area of the southern Great Plains died by ingesting a restricted-use, acutely toxic carbamate insecticide and nematicide with aldicarb as its active ingredient (Murphy and others, 2023), which is a poison that likely had no use other than killing predators indiscriminately because no cropland occurred in the remote landscape (R. Murphy, personal obs., and D. Stahlecker, Eagle Environmental, Inc., Santa Fe, N. Mex., written commun., October 31, 2021). Russell and Franson (2014) listed eight other toxins or classes of toxins that were implicated in deaths of Golden Eagles from the United States during 1975-2013, based on 1,427 carcasses submitted for necropsy to the U.S. Geological Survey's National Wildlife Health Center. Mercury, a toxic heavy metal, was not included despite its broad distribution in the environment. A review of the subject in Katzner and others (2020b) indicates that although exposure to mercury is commonly detected in feathers, tissues, and blood of Golden Eagles in western North America, mercury levels tend to be low; for example, Harmata and Restani (2013) reported that only one of 70 Golden Eagles in southwestern Montana had a mercury level (0.5 ppm) in its blood above that considered background level in piscivorous birds (0.4 ppm). A toxicant that may be of concern to Golden Eagles on a local scale in rural areas in the western United States is the barbiturate pentobarbital; used for veterinary euthanasia, it may be ingested by eagles scavenging exposed carcasses of target animals and

19

is acutely toxic (Russell and Franson, 2014; Wells and others, 2020). Organophosphate pesticides, which are typically used in agriculture to control insect pests, were implicated in poisoning of two of 117 Golden Eagles found dead in the United States (Russell and Franson, 2014). Scott and Bollinger (2015) reported that 16.6 percent of 78 Golden Eagles found dead in Saskatchewan between 1992 and 2012 were poisoned by organophosphate or carbamate compounds, and that these were the most frequently documented forms of toxicosis. An important caveat regarding these studies in general is that the use of incidentally found Golden Eagle carcasses to assess causes of eagle deaths may be biased in that such birds die in places where they are likely to be found, whereas a sample of eagles that die while being tracked by telemetry and are promptly recovered wherever they die is relatively unbiased (Millsap and others, 2022).

Shooting

Historically, shooting was a notable source of mortality for Golden and Bald eagles in much of the western United States and was done mainly to protect the young of livestock and big game (Roberts, 1932; Dixon, 1937; Woodgerd, 1952; McGahan, 1968; Camenzind, 1969; Baglien, 1975; Beecham and Kochert, 1975; Clapp and others, 1982; Schueler, 1982). Despite some indications that shooting of Golden Eagles declined after the Bald Eagle Act was amended in 1962 to include protection of the Golden Eagle (Phillips, 1986), the extent to which Golden Eagles continue to be shot appears substantial. Based on multistate model estimates derived from 126 Golden Eagles tracked by telemetry and for which cause of mortality could be determined between 1997 and 2016, about 670 Golden Eagles are killed annually by shooting in the western United States (Millsap and others, 2022), representing about 28 percent of all anthropogenic mortality (table 3 in Millsap and others, 2022). Shooting was the most important overall source of mortality among older Golden Eagles (Millsap and others, 2022). In Scotland where Golden Eagles were shot to protect gamebird populations, an estimated 3-5 percent of the annual mortality among adult Golden Eagles was attributed to shooting; some breeding areas had been vacated, and eagle age at first breeding had decreased (Whitfield and others, 2004). The population was vulnerable to decline, but modeling predicted that the population would increase if the shooting ended (Whitfield and others, 2004).

Golden Eagles and Bald Eagles have a central role in the religions and cultural histories of many western Tribes (Murray, 2009, 2011; Murray and others, 2009; Smith, 2016). For some of these Tribes, feathers and other parts of Golden and Bald eagles are essential for religious and ceremonial purposes (Murray and others, 2009; Smith, 2016). In the western United States, motivations for some Golden Eagle shootings may be linked in part to a widespread, black-market trade of eagle feathers and body parts (Kovacs, 2013).

Golden Eagles are sometimes incidentally captured in leg-hold traps and snares set for mammals either for predator control or fur harvest. Katzner and others (2020b) reported that, in eastern North America, six of 95 Golden Eagles tracked by telemetry were captured in leg-hold traps or snares, and that some Golden Eagles photographed during migration or at carrion sites had either broken-off snares dangling from their neck or leg-hold traps attached to a foot. Most trap deaths of Golden Eagles occur during winter, perhaps because the eagles are most likely to be scavenging then (Katzner and others, 2020b). Based on cause-of-death findings from Golden Eagles tracked by telemetry during 1997–2016, Millsap and others (2022) estimated that 279 Golden Eagles were caught in traps annually in the western United States (median estimate, based on the sum of first-year [juvenile] and after-first-year mortalities). Relying on information provided on labels of museum study skins, Bortolotti (1984) reported that traps accounted for 17 of 38 Golden Eagle deaths due to known causes in Canada, Alaska, and the contiguous United States west of the Mississippi River during 1900-80; 15 of the 17 deaths were females.

Legs and feet of eagles captured in leghold traps may appear uninjured or only slightly injured when first examined (Durham, 1981). However, blood vessels in the limited soft tissues of the lower leg are easily damaged by constriction in a leghold trap such that vascular supply is impaired, leading to thrombosis or broken blood vessels (Durham, 1981). In subsequent weeks, the epithelium of the foot or leg gradually deteriorates and falls off, and the extremity becomes black and brittle; the eagle dies even if under veterinary care. Snares and leghold traps with offset jaws also can cause this damage (Durham, 1981). Some eagles may survive with only one foot, but it is rare; the plantar surface of a raptor's foot is prone to deterioration when used alone for perching. Even if eagles are released or escape from leg-hold traps, they likely incur irreversible damage of soft tissues and ultimately lose the extremity or die even when under clinical care (Durham, 1981). Regardless, the underlying cause of incidental captures and deaths seems to be presence of exposed bait (Katzner and others, 2020b).

Energy Development

Energy development constitutes an important, widespread land-use change in the contemporary western United States (Copeland and others, 2011). The growth in this development has been referred to as "energy sprawl," characterized by steadily increasing fragmentation associated with infrastructure, such as roads, well pads, wind turbines, and high-voltage transmission lines. Copeland and others (2011) and Pocewicz and others (2011) used lease and license data to predict future development of oil, gas, wind, solar, and geothermal energy sources in western North America. About 9–24 percent (2.9–8.9 million ha) of grassland and shrubland in the western Great Plains was predicted to be developed, and most of this development was for conventional oil and natural gas extraction (Copeland and others, 2011; Pocewicz and others, 2011).

Mining, including oil and gas extraction, can negatively affect Golden Eagles. The extent of such impacts varies, depending on type of mining activity, size of the resource being mined, and regulations for the reclamation and recovery of a given site (Postovit and Postovit, 1989). Aside from possible disturbance of Golden Eagle breeding pairs and their nests, incursions by humans, roads, and miscellaneous infrastructure associated with mine development in remote areas can prevent eagles from using important foraging areas and can disturb eagles at traditional roost sites including those of nonbreeding and overwintering individuals (Call, 1979). Large-scale surface mining, like most coal-mining operations, tends to be more detrimental to breeding eagles than local-scale mining, such as oil and gas extraction, especially because nest buffer zones are difficult to establish in surface-mine landscapes (Call, 1979). Coal-mining activities may have limited Golden Eagle productivity at two of 39 breeding areas monitored in eastern Utah (Bates and Moretti, 1994). At one of the breeding areas, escarpments supporting three Golden Eagle nest structures collapsed after underlying coal was removed; one nest remained and produced young the following year, then also fell. Anticipating the spauling event (that is, deterioration and collapse), the mining corporation obtained a permit from the FWS that allowed the nests to be damaged or destroyed (Bates and Moretti, 1994). In parts of Wyoming, potential nest sites are limited for Golden Eagles, and those available may be destroyed by surface coal mines (Phillips and others, 1984). Conversely, coal-mine highwalls can provide nest sites for Golden Eagles in areas otherwise lacking nest sites (Fala and others, 1985).

Compared with coal mining, infrastructure for oil and gas extraction can be developed rapidly with less regulatory oversight, especially on privately owned lands (Postovit and Postovit, 1989). Significant disturbance begins with exploration for oil and gas reserves (Postovit and Postovit, 1989). Human presence, such as traffic, and habitat fragmentation, especially by roads, drilling pads, storage tanks, and miscellaneous buildings, are chief concerns, yet evidence of negative impacts of these disturbances is mixed. Some individual eagles may become habituated to oil and gas development and could be attracted by availability of perching and nesting sites on development infrastructure (Smith and others, 2010). In Utah and Wyoming, occupancy of nests by Golden Eagles declined when oil and gas development occurred within 800 m but increased when roads not associated with oil and gas development were within 2 km (Smith and others, 2010). Wallace (2014) detected no relationship between occupancy of territories by Golden Eagles and density of oil and gas infrastructure in Wyoming and believed that occupancy probably was influenced more by environmental factors not measured except for strong evidence of a positive relationship with nest height. Squires and others (2020) also found no evidence

that Golden Eagles avoided oil and gas infrastructure when selecting territories and nest sites across Wyoming, and the eagles tended to nest closer than expected to unpaved roads associated with oil and gas infrastructure. However, the habitat selected by the eagles coincided closely with areas having the highest potential for oil and gas development and thus risked increasing fragmentation (Squires and others, 2020). Apparently, no before-after-control-impact (BACI) studies of effects of oil and gas development on Golden Eagles or their prey have been published.

Electrical distribution lines can be extensive in areas with high densities of oil and gas wells, posing electrocution risk to eagles if not constructed per raptor-safe guidelines (APLIC, 2006). For example, two Golden Eagles tracked by telemetry were electrocuted on distribution lines only 2 and 39 days, respectively, after entering the portion of southeastern New Mexico that overlaps the Permian Basin (Murphy and others, 2023), where oil-well densities reach 19–56 wells per km² (Scanlon and others, 2017).

Rapidly increasing development of wind energy in western landscapes, including the Great Plains, has multiple consequences for Golden Eagles (besides mortality risk, as detailed in the "Collisions" subsection). Wind-energy development can break up the eagle's airspace with infrastructure that alters eagle behavior, but more importantly, it fragments extensive landscapes with access roads, electrical transmission corridors, and cleared areas for turbines (Fielding and others, 2006; Diffendorfer and others, 2019; Ott and others, 2021). These changes affect the quality and quantity of eagle nesting and prey habitat (Kuvlesky and others, 2007; Katzner and others, 2013) and the security of migration corridors (Bedrosian and others, 2018) while possibly increasing the eagle's vulnerability to disturbance and persecution (Diffendorfer and others, 2019; Bedrosian and others, 2019). Wind-energy projects also can cause Golden Eagles to alter migration flight behavior (Johnston and others, 2014) and avoid otherwise suitable habitat (Walker and others, 2005). Breeding pairs of Golden Eagles may be displaced when wind-energy projects are constructed, as in Wyoming, yet breeding density in surrounding areas may not change (Young and others, 2010). In the APWRA during 2019-21, Wiens and Kolar (2021) documented a higher percentage (29 percent of 16 pairs) of mixed-age (that is, subadult/adult) territorial pairs of Golden Eagles than in the broader surrounding region, where only 3 percent of 122 territorial pairs included subadults; the authors suggested that these differences potentially indicate higher rates of adult mortality or displacement at territories overlapping with the APWRA. As a region, the Great Plains poses the greatest total area of onshore, high-wind potential in the United States (National Renewable Energy Laboratory, 2017). By 2012, about 5 gigawatts of wind-energy capacity existed in the northern Great Plains, and 32 gigawatts were planned for development (Fargione and others, 2012). In a 65,000-km² area of the southern Great Plains, 5,835 wind turbines were operating by early 2022 and another 5,314 turbines were being planned based on an index of development by Stahlecker

and others (2022). However, extant or planned turbines were within 3.2 km of Golden Eagle nests in only five of 123 nesting territories occupied by the eagle sometime during 2015–20, suggesting that opportunities remain for avoiding development within Golden Eagle territories (Stahlecker and others, 2022).

Other Land-Use Changes

Urbanization is another land-use change with negative implications for Golden Eagles, which typically avoid human population centers. For example, declines in Golden Eagle numbers in southern California are due largely to urbanization (Kochert and Steenhof, 2002). Scott (1985) documented a marked decline in the breeding population of Golden Eagles in San Diego County, California, during 1928-81, coinciding with rapid urban and suburban growth. Based on satellite telemetry data, Tracey and others (2018, 2020) found evidence of strong and moderate avoidance of urban and suburban areas, respectively, by Golden Eagles in southern California; even areas that were about 1.3 km from urban areas were typically avoided. Some areas that appeared to provide suitable habitat for Golden Eagles were too small to be occupied or were not considered by the authors to be functionally connected to other eagle habitat (Tracey and others, 2018). Urban expansion in the Rocky Mountain Front caused the abandonment of some historically occupied Golden Eagle nests (Phillips, 1986). For example, along the Rocky Mountain Front of central to south-central Colorado, the number of nests used annually by Golden Eagles declined from 44 to 22 percent during 1968-72, a change attributed mainly to accelerated commercial and urban development (Boeker, 1974). Concurrent change in the percentage of nesting territories occupied by breeding pairs apparently was not investigated, however. Golden Eagles occasionally inhabit fringes of urban areas such as in the Reno, Nevada, area (White and others, 2018).

Major airports in western States can attract eagles because they can offer extensive, open grassy areas between runways and taxiways, and in approach zones; humans generally are restricted to terminal areas, and eagles can become habituated to humans who are in service vehicles and aircraft away from buildings. Eagles can collide with aircraft, endangering human safety especially when striking cockpit windshields or entering engines (Sodhi, 2002); due to their heavy mass, they pose greater risk to aircraft than most other bird species of concern at airports (Washburn and others, 2015). Dolbeer and Wright (2008) reported seven Golden Eagle strikes with civil aircraft in the United States between 1990 and 2007, including two strikes that resulted in damage to the aircraft and three strikes that had a negative effect on the aircraft flight. Although collisions with aircraft are a minor source of Golden Eagle mortality, such collisions increased by 400 percent in the United States during 1990–2013 and pose human safety hazards (Washburn and others, 2015).

In general, areas that have been converted to agriculture in the western United States, which are vast in extent, are avoided by Golden Eagles as discussed above in the "Suitable Habitat" section, although the term "agriculture" is used loosely in references cited. Yet, certain cropland types may serve as valuable habitat for Golden Eagle prey at least during parts of the year. For example, extensive wheat (Triticum aestivum) and barley (Hordeum vulgare) fields of the Great Plains provide waste grain that attracts great numbers of migrating and overwintering waterfowl, such as the Snow Goose (Chen caerulescens) (Alisauskas and Ankney, 1992; Mowbray and others, 2020), and such concentrations of waterfowl provide prey for Golden Eagles (Katzner and others, 2020b). However, habitat for waterfowl and other species of wildlife that may serve as prey for Golden Eagles in much of the Great Plains is rapidly disappearing mainly because of conversion of grasslands to intensively farmed, monoculture landscapes and the concomitant loss of remaining prairie wetland habitats (Higgins and others, 2002). Conversion of native grasslands and shrublands to cultivated crops is projected to increase over the next century in the Northwestern Great Plains and Northwestern Glaciated Plains ecoregions (Sleeter and others, 2012; Sohl and others, 2012; Bedrosian and others, 2019), which will greatly alter and reduce habitat for breeding and nonbreeding Golden Eagles and their prey (Bedrosian and others, 2019).

Some western landscapes are used for military training. In Colorado, Golden Eagles, Ferruginous Hawks (Buteo regalis), and Swainson's Hawks (Buteo swainsoni) combined showed significant behavioral changes resulting from military activities in their home ranges (Andersen and others, 1990). Compared to birds that had not been exposed to military activities, birds that had been exposed to military activities showed greater shifts in their home-range centers, greater increases in their home-range size (July-August), and more frequent and greater movements outside of their territories. Effects of armored vehicle training, artillery firing, and helicopter training on raptors and habitat were studied during 1990-94 on a 56,022-ha area associated with the Snake River in southwestern Idaho (U.S. Department of the Interior, 1996). Vehicle use had a long-term, negative effect on Golden Eagles by reducing native vegetation and igniting fires, both of which led to invasion by cheatgrass and loss of shrublands, reducing the quality of foraging habitat. Other disturbances, such as noise created by military vehicles and ordnance tests, caused short-term disruptions in eagle behaviors that were not considered significant. In northern Utah, military helicopter operations did not negatively impact nesting Golden Eagles (Grubb and others, 2010).

Afforestation, specifically the establishment of conifer plantations, may replace expanses of open habitat that are valuable to Golden Eagles, as has been reported in Scotland (Marquiss and others, 1985; Watson, 1992; Whitfield and others, 2001). Negative effects of conifer plantations on eagles may not begin to be evident for about the first decade after trees are planted (Marquiss and others, 1985). Moreover, if trees are planted in degraded habitat with little eagle prey available, a short-term benefit is that prey populations may increase with the early successional plant growth that occurs following the end of a former, detrimental land-use practice, such as overgrazing (Watson, 1992). Productivity of Golden Eagles may decline in landscapes where such plantations are established, but the relationship between the areal extent of plantation cover and variation in eagle productivity remains unclear (Whitfield and others, 2001).

Although not technically a land-use change, outbreaks of introduced disease organisms can have dramatic effects on prey of Golden Eagles. In prairie dog colonies, bubonic plague caused by the introduced, flea-transmitted bacterium Yersinia pestis may abruptly shift the suitability of landscapes for Golden Eagles where prairie dogs constitute its primary prey. For example, on Thunder Basin National Grassland in northeastern Wyoming, 13 of 19 Golden Eagle territories produced young in 1 year, but plague decimated the local population of black-tailed prairie dogs following the breeding season; the next year, only one of 19 territories produced young (Bedrosian and others, 2019). In the same National Grassland, the total area occupied by plague has declined by as much as 99 percent (from 10,604 to 47 ha) in a single year, with recovery taking more than a decade (Davidson and others, 2022). Across 40-50 km² in northern New Mexico, Golden Eagles declined significantly during a plague epizootic among an estimated 100,000-150,000 Gunnison's prairie dogs (Cully, 1991). Both Gunnison's and black-tailed prairie dogs can incur nearly 100 percent mortality from plague outbreaks and are considered major amplifying hosts of the disease, which may become epizootic in scale (Barnes, 1993). Due to serious human health concerns posed by plague, entire colonies of prairie dogs have in some cases been eliminated by humans to prevent disease transmission (Barnes, 1993). However, in a study of black-tailed prairie dogs, Cully and others (2010) suggested that decreased colony size and increased distance between colonies that persist after plague outbreaks may reduce the likelihood of subsequent outbreaks.

Recreational Activity

Disturbance of Golden Eagles by people engaged in recreational pursuits near Golden Eagle's nests is a growing problem on public lands in the western United States (Steenhof and others, 2014; Spaul and Heath, 2016). Such recreational activities are mainly hiking, camping, rock-climbing, shooting, mountain biking, and driving off-highway vehicles including snowmobiles (Steenhof and others, 2014; Spaul and Heath, 2016; Katzner and others, 2020b). Disturbances range from short-term or infrequent to long-term or chronic. Golden Eagles, like many species of raptors, can be particularly sensitive to such disturbances during the breeding season, especially during courtship through early nestling stages (Newton, 1979). Wherever Golden Eagle pairs reside at their nesting territories year-round, courtship, including selection and refurbishing of nests, is likely to be underway at least 1 month before eggs are laid (Katzner and others, 2020b). Disturbance from recreation may cause Golden Eagles to not lay eggs or lessen care of their young; in extreme cases, breeding pairs may temporarily abandon their eggs or young nestlings, which then quickly become vulnerable to loss. For example, Golden Eagle nestlings <3 weeks of age can die from heat stress if adults leave their nest site and fail to shade their young from direct sun on extremely hot (>32 °C) days (Kochert and others, 2019); or, when flushed suddenly from nests, eagles may inadvertently crush their eggs or cause nestlings to fall from nests (Fyfe and Olendorff, 1976). Golden Eagle pairs in Alaska fed less food to their young and spent less time at their nests when people camped nearby (Steidl and others, 1993, in Katzner and others, 2020b). Using a modeling approach, Pauli and others (2017) found that negative impacts of recreation on Golden Eagle breeding success could have long-term, population-level implications. Slight (1-2 percent) annual increases in pedestrian and off-highway vehicle use could hasten population declines, despite predicted habituation by some eagles and influences of natural selection favoring tolerance of recreation activity (Pauli and others, 2017). Whether caused by recreation activities or other sources, disturbance has caused major losses in Golden Eagle reproductive success and territory occupancy in some regions (Camenzind, 1969; Boeker and Ray, 1971; Scott, 1985).

Recreational activity associated with off-highway vehicles may negatively affect Golden Eagle reproductive success. Spaul and Heath (2016) published a comprehensive study of recreational disturbance. The authors found that in southwestern Idaho, 23 nesting territories with high levels of off-highway vehicle use within 1.2 km were less likely to be occupied; probability of nest initiation was reduced by earlyseason pedestrian and other non-motorized use; and nest attendance was reduced when pedestrians, who often arrived by off-highway vehicles, were active near eagle nests. Steenhof and others (2014) assessed whether the proportion of territories and pairs producing Golden Eagle young in southwestern Idaho changed over time where off-highway vehicle use increased. From the late 1960s to 1999, the proportion of territories that produced Golden Eagle young was similar across southwestern Idaho. After a dramatic increase in off-highway vehicle use from 1999 to 2009, Golden Eagle occupancy and success of territories near recreational trails and parking areas declined, and the proportion of these territories producing young differed significantly from territories that were not affected by off-highway vehicles (Steenhof and others, 2014).

D'Acunto and others (2018) used simulation modeling (Bennett and others, 2009) to compare simulated flushing responses of incubating Golden Eagles and altered flight behavior of foraging eagles to two trail-closure strategies in each of three landscapes with differing cover types (avoided, neutral, and preferred habitat preferences) and trail configurations (low, moderate, and high trail densities) in southwestern Idaho. The two trail-closure strategies included a scenario with a 600-m restrictive buffer around the nest and a scenario with closure of all but the most popular trails to human recreation. The trails were used by pedestrians and off-highway vehicles. The restrictive-buffer strategy was best at reducing flushing by incubating eagles, and the closure of all but the most popular trails was best at reducing alteration of flight behavior by foraging eagles. Overall, trail density was more important than human activity levels on trails, for both incubating and foraging eagles simulated, indicating that there is a threshold of activity at which trail closures are no longer effective in limiting disturbance.

Golden Eagles also may be disturbed at traditional roost sites and preferred foraging sites, which could occur independent of breeding season or independent of breeding status of individual eagles (Katzner and others, 2020b). Repeated disturbance events may lead to avoidance of important eagle-use areas. Disturbance of raptors in general also can be caused by research activities (Rosenfield and others, 2007).

Fire

Recurrent fire played a major role in the evolution of grasslands such that native grasslands may be considered firedependent, especially mixed-grass prairies; other key drivers were climate and defoliation by a variety of grazing animals especially American bison (Bison bison) (Higgins, 1986; Bragg, 1995; Samson and Knopf, 1996). However, outcomes of large (that is, >400 ha) wildfires occurring under unnaturally hot, dry conditions, especially with heavy fuel loads (including woody fuels) may not be favorable for habitat of important prey of Golden Eagles or for eagle nest-site availability in locales where cliff nest sites are unavailable. The frequency and total area of large wildfires in the Great Plains have increased significantly in recent decades after being almost nonexistent for roughly 100 years (Donovan and others, 2017). Between 1985–94 and 2005–14, the mean number of annual large fires in the Great Plains increased from 33.4 to 116.8. Total area burned increased by 400 percent, from thousands to millions of hectares burned annually between the two periods, due mostly to fires in the far western Great Plains. In part, wildfires are increasingly difficult to control in the region due to shortages of trained staff equipped to suppress fires and to reduce fuel loads in landscapes becoming increasingly drier and hotter because of climate change (Donovan and others, 2017).

Fire, whether wildfires or prescribed fires for management purposes, may affect Golden Eagles chiefly by altering vegetation composition that may benefit some prey species and hinder others and by changing vegetation structure in ways that influence physical access to and thus vulnerability of prey. Changes in vegetation composition or structure could range from immediate or short-term to gradual and long-term. One consequence of such effects on prey may be shifts in

Golden Eagle territory occupancy and reproductive success. A case history in southwestern Idaho reported by Kochert and others (1999) illustrated these concepts. During a 6-year period, the extent of area burned by wildfire within the territory core (that is, the area within 3 km of a territory's nest centroids) of 27 of 36 Golden Eagle nesting territories was at least moderate (that is, $\geq 11-29$ percent of the territory core burned). Although territory occupancy rate did not change after the fires, pairs at nine territories maintained greater occupancy rates by expanding into neighboring, vacated territories (Kochert and others, 1999). Moreover, reproductive success (that is, the mean number of fledglings produced) of the pairs that usurped adjacent, vacant territories did not decline after the burns, whereas reproductive success of pairs that were not adjacent to vacant territories declined significantly. Reproductive success at 15 extensively burned territories (>30 percent of the area within 3 km of the nest centroid burned), relative to nine unburned territories, decreased 2-3 years postburn, was lowest from 4 to 6 years postburn, and returned to the 1-year postburn level in 10–11 years. The time lag in effect of the burns was attributed to a temporary concentration of prey in remaining unburned habitats, and the recovery was attributed in part to regrowth of shrubby vegetation (Kochert and others, 1999). A concurrent study in the same southwestern Idaho area (Marzluff and others, 1997) provided evidence that Golden Eagles may have been able to partly compensate for the effect of burns by concentrating their foraging efforts in remnant shrub habitats, by ranging over wider areas, foraging in other habitats (for example, agricultural and riparian areas), or by selecting alternate prey. However, Marzluff and others (1997) and Kochert and others (1999) noted that the carrying capacity for eagles in the study area might be reduced when eagles expand their territories into vacant neighboring areas.

In grasslands, an immediate effect of fire can be a sudden flush of vulnerable prey for raptors as fire removes concealing vegetation, as has been reported, for example, for White-tailed Hawks (Buteo albicaudatus) (Kopeny, 1988) and Swainson's Hawks (Murphy and Smith, 2007). In years following fires in grassland and shrubsteppe habitats, composition of species of prey may change, with important consequences for Golden Eagles including breeding dynamics (Davis, 2019; Heath and others, 2021). In southwestern Idaho, Davis (2019) investigated whether wildfires, outdoor recreation, and habitat loss affected Golden Eagle occupancy, reproduction, and diet. After large-scale wildfires, Golden Eagles shifted prey use from primarily leporids to a higher proportion of alternative prey including sciurids, snakes, yellow-bellied marmots, and galliforms than in unburned areas. Pedestrian recreational use decreased in territories that had been burned, but the rate of confirmed egg-laying increased; the author suggested that the decrease in pedestrian use had an interactive, positive effect on Golden Eagle reproduction. After extensive wildfires in southwestern Idaho during 1981-86, the mean proportion of unburned shrub habitat within 3 km of centroids of Golden Eagle nesting territories in 2014 was 0.22, compared to 0.73 in 1979, before the wildfire period (Heath and others, 2021).

24 The Effects of Management Practices on Grassland Birds—Golden Eagle (Aquila chrysaetos)

Black-tailed jackrabbits and mountain cottontails had constituted the chief prey of breeding Golden Eagles during the preburn years. During the postburn years, however, Golden Eagle diets shifted dramatically in response to changes in prey populations coinciding with postburn habitat transformation (Heath and others, 2021). Composition of prey in diets of breeding eagles became more diverse, with less use of the shrub-associated leporids and greater use of Piute ground squirrels (Urocitellus mollis), Rock Pigeons (Columba livia), Mallards (Anas platyrhynchos), and American Coots (Fulica americana). Heath and others (2021) noted that Mallards and American Coots seldom occurred in the breeding-season diets of Golden Eagles in the preburn years. During postburn years, Golden Eagle nesting attempts were more likely to fail and nestling survival decreased, on average; nestling survival was positively and negatively associated with the proportion of black-tailed jackrabbits and Rock Pigeons in diets, respectively. Twenty-three eagle nestlings tested positive for plaques indicative of the disease trichomonosis. Rock Pigeons are a vector for Trichomonas gallinae, which is a disease-causing protozoan that is lethal to Golden Eagle young (Heath and others, 2021).

The role of fire in facilitating invasion by nonnative plant species, resulting in decreased prey abundance and thus declines in local to regional populations of Golden Eagles, was reviewed in the "Breeding Habitat" section. In forests, fire may create access to tree nest sites for Golden Eagles and create openings for foraging (Katzner and others, 2020b). Fire also may reverse invasion by native juniper (several species) in parts of the Great Plains and areas to the west where juniper has expanded into grasslands and big sagebrush shrubsteppe during the last circa 150 years (Miller and Rose, 1999). In these regions, junipers can ultimately develop into dense woodlands, which provide limited foraging opportunities for Golden Eagles because suitable prey are limited; the species is neither physically nor behaviorally adapted for hunting in such tall, heavy cover. However, invasive junipers may occasionally provide nest sites for Golden Eagles.

Fire, especially its frequency, is crucial for sustaining habitat of some native wildlife species that may serve as Golden Eagle prey in the Great Plains, particularly in mixedgrass prairies where, before settlement of Euro-Americans in the early 1900s, fires occurred roughly every 5-10 years (Bragg, 1995). Along with periodic, intensive grazing by bison, recurrent fire maintained short, herbaceous vegetation that helped support extensive colonies of black-tailed prairie dogs south and west of the Missouri River, and Richardson's ground squirrels (Urocitellus richardsonii) north and east of the Missouri River (Murphy, 1993). Both rodent species constitute primary prey of Golden Eagles in the Great Plains (reviewed in "Prey Habitat" section). Without recurrent fire, northern prairies can revert to brush-dominated communities, causing prairie dog and ground squirrel abundances to decline, as well as populations of other species of upland wildlife that Golden Eagles prey on, such as Sharp-tailed Grouse (Tympanuchus phasianellus) (Murphy and Smith, 2019) and

white-tailed jackrabbits (Simes and others, 2015). Recurrent fires can be important to Golden Eagles in grasslands elsewhere in the western United States. For example, in grass/ shrubland foothills of San Diego County, Calif., Golden Eagle nesting territories were less common in areas where no fires occurred during 1920–80 than in areas that experienced fire in one to three decades during the same period (Brown, 1985).

Grazing

Grazing by livestock is one of the most widespread land uses of the Great Plains (Sutton, 1984). In the region's grasslands and shrubsteppe to the west, livestock grazing may affect Golden Eagles by altering the structure and composition of vegetation (Milchunas and others, 1989; Samson and Knopf, 1996; Holechek and others, 2006) in ways that influence abundance and availability of sciurids and leporids, which are the focal prey groups of this subsection. For example, in California, Hunt and others (1995) suggested that Golden Eagles used grazed grasslands for foraging because their primary prey (ground squirrels) in that region favored grazed areas that had reduced grass height.

The geographic focus of this subsection is native grasslands of the shortgrass and mixed-grass ecosystems as delineated in Samson and Knopf (1996), where perennial grasses are dominant plant species. The native shortgrass-shrubsteppe, especially in Montana and Wyoming, also is considered here. This subsection does not consider the substantial total area of the Great Plains that had been cultivated for many years and later planted with various mixtures of nonnative and native perennial grasses and tall forbs, such as alfalfa (Medicago sativa) and yellow sweetclover (Melilotus officinalis), under the Conservation Reserve Program, and then grazed by livestock after enrollment in the program ended (Morefield and others, 2016). However, such areas can be important for potential Golden Eagle prey, such as ducks and upland gamebirds, even when grazed by cattle (Geaumont and others, 2017; Rischette and others, 2021).

There are key differences between the shortgrass prairie plant communities and the more mesic, mixed-grass prairie plant communities; these differences influence the effects of livestock grazing on vegetation structure and composition. Mainly, shortgrass communities, typically dominated by blue grama (Bouteloua gracilis) and often buffalograss (Bouteloua dactyloides), are somewhat resilient to all but the most intensive, long-term livestock grazing (Milchunas and others, 1989) because they are characterized by a short, simple, aboveground structure. Moreover, diets of cattle are roughly similar to those of the American bison with which shortgrass plant communities evolved (Plumb and Dodd, 1994; Milchunas and others, 1998). Mixed-grass communities are characterized by greater plant diversity and biomass and evolved with fire as a far more important evolutionary influence, together with grazing by bison (Bragg and Steuter, 1996). Long-term, season-long grazing of mixed-grass prairie tends to ultimately

shift dominant plant species composition toward the more grazing-adapted shortgrass prairie species (Smart and others, 2007), and cattle grazing becomes more concentrated in low, mesic sites (Plumb and Dodd, 1994). Regardless, the quality and quantity of native prairies of the mixed-grass ecosystem have diminished substantially mainly through conversion to agriculture, invasion by nonnative plant species, and expansion of woody vegetation (Bragg and Steuter, 1996; Samson and others, 2004), even on lands set aside for conservation purposes (Grant and others, 2020). Historically (that is, before settlement by Euro-Americans), average fire-return intervals are thought to have been roughly 20-25 years for shortgrass systems (Zouhar, 2021) and 5-10 years for mixed-grass systems (Bragg, 1995). Basic understanding of grazing as an evolutionary driver of the composition, structure, and resilience of shortgrass and mixed-grass prairies and the interaction between fire and grazing, especially on mixed-grass prairies, is key to sustaining these systems as rangelands that provide many ecosystem services (Samson and others, 2004), which include Golden Eagle habitat and functional predatorprey relationships.

In general, overgrazing by cattle and other livestock likely has contributed to declines of white-tailed and blacktailed jackrabbits (Hansen and others, 2017a). Jackrabbit habitat in western regions that are too dry to be cultivated has especially deteriorated from excessive livestock grazing that typically leads to a loss of grasses and increases in shrub cover (Brown and others, 2020). Such changes in grasslands may favor black-tailed jackrabbits up to certain thresholds. In the Great Plains, the extent of increases in shrub cover associated with long-term grazing by cattle may depend on the species of shrub and potential abiotic influences, especially lack of fire. For example, long-term, heavy grazing by livestock was thought to be the chief cause of increased mesquite (Prosopis spp.) cover across semiarid grasslands of the far southern Great Plains and areas to the west; grazing reduced the aboveground biomass of graminoids, which comprised the fine fuels that carried fires (Van Auken, 2000). Juniper cover in shrubsteppe west of the Great Plains increased in response to decreased fire frequency stemming from fine fuels reduction because of long-term livestock grazing, a change that initially favored black-tailed jackrabbits (Gruell, 1996, 1999). As reviewed under the "Prey Habitat" section, black-tailed jackrabbits tend to be common in open grasslands with scattered shrub or dense tufts of tall, herbaceous vegetation (Hansen and others, 2017a). In shortgrass prairie of northeastern Colorado, black-tailed jackrabbits were most abundant in areas that received light or moderate grazing pressure by cattle during summer compared to areas that were heavily grazed during summer or moderately grazed during winter (Flinders and Hansen, 1975). Within grazing units, black-tailed jackrabbits selected lowland areas where vegetation cover was heaviest. However, in another area of Colorado, densities of black-tailed jackrabbits were greater on heavily grazed areas than areas with taller vegetation (Sanderson, 1959).

Compared to black-tailed jackrabbits, white-tailed jackrabbits tend to prefer areas with more herbaceous vegetation (Simes and others, 2015). In southeastern Colorado, whitetailed jackrabbits exhibited no clear relationship to varying levels of grazing intensity, although they preferred open areas over shrub-dominated areas (Flinders and Hansen, 1975).

Little has been published on responses of cottontail rabbits to cattle grazing in the western Great Plains. In shortgrass prairie of southeastern Colorado, desert cottontail rabbits were most abundant in areas with moderate levels of cattle grazing pressure during summer and areas with moderate grazing pressure during winter, compared to areas that were heavily and lightly grazed during summer (Flinders and Hansen, 1975). Within grazing units, the rabbits typically were observed in edges of vegetation types, areas with fourwing saltbush (*Atriplex canescens*) or rabbitbrush, or areas with rock outcrops or gullies. Browsing of fourwing saltbush by cattle appeared to stimulate the shrub's growth and density, thereby increasing cover for cottontail rabbits (Flinders and Hansen, 1975).

In the United States, the black-tailed prairie dog's range closely corresponds to the extent of the mixed-grass and shortgrass prairie regions, and thus the prairie dog often coexists with cattle there, including landscapes used by Golden Eagles. Indirectly, cattle presence has dramatically reduced the availability of black-tailed prairie dogs as prey for Golden Eagles because of efforts by humans to eliminate the prairie dog as a competing herbivore (Hoogland, 2013).

Black-tailed prairie dogs can be attracted to areas characterized by short vegetation structure resulting from heavy, repeated grazing by cattle, as observed in mixed-grass prairies of northeastern Montana (Knowles, 1986). Conversely, prairie dog colonies provided grazing opportunities for American bison (Coppock and others, 1983; Detling, 2006) and may do so for cattle, as noted by Curtin (2006) in western New Mexico and by Augustine and Derner (2021) in northeastern Colorado, especially after periods of high vegetation production. However, neither attraction may be apparent, as was the case in a shortgrass prairie in northeastern Colorado (Guenther and Detling, 2003; Detling, 2006). Knowles (1986) studied relationships between livestock (mainly cattle) and blacktailed prairie dogs on mixed-grass prairie and prairie-shrubland at Charles M. Russell National Wildlife Refuge and Fort Belknap Indian Reservation in northeastern Montana. Prairie dog colonies occurred in areas of intensive grazing by domestic livestock, mainly cattle, and in areas where human activity had created topsoil disturbance, or where there was a combination of these two. Developments for livestock (including wells, small reservoirs, salt licks, and calf feeders) were found at 62 percent of 112 prairie dog colonies on the refuge and 60 percent of 42 colonies on the reservation (Knowles, 1986). Cattle appeared to prefer 65-ha quarter-sections with prairie dogs over quarter-sections without prairie dogs, although presence of water sources on some of the former may have biased this comparison. Prairie dog abundance was greatest on an area with a history of rest-rotation grazing, where intensive grazing began at the beginning of April each year (Knowles, 1986).

In a shortgrass prairie in southwestern South Dakota, there were 235 prairie dog burrows per ha in an area grazed by cattle for 4 years, but a similar, nearby area without cattle grazing had 106 burrows per ha (Uresk and Bjugstad, 1983). The authors speculated that dispersing prairie dogs may recognize and select heavily grazed areas. Plant production on the prairie dog-only area was 24 percent greater than on cattle-only area. On shortgrass prairie managed by rotational cattle grazing in northeastern Colorado, desert cottontails were favored by changes in vegetation composition linked to grazing by black-tailed prairie dogs (Hansen and Gold, 1977). Some evidence suggests that reducing cattle stocking rates or excluding cattle increases the distribution and density of native, cool-season grass species, especially needle grasses (Nassella spp. and Hesperostipa spp.) and wheatgrasses (Pascopyrum spp.), and reduces prairie dog colony size in shortgrass and mixed-grass areas (Sharps and Uresk, 1990).

Climate Change

Climate may affect abundance, productivity, or distribution of Golden Eagles, especially by influencing the availability of prey. Tack and others (2020) used dynamic occupancy models to examine spatial variation in Golden Eagle distributions during late summer in the western United States; the authors reported that adult and subadult Golden Eagles selected productive landscapes (based on an index of gross primary productivity) and avoided drought-stricken landscapes and landscapes with an extensive human footprint. Steenhof and others (1997) reported that weather influenced Golden Eagle reproduction in southwestern Idaho; the percentages of successful laying pairs and mean brood size were positively related to jackrabbit abundance and inversely related to the number of extremely hot spring days. Based on data from Christmas Bird Counts (Bock and Root, 1981), Paprocki and others (2014) reported that Golden Eagle winter distribution in western North America shifted northward 7.74 km per year during 1975-2011. The authors reasoned that in general, some raptor species may exhibit such shifts in response to warming winters because intraspecific competition for nest sites forces males to winter farther north or because migration distances or tendencies to migrate vary among individuals. Under projected greenhouse gas emission scenarios described by the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (2000), Langham and others (2015) categorized the Golden Eagle as a climate-endangered species, indicating that the species would lose >50 percent of its current breeding-season distribution by 2050 without the potential to expand its range into new areas.

Factors limiting Golden Eagle populations in arid parts of the western United States may suggest broader consequences of a warming climate for the species in coming decades. In desert grasslands and chaparral habitats of western Arizona, Golden Eagle nesting chronology was closely linked to precipitation patterns, which affected reproductive periods and abundance of prey (Millsap, 1981). During 4 years of severe

drought and concomitant declining plant productivity in westcentral California, the proportion of Golden Eagle pairs that initiated nests (that is, laid eggs, defined as breeding rate) and productivity (defined as the number of fledglings produced per occupied territory) declined by 93-95 percent (Smith and others, 2020). During the next year, however, breeding rate increased to 63 percent of pairs following normal precipitation during the preceding winter. Productivity increased but to a lesser degree. The increased reproductive success was correlated with measures of primary productivity during the current year and total precipitation during June and July in the previous year (Smith and others, 2020). In the arid, southwestern half of the Four Corners region of Utah, Colorado, Arizona, and New Mexico, juvenile Golden Eagles tended to disperse earlier and farther from natal areas than did juveniles in the more northerly semiarid half of the region, possibly because provisioning by breeding pairs declined due to shrinking prey availability as summer progressed; these early, long-distance dispersers exhibited the lowest survival rate among juveniles studied in the region (Murphy and others, 2017). Murphy and others (2017) predicted that long-distance dispersals of juveniles will increase in proportion because of increased aridity of landscapes associated with climate change. In the western United States between 1997 and 2016, starvation appeared to be the most important cause (natural or anthropogenic) of mortality among juvenile Golden Eagles (Millsap and others, 2022).

In boreal regions, climate change is causing an increase in shrub cover and a northward advancement of the tree line; greater shrub and tree cover could impede hunting by Golden Eagles, leading to decreases in eagle density, occupancy, or productivity (McIntyre and others, 2006; Morneau and others, 2015; Miller and others, 2017; Herzog and others, 2019). Where afforestation is occurring on the breeding and wintering grounds, Golden Eagles and their prey may benefit from forestry management practices and fires that create openings in forests and reduce dense understories, such as in eastern North America (Miller and others, 2017) and boreal habitat in Sweden (Moss and others, 2014). Marcot and others (2015) predicted that Golden Eagle habitat in northwestern Alaska will decline by as much as 20 percent by 2100 due to habitat alteration related to climate change; major increases in shrub and forest cover are among changes predicted. Conversely, some increases in shrub cover at high latitudes could provide more foraging habitat (McIntyre and others, 2006). Moreover, Golden Eagles may have greater access to prey if openings are created in the contiguous, dense tree cover of boreal forests owing to increased frequency and extent of fire and insect outbreaks associated with climate change (Bonan, 2008).

Incidence of some forms of ectoparasitism at Golden Eagle nests may increase with rising temperatures. Parasitism of Golden Eagle nestlings by Mexican chicken bugs (*Haematosiphon inodorus*), a hematophagous member of the Cimicidae family (Hemiptera), was first documented in far southern parts of the eagle's breeding range in the western United States (southern California and northeastern New Mexico) during the 1950s–70s (Lee, 1954, Platt, 1975). In 1984, Grubb and others (1986) documented the parasite in a Bald Eagle nest in Arizona. Observations by McFadzen and others (1996) of Mexican chicken bugs at raptor nests in southwestern Idaho during the early 1990s represented a significant northerly range shift, which coincided with a period characterized by warm winters (Heath and others, 2012). Two decades later, the parasite had become common at Golden Eagle nests in southwestern Idaho, especially those with southerly exposures or at nests of pairs that bred late in the season, suggesting a link between parasitism incidence and higher temperatures (Dudek, 2017). In a recent study in the southern Great Plains, Mexican chicken bugs caused significant mortality among juvenile Golden Eagles just before and during fledging (Murphy and others, 2023). Low survival of Golden Eagles during preadult years was attributed mainly to this parasitism and powerline electrocution; the estimated probability of death due to each factor was 0.346 (Murphy and others, 2023).

The increasing frequency, size, and intensity of wildfires attributed generally to climate change in the western United States (Marlon and others, 2009; Abatzoglou and Williams, 2016) may have negative consequences for Golden Eagles. For example, increased fire frequency and severity has contributed to a loss of Golden Eagle nesting territories in eastern Washington (Watson and others, 2020). The most extensive case history of effects of wildfires on Golden Eagle habitat and prey resources is that for shrubsteppe landscapes of the northern Great Basin, especially southwestern Idaho, which was reviewed under the "Breeding Habitat" and "Prey Habitat" sections. In general, the potential for such landscapes to support Golden Eagle breeding populations has been diminished by fire-induced conversion of sagebrush-dominated communities to cheatgrass monotypes that provide relatively little prey.

As a highly mobile species, Golden Eagles may counteract the effects of high temperatures by moving. Golden Eagles in the Mojave Desert avoided high summer temperatures by moving to cooler, higher elevation montane grasslands, scrublands, and forests (Braham and others, 2015). In the Four Corners region of Utah, Colorado, Arizona, and New Mexico, most subadult and some nonbreeding adult Golden Eagles either spend summers in more northerly States, especially Wyoming, or intermittently use high elevation areas (R. Murphy, personal obs., and D. Stahlecker, Eagle Environmental, Inc., Santa Fe, N. Mex., written commun., June 23, 2014). Increasing temperatures also appear to be altering Golden Eagle migration phenology; individuals from boreal regions of North America are delaying the start of spring migration by about 10 days and advancing fall migration by about 20 days (Maynard and others, 2022).

Management Recommendations from the Literature

Millsap and others (2022) suggested that management to successfully conserve Golden Eagles in the Great Plains

and across the western United States must focus primarily on mitigating anthropogenic mortality. Mitigating anthropogenic mortality might not be necessary for a given subregion or locale for which survival and cause-of-death data indicate that the annual rate of population growth exceeds that of a stable population, in locations where significant increases in anthropogenic mortality are not imminent, or where other potential limiting factors are unlikely to hinder population growth; south-central Montana might be a current example (Crandall and others, 2019). However, such populations can serve as a critical source of individuals that disperse and recruit to depleted populations, and efforts to protect these populations are warranted (Millsap and others, 2015).

The main sources of anthropogenic mortality (for example, shooting, collision, electrocution, poisoning) constitute illegal take of Golden Eagles, where take is defined as "pursue, shoot at, poison, wound, kill, capture, trap, collect, molest, or disturb" individual eagles, their parts, nests, or eggs (50 CFR § 22.26 and 22.27). Take of Golden Eagles and Bald Eagles is prohibited under the BGEPA (16 U.S.C. § 668-668d). The Migratory Bird Treaty Act (16 U.S.C. § 668a) and State and Tribal laws may provide additional protections. However, the FWS (2009) can issue permits authorizing incidental take that occurs during otherwise lawful activities that cannot practicably be avoided; incidental take also has been referred to as nonpurposeful take. Any take authorized by a permit from the FWS must be compatible with the eagle preservation standard, with preservation meaning "consistent with the goals of maintaining stable or increasing populations in all eagle management units and the persistence of local populations throughout the geographic range of each species" (FWS, 2016b, p. 91497). Using a risk-averse approach, the FWS limits annual permitted take to a level below the estimated, sustainable take limit; additional take must be mitigated because models suggest such take could prompt a population decline (FWS, 2016b; Millsap and others, 2022). Moreover, if a Golden Eagle is taken under permit, the loss must be offset by saving 1.2 Golden Eagles from mortality elsewhere or by adding 1.2 Golden Eagles to the population (FWS, 2016b); the 1:1.2 offset ratio is a risk-averse alternative to a 1:1 standard. As an example of compensatory mitigation, replacement of components on hazardous electrical distribution poles to minimize eagle mortality risk is considered a quantitatively defensible means of offsetting losses of Golden Eagles (see "Electrocution" subsection under the "Management Recommendations from the Literature" section). Thus, complex management of take of individual Golden Eagles, the species' K-selected life history strategy, and the species' large home ranges and wide-ranging behavior distinguish conservation of Golden Eagles from that of most other species of nongame birds that rely on grasslands and shrubland habitats in the western United States.

Electrocution

Golden Eagle electrocutions are an ongoing conservation concern across the western United States. Mojica and others (2018) reviewed the topic of Golden Eagle electrocutions and provided several recommendations, including retrofitting techniques, such as separating or insulating energized and grounded parts, and redirecting eagles away from energized parts by reducing opportunities for perching (for example, Marshall, 1940). Effective mitigation of electrocutions begins with pinpointing high- and moderate-risk poles in the landscape. Identifying high- and moderate-risk poles can be done at the scale of individual electrical utilities but is more effective at regional scales (Mojica and others, 2018). Dwyer and others (2016) developed a regional model of power-pole density throughout Colorado and Wyoming. Distribution poles were densest in areas with greater road lengths, high numbers of oil and gas wells, and flat terrain, and in areas developed for agriculture or human residences. Dwyer and others (2016) suggested that areas where high pole densities overlap with Golden Eagle habitat could be prioritized to mitigate electrocution risk.

Distribution poles that either have recorded incidences of electrocution or that otherwise pose electrocution risk because of various combinations of exposed electrical contact points can be retrofitted or modified in ways that minimize risks (APLIC, 2006). APLIC (2006) recommended that new poles should be designed to avoid electrocutions. Risk of electrocution at a pole can be minimized by isolating energized components far from each other and from grounding sources, or by insulating energized components. To protect birds as large as eagles, APLIC (2006) recommends 150 and 100 cm as minimum horizontal and vertical distances, respectively, between contacts. As a last resort, perches can be used to try to redirect eagles away from risky equipment, but effectiveness of this measure has been mixed (Dwyer and Doloughan, 2014).

Models that predict power-pole density have been developed to aid in the mitigation of electrocutions across most of the Golden Eagle's range in the western United States (Dwyer and others, 2016, 2020a; Bedrosian and others, 2020), although model accuracy can be inconsistent among regions (Dwyer and others, 2020a). As a next step, power-pole density models have been compared to spatial models of Golden Eagle distribution, such as nest-site density models. Bedrosian and others (2020) classified their modeled predictions of Golden Eagle nest-site density and those of power-pole density across most of the United States portion of the northern Great Plains, then examined spatial overlap of these model results. Areas posing greatest risk covered 1.1 percent of the region, whereas low-risk areas covered 53.6 percent. Based on these results, the authors estimated that (1) retrofitting poles in the areas of highest predicted risk would avert electrocutions greater than three times than if the same retrofitting effort had been expended in randomly selected areas, and (2) electrocutions would be reduced 89 times greater than if the retrofitting was done in low-risk areas. The authors recommended that areas

identified as high and very high risk be targeted as conservation action priorities, with strong likelihood of benefits to Golden Eagles. Mojica and others (2022) provided detailed guidance on optimal selection of individual power poles for retrofitting, with the goal of maximizing credits for compensatory mitigation of Golden Eagle mortalities. Compensatory mitigation is a conservation mechanism used by the FWS whereby authorized incidental take (that is, a population debit) is offset by a conservation benefit that increases a species' survival, productivity, or fitness (that is, a population credit). Mojica and others (2022) estimated that retrofitting a high-risk pole yields 5.3 times more conservation benefit for Golden Eagles than retrofitting a low-risk pole.

Electrical utility companies are legally responsible for fatalities of Golden Eagles at their respective powerlines, with potential for fines under the BGEPA. However, the FWS urges utilities to avoid prosecution by developing Avian Protection Plans, in cooperation with the FWS, to outline utilities' commitment to minimizing powerline electrocutions (APLIC and FWS, 2005). The plans are binding but can be modified and improved upon in consultation with the FWS.

Collisions

Collisions incurred by Golden Eagles from vehicles may be less difficult to resolve than those associated with wind turbines (discussed later in this section). To mitigate the incidence of Golden Eagles being struck by vehicles while at or near carcasses along roads, county and State highway departments, highway patrol officers, public and private conservation entities, and concerned citizens may collaborate to identify areas with historically high occurrences of carcasses (that is, hotspots) (Lonsdorf and others, 2018). Carcasses associated with vehicle collisions often are spatially and temporally aggregated (Santos and others, 2017). Slater and others (2022) identified wildlife-vehicle collision hotspots by compiling data from encounters of banded Golden Eagles, winter eagle locations, wildlife-vehicle collision records, and big-game winter ranges. Efficiency of carcass-searching strategies in terms of economics (costs versus benefits) may be improved by modeling, as demonstrated by Santos and others (2018). The subset of such areas that overlaps high-quality eagle habitat can then form the basis for planning a carcass-removal program to curtail eagle-vehicle collisions. For example, based on types of carcasses scavenged by Bald Eagles and other scavenger species (ravens and coyotes) along northern Arizona highways during winter (Grubb and others, 2018), management of carcass consumption and removal may be focused on carcasses of animals ranging in mass from roughly 15 kg (such as a mid-size pronghorn [Antilocapra americana]) to 300 kg (male elk [Cervus elaphus]), because these moderate- to large-sized carcasses persist for long periods (3-23 days). The chance that an eagle at a roadside carcass will be struck by a vehicle increases with carcass persistence, although many other factors influence this probability (Grubb and others, 2018;
Lonsdorf and others, 2018), and vulnerability of Golden and Bald eagles possibly differ. Elk carcasses monitored by Grubb and others (2018) were consumed by scavengers in 11.9 days (range=3-41), on average, versus 3.0 (range=3-12) and 5.5 (range=2-4) days for carcasses of American pronghorn and mule deer (Odocoileus hemionus), respectively. Elk carcasses were consumed faster when partially cut open and made more accessible; if fully skinned, they were rapidly consumed by a broad host of scavengers. Grubb and others (2018) recommended that carcasses be removed entirely from road rightsof-way and ideally moved to open areas with little human activity, both to minimize the risk of eagle-vehicle collisions and to hasten consumption (and thus availability) of carcasses by scavengers. Complete removal of carcasses, however, may be impractical in many cases. Based on documented responses of Golden Eagles to traffic when at carcasses, Slater and others (2022) recommended moving carcasses at least 12 m from roads, acknowledging that right-of-way fencing, property boundaries, and other factors may limit the distance carcasses can be moved. Regardless, carrion is important to Golden Eagles during winter, when little prey may be available, and Slater and others (2022) recommended that carcasses should be relocated by whatever means rather than disposing or completely removing them.

The total number of vehicle-animal collisions (and potential for Golden Eagle-vehicle collisions) associated with some long (for example, 1-10 km) roadway segments can be reduced by installing tall fences along edges of rights-of-way, on both sides of roads (McCollister and van Manen, 2010). Underpasses and overpasses can be constructed to allow terrestrial wildlife to move from one side of a highway to the other (McCollister and van Manen, 2010). Benefits of these measures for wildlife would extend beyond eagles. Other means of reducing the incidence of carcasses on roads include dedicated signage, especially signs with lights that flash between evening and early morning or during seasonal migrations of big game, prompting drivers to reduce vehicle speeds and increase their vigilance (Sullivan and others, 2004). Electronic systems have been developed to detect the approach of large animals to roadway areas and alert drivers well before they reach the areas (Nandutu and others, 2022).

Reducing the incidences of collisions of Golden Eagles with various types of utility lines, wires, cables, and wire fences is challenging because, for this wide-ranging species, locations of such collisions are unpredictable and widespread such that isolated mortalities may not merit mitigation (Harness and others, 2003). Exceptions that could merit mitigation include funnels in topography, such as narrow canyons, valleys, or draws (mainly, risk in local movements), or mountain passes (mainly, risk during migration). In these situations, Harness and others (2003) recommended making utility lines more conspicuous to raptors by marking them with avian flight diverters (for example, Janss and Ferrer, 1998). In open, fenced areas with concentrations of prey, Golden Eagle collisions with barbed-wire fences for livestock could be reduced by adding markers, as has been done successfully for Greater

Sage-Grouse (Stevens and others, 2012; Van Lanen and others, 2017). To prevent injuries and mortalities associated with fence collisions by raptors and other wildlife, van der Leek and others (2020) recommended removal of barbed-wire fencing wherever feasible and performing regular fence maintenance, in addition to fence marking.

Incidences of collisions by Golden Eagles with turbine blades at wind-energy projects can be difficult to stop once projects become operational. Some losses might be offset by decreasing unrelated human-caused mortality among Golden Eagles elsewhere, if the relative effectiveness of such actions can be quantitatively verified (FWS, 2013). However, avoiding or minimizing risk via preconstruction planning is crucial, starting with plans for siting of the entire wind-energy projects and of turbines within projects to avoid areas used by Golden Eagles. The FWS's (2013) Eagle Conservation Plan Guidance details measures for siting, constructing, and operating windenergy projects in ways that are consistent with regulations under the BGEPA, including the preservation standard, which provides the Secretary of the U.S. Department of the Interior with the authority to issue eagle take permits only when the take is compatible with the preservation of each eagle species and is consistent with the goal of stable or increasing breeding populations. Although compliance with the Eagle Conservation Plan Guidance is voluntary, the plan can help wind-project developers minimize incidental take of eagles and provide site-specific recommendations that support applications for eagle incidental take permits (FWS, 2013). Permits for incidental take of eagles are not required for wind projects; mitigation can be implemented if unpermitted take occurs but then a permit for take is required and is likely accompanied by a penalty that leads to additional mitigation.

As part of preconstruction surveys to assess potential risk presented by a proposed wind project, the FWS recommends surveying for nests of Golden and Bald eagles within at least 3.2 km of the proposed project's footprint, which is defined as a minimum convex polygon that encompasses the entire project area (FWS, 2013). This 3.2-km recommendation was issued in 2020 (FWS, 2020) and supersedes the recommendation of 16.1 km in FWS (2013). Second, at least 2 years of surveys of eagle activity time on a proposed project footprint are recommended to support an estimate of eagle exposure to the total rotor-swept area (that is, total square meters covered by spinning blades) of proposed turbines; fixed-radius (800 m) point-count surveys (Ralph and others, 1993) are the recommended survey method. Third, focused surveys are recommended to identify possible eagle concentration areas such as roost sites or to account for migration activity. Fatality rate can be estimated using Bayesian models to predict fatality based on exposure (in terms of eagle minutes from point-count surveys) and collision probability based on published studies (New and others, 2015, 2020). A higher fatality rate estimate might be lowered by not siting turbines in areas of projects that contribute high levels of exposure to the estimate. In the end, the level of risk of a proposed project is categorized by the FWS (2013). Projects categorized as high

risk have low potential to avoid or mitigate negative effects on eagles based on high estimates of fatality, especially if the losses cause estimated sustainable take from the local-area population to be exceeded, or if there is an important eagleuse area or migration concentration site within the proposed project footprint (FWS, 2013). A local-area population is that consisting of Golden Eagles within 175 km of a given site of interest; 175 km is the 90th quantile value in the distribution of published natal dispersal distances (Millsap and others, 2014; FWS, 2016a). Take is managed at this scale to avoid small-scale declines that could be triggered when the population-rescue effect provided by incoming dispersers is significantly diminished by excessive mortality (FWS, 2016a). Improved estimates of fatalities enable a better assessment of an individual facility's risk and can potentially reduce the need for mitigation while still protecting Golden Eagles (New and others, 2020).

The FWS (2013) recommended development of an Eagle Conservation Plan to accompany applications for eagle take permits. These plans outline measures to avoid and minimize risk via options for siting and operating turbines, thus complying with regulatory requirements anticipated in permits. Compensatory mitigation actions to offset eagle mortality caused by collisions with wind-turbine blades have been difficult to recommend, mainly because of challenges in quantifying the effectiveness of such actions (Allison and others, 2017; Mojica and others, 2018). To date, retrofitting of power poles to save Golden Eagles from electrocution has been the only satisfactory approach in the western United States. Examples of potential alternate approaches to offsetting blade-strike losses of Golden Eagles at wind-energy projects include removal of animal carcasses from roads to reduce eagle-vehicle collisions (Tetra Tech, Inc., 2012; Lonsdorf and others, 2018); reducing risk of lead toxicosis by use of nontoxic alternatives to lead ammunition for big-game hunting and by removal of gut piles of big game killed by lead ammunition (Cochrane and others, 2015; Allison and others, 2017); and boosting prey populations to increase Golden Eagle productivity and survival (Allison and others, 2017).

Hunt and Watson (2016) reviewed and synthesized factors that tend to place Golden Eagles and other raptor species close to wind turbines, creating potential for raptor mortality. The authors indicated that attention should be given in the placement of wind-energy projects, including considerations related to prey abundance, nest sites, perches, and updrafts. The authors made six recommendations for minimizing the potential for raptor mortality. One recommendation was to design turbines that pose less risk. Hunt and Watson (2016) do not elaborate on this idea, but a simple example of design change is painting one of three blades on a turbine black to minimize "motion smear" to facilitate earlier detection of blades by approaching birds. At a 68-turbine wind-energy project in Norway, this measure reduced overall bird mortality by 71 percent (May and others, 2020); mortality among raptors, including White-tailed Eagles (Haliaeetus albicilla), was particularly reduced. Bladeless wind turbines, which pose

little risk to birds, are an example of a major design shift that may vastly reduce bird mortality risk, but they currently are not as efficient in generating electricity when compared with standard, horizontal-axis turbines (Bardakjian and others, 2017). Fatalities of Golden Eagles and other raptor species at APWRA have been reduced by replacing smaller, older generation turbines with larger, more efficient, more widely spaced turbines that pose lower collision risk per megawatt produced (Smallwood and Karas, 2009; Smallwood, 2017). Given that Golden Eagles never perched on operating wind turbines at APWRA, Smallwood and others (2009b) recommended removing vacant wind towers, repairing broken towers, and synchronizing turbine operations within a row to reduce hazardous use of the rotor zone and bird collisions. The authors also recommended leaving large gaps between groups of turbines to allow birds to travel and forage without having to fly close to wind turbines.

Further recommendations by Hunt and Watson (2016, p. 93) included making habitat less attractive to Golden Eagles and other raptors at established wind-energy projects with high levels of raptor mortality because, as the authors stated, raptors "... are distributed largely in accordance with the distribution of prey (or carrion) and the physical circumstance that contribute to its acquisition (Newton 1979, 1998)." Nest sites, perches, and propensity for orographic or thermal uplift also influence raptor prevalence. The preferred alternative to making habitat unattractive to raptors is to not develop windenergy projects in high-quality raptor habitat (Hunt and Watson, 2016). Hunt and Watson (2016) noted that overlooking the abundance of prey, especially California ground squirrels (Otospermophilus beechevi), was a major error in the decision to develop wind-energy projects at the Altamont Pass in California, leading to blade-strike deaths of dozens of Golden Eagles annually. Using Golden Eagle nest models for Wyoming, Tack and Fedy (2015) predicted that areas of potential wind-energy development were not necessarily correlated spatially with Golden Eagle nesting habitat. Although their model could provide a general framework for assessing potential development, they recommended on-the-ground assessment of potential risk of wind-energy development on Golden Eagles and other wildlife.

Ideally, the operation of specific wind turbines can be stopped immediately when Golden Eagles or other bird species of special concern approach, which is a procedure known as informed curtailment (McClure and others, 2021). This procedure has been executed by positioning human observers in towers or on vantage points in landscapes, each of whom can directly halt operation of selected hazardous turbines or communicate with a facility manager who can do so, as described in de Lucas and others (2012); however, effectiveness of this approach has varied (Allison and others, 2017). For example, the mortality rate of Griffon Vultures (*Gyps fulvus*) in Spain was reduced by 50 percent, while energy production was reduced by 0.07 percent annually (de Lucas and others, 2012). Evidence from studies by McClure and others (2021, 2022) indicated that automated technology may substantially advance informed curtailment to reduce losses of eagles due to turbine collisions at wind-energy projects. At a Wyoming wind-energy project where automated curtailment was used, the annual rate of eagle fatalities declined by 2.85 eagles per year, yet fatalities concurrently increased by 2.26 eagles per year at a nearby project used as a control site where no curtailment measures were used (McClure and others, 2021, 2022). Total fatalities of eagles at the project with automated curtailment were reduced by 85 percent. McClure and others (2021) conveyed that the automated technology should be used only in combination with other onsite mitigation measures and after first foregoing development in what appear to be highrisk areas, but they acknowledged that use of the technology seems justified in situations where preconstruction surveys had underestimated risk to Golden Eagles and high levels of postconstruction mortality occur.

Poisoning—Lead Toxicosis

Among major sources of anthropogenic mortality for Golden Eagles, lead poisoning may be among the least complex in terms of underlying physical and biological mechanisms but may be the most difficult to abate from a sociopolitical perspective (Shields, 2022). Lead poisoning of wildlife in general persists because of public misconceptions, misinformation, and inadequate legislation banning the use of lead ammunition, including on the National Wildlife Refuge system (Shields, 2022); however, it cannot be used for most forms of hunting in California, and bans of lead ammunition for all hunting are being considered in Minnesota (State of Minnesota, 2021) and New York (State of New York, 2021).

As Golden and others (2016, p. 178) succinctly concluded, "Lead can be replaced in ammunition by alternative metals that are currently available and present limited environmental threats. Scientific literature shows spent lead ammunition to be the primary pathway for widespread lead exposure to scavenging birds in the United States." Lessons learned from the transition of traditional lead shot to nontoxic (mainly steel) shot for hunting waterfowl should be valuable in this regard (Friend and others, 2009). A Federal ban on use of lead shot for waterfowl hunting was initiated in 1986 by the FWS (1986) and became nationwide in scope by 1991; a detailed chronology of the transition is presented by Friend and others (2009). Canada similarly established a nationwide ban on the use of lead shot for the hunting of waterfowl and several other species of migratory gamebirds in 1999 (Stevenson and others, 2005). Hunters' concerns about efficacy of steel shot were allayed by early peer-reviewed studies that demonstrated generally comparable effectiveness of lead and steel shot for harvesting waterfowl, despite some differences in ballistics and shot patterning (Friend and others, 2009). For example, Humburg and others (1982) found no differences between lead and steel shot in numbers of ducks bagged and shots missed per 100 shots fired by hunters, or in crippling rates of ducks. Mikula and others (1977) found similar results with the

exception that lead shot was more effective at shooting distances >32 m. The Cooperative Lead Poisoning Control Information Program was formed in 1974 to work with States to facilitate broader use of steel shot and thus diminish involvement by the FWS in the process (Roster, 1983). Programs to educate the public about lead poisoning of waterfowl and the values of nontoxic shot met with mixed success initially, but improvements in steel shot's performance and availability, plus lowered costs, eventually helped further the transition to nontoxic shot (Friend and others, 2009).

Despite extensive efforts by primarily nongovernment conservation organizations, there has been little success in North America to effectively transition to wholesale use of nonlead ammunition for hunting other animals, due mainly to societal factors that slowed the change to nontoxic shot for waterfowl (Friend and others, 2009). In this vein, big-game animals shot by hunters, in particular, are primary potential sources of lead consumed by Golden Eagles. Relevant here are findings by Bedrosian and others (2012), who reported that the incidence of lead poisoning among Bald Eagles during the big-game hunting season in Wyoming decreased as the percentage of successful hunters using nonlead ammunition increased. Copper bullets are a nontoxic alternative with equally effective ballistics for big-game hunting (Knott and others, 2009; Kanstrup and others, 2016). Since 2007, Arizona Game and Fish Department has provided free, nonlead ammunition for big-game hunting within the area of the State that overlaps a core foraging range of the California Condor (Gymnogyps californianus) (Sullivan and others, 2007; Sieg and others, 2009; Arizona Game and Fish Department, 2019), because lead toxicosis incurred through scavenging of leadcontaminated carcasses is the primary factor limiting recovery of this Federally endangered species (Pattee and others, 1990). Hunter compliance in Arizona has exceeded 80 percent annually (Sieg and others, 2009). Meanwhile, big-game hunters who continue to use lead ammunition have been encouraged to reduce potential lead exposure by removing gut piles (that is, internal organs plus other parts of animals typically not retained by hunters) of harvested animals from the field; incentives for doing so have included raffle tickets for sporting goods. In the program's initial year (2007), 62 percent of successful hunters in Arizona used nonlead ammunition, and 21 percent used lead ammunition but removed gut piles; thus, hunters delivered an 83-percent reduction in lead exposure (Sieg and others, 2009). These efforts to reduce exposure to lead continue and likely benefit coexisting Golden Eagles as they commonly reside in, disperse or migrate through, and overwinter in the State (Murphy and others, 2017; Glinski, 2021). The Utah Division of Wildlife Resources (2021) established a similar program in 2011. Cochrane and others (2015) developed a model to predict effectiveness of voluntary use of nonlead rifle ammunition and gut-pile removal in reducing incidence of lead toxicosis among Golden Eagles in Wyoming. The authors estimated that without these mitigating measures, 3.2 percent of the State population of Golden Eagles would die annually from ingesting lead during a 1-month big-game hunting season, although their estimate bore much uncertainty.

Recommendations for reducing or eliminating lead ammunition for hunting have been reiterated many times in the published literature. Authors of a recent paper on prevalence of lead detected among Golden Eagles migrating in Montana repeated a simple but key theme: Government wildlife agencies, nongovernment conservation organizations, and hunting groups should conduct outreach programs to encourage hunters to voluntarily substitute nontoxic forms of ammunition for lead ammunition (Domenech and others, 2021). Friend and others (2009) presented a three-legged stool approach, requiring equal investment in biological, socioeconomic, and legislative actions for addressing lead poisoning of wildlife, and laid out the most essential considerations for developing biological justifications for abating lead. Cromie and others (2019) outlined a comprehensive route for transitioning from traditional lead ammunition to nontoxic alternatives. Their plan included the following steps: (1) creating urgency, (2) building coalitions, (3) creating a vision for change, (4) communicating that vision, (5) removing barriers to enable action, (6) creating short-term or geospatial wins, (7) building on the change, and (8) embedding change in culture and regulation. Sustainability of hunting was listed as a value that most stakeholders identified with, and potential for negative human health impacts stemming from exposure to lead ammunition was integral in generating broad engagement. Barriers enabling action proved to be the most challenging step. These generally included disbelief by hunters that a problem exists and their dislike of alternatives; lobbying by a formidable industry (stemming in part from concern over economic implications); lack of or inadequate policy action; and stumbling blocks in trying to change behaviors (Cromie and others, 2019). Clearly, Golden Eagles would benefit from the development of far-reaching public engagement in resolving this issue for a broad scope of concerns. A compendium of papers focused on risks of lead ammunition to human and environmental health in Europe (Delahay and Spray, 2015) lends strong support for such an approach.

Poisoning—Rodenticides and Other

The extent of exposure of Golden Eagles and other raptors to rodenticides is tied mostly to the behavior of users of rodenticide baits, with problems stemming mainly from inappropriate placement and subsequent mismanagement (for example, not removing and burying poisoned rodents daily). Tosh and others (2011) found that farmers using ARs in the United Kingdom poorly adhered to label restrictions even though they had received best-practices guidelines and generally had some awareness of potential for poisoning of nontarget wildlife. The farmers seldom checked or covered bait stations and rarely searched for and removed carcasses of poisoned rodents. Tosh and others (2011) concluded that this behavior occurred mostly because farmers lacked time, and the authors recommended stronger efforts to improve awareness but particularly to demonstrate how best practices can be applied more efficiently, yielding increased financial benefits for farmers. In the Great Plains of southern Saskatchewan, Proulx (2011) recommended use of an integrated pest control program to control Richardson's ground squirrels in ways that reduce risk of secondary poisoning of wildlife, rather than continuing widespread use of strychnine and the AR chlorophacinone. Such a program would involve farmers, conservation groups, Government agencies, and professional wildlife managers in developing and implementing monitoring and preventive measures, and integrating mechanical, physiological, biological, and chemical control methods. On Thunder Basin National Grassland in Wyoming, a detailed comprehensive plan for the conservation and management of black-tailed prairie dogs included use of certified ARs but in only very limited situations after other options, such as translocation, are exhausted as described in a decision tree (U.S. Forest Service, 2015). To protect migratory birds and the U.S. Forest Service's sensitive species that are associated with prairie dog colonies, lethal control may be restricted by including timing limits, partial control of a prairie dog colony, reduction in prairie dog density rather than complete removal, and combined use of nonlethal and lethal tools. Expansion of colonies onto adjoining privately owned lands or within 1.6 km of residences are examples where lethal control may be used after all other options have been exhausted (U.S. Forest Service, 2015).

Stone and others (1999) warned against using physiologically persistent ARs, especially brodifacoum, if exposures to wildlife are likely to occur. Instead, warfarin or other nonpersistent ARs should be used unless resistance to these is evident in involved locations (Stone and others, 1999). To reduce primary exposure of wildlife to ARs, van den Brink and others (2018) recommended (in addition to protecting baits) using pulsed baiting (that is, placement of AR bait in an infested area and allowing bait to be consumed and rodents to die before rebaiting [pulse]) instead of perpetual baiting; not initiating baiting until a rodent infestation begins; limiting use by nonprofessionals; and not using ARs in areas where potential nontarget wildlife is abundant. However, the authors pointed out that reduced primary exposure does not necessarily lead to reduced secondary exposure. For the latter, integrated pest management is recommended, founded on nonchemical control, strategic habitat management, and use of lure crops and supplemental feeding in farmlands. van den Brink and others (2018) noted that integrated pest management approaches can be difficult to develop because of misconceptions regarding its efficacy (for example, that it is too expensive, time-demanding, and generally ineffective). The authors recommended that integrated pest management should be incentivized by communicating risks posed by ARs to wildlife and the likelihood that pest rodents will develop resistance to ARs. Lastly, van den Brink and others (2018) recommended improving knowledge of the effects of sublethal secondary poisoning, such as influences on survival and productivity; without improved

knowledge, regulatory and mitigation actions to control use of ARs are difficult to defend.

Golden Eagles can be killed via secondary poisoning from sodium pentobarbital, consumed while scavenging on domestic livestock that had been euthanized with the drug (Wells and others, 2020). Burial has been a recommended means of disposing of carcasses, but such carcasses are sometimes unearthed by various animals and subsequently poison scavengers, including Golden and Bald eagles (Russell and Franson, 2014). In a review of secondary pentobarbital poisoning, Wells and others (2020) summarized the state of knowledge on carcass disposal methods and conveyed that the FWS (reference not provided) recommended burial depth of at least 1–2 m. The authors also stated that incineration (not simply burning) may be a better way of disposing carcasses of animals euthanized via sodium pentobarbital. Regardless, immediate disposal of contaminated carcasses is recommended, and improper disposal may result in wildlife mortality events (Wells and others, 2020).

Shooting

Shooting is a pervasive source of Golden Eagle mortality in the western United States despite legal protections developed under State statutes and the Federal BGEPA (Katzner and others, 2020b; Millsap and others, 2022). Causes and motives behind the shootings are myriad, such that a multifaceted strategy is merited (Madden and others, 2019). First, conservation agencies and organizations could expand efforts to educate the public on the biology, societal value, and cultural and ecological importance of Golden Eagles (Parry-Jones and others, 2007). Another step is to increase numbers of law enforcement personnel or reprioritize tasks of extant personnel (Morse, 1973) to enhance vigilance and investigate shootings of Golden Eagles and other protected bird species. This step also could include use of eagle decoys and advanced, technological surveillance methodologies such as drones, which have been used as an antipoaching tactic for protecting other wildlife (Mulero-Pázmány and others, 2014). Lastly, agencies and organizations can take some practical steps to improve the effectiveness of programs to reward persons who provide information that assists law enforcement and help elevate prosecution rates (under the BGEPA, rewards of up to \$2,500 can be paid to persons who provide information leading to convictions of violators [26 U.S.C § 668a]). Although other possible considerations, such as increased prosecutorial discretion and prosecution rates and increased fines and lengths of incarceration for prosecutions, are beyond the scope of this document, Millsap and others (2022) suggested that biologists, law enforcement agents, and prosecutors consider that the biological effects of shooting Golden Eagles in the western United States cost between \$10,275,200 and \$25,688,000 annually, based on their estimate of annual mortality attributed to shooting and the current cost of offsetting the loss of a Golden Eagle via powerline retrofitting (\$15,200-\$38,000).

Thus, societal costs of Golden Eagle shootings may be far greater than fines imposed.

On extensive conservation lands in southwestern Idaho, patterns of the illegal shooting of nongame wildlife documented by Katzner and others (2020a) may help wildlife law enforcement officers improve existing surveillance strategies to apprehend violators. The authors did not provide direct recommendations, but their observations can inform actions, especially law enforcement strategies, for conserving Golden Eagles in open landscapes. First, shootings of raptors (species not specified) were closely associated with powerlines and transmission lines near roads; it seemed that such shootings occurred opportunistically when the targets appeared conspicuously in the viewshed, while perching on poles and towers that supported lines (Katzner and others, 2020a). These opportunistic shooters seemed to be different people than recreational shooters, at least in part because the latter went to specific areas to shoot. Greatest levels of shooting occurred close to urban areas where high road densities overlapped high densities of distribution lines and ground squirrels (prey). Thus, distribution lines in these areas posed both risk of electrocution and shooting mortality (Katzner and others, 2020a).

Native Americans can obtain eagles and their parts in two ways (Smith, 2016). First, Native Americans can obtain eagles or their parts from the National Eagle Repository in Colorado. The supply of eagles and their parts at the repository is limited, and the repository does not fulfill the demand of many Tribes whose religious ceremonies require a pure eagle (that is, an eagle that has been taken with care and did not die through poison, disease, electrocution, or vehicle collision) (Smith, 2016). Requests for eagles or their parts may take several years to fulfill. Second, the FWS may issue a permit authorizing a Native American of a Federally recognized Tribe to take a Golden Eagle or a Bald Eagle for religious purposes. The application for this permit requires an individual to specify the species to be taken, the location of the take, the Tribe name, and the religious ceremony for which the eagle is to be used. The FWS has never issued a permit for take of a Golden Eagle to a Native American Tribe in the Rocky Mountain and Great Plains regions, but the agency has issued annual or periodic take permits for tribes of the Southwest (for example, the Hopi, Navajo, and Taos Pueblo Tribes; Smith, 2016). To lessen the possibility that eagles or their parts are acquired illegally by Tribal or non-Tribal members through shooting or other means, greater support may be needed to administer and operate the National Eagle Repository. An alternative, proposed by Kovacs (2013), is to amend the FWS regulations to allow issuance of permits for possession of eagle parts directly to Federally recognized Tribes instead of individual Tribal members and to recognize the importance of indigenous cultural property, community property, and Tribal self-determination in sustaining the eagle resource while satisfying religious and ceremonial needs of Tribes.

Incidental Trapping

Any eagle or other raptor captured in a leghold trap, especially if held in the trap overnight, should be considered seriously injured and submitted for veterinary examination and care (Durham, 1981; Martel and others, 1991). Eagles have survived after amputation of digits damaged by leghold traps (Martel and others, 1991), but an eagle with a foot amputation should not be released (Durham, 1981).

Less is known about the incidence of eagle injury and mortality resulting from incidental capture in snares. Vantassel and others (2010) reported advancements in snare design that reduce risks to nontarget animals by including breakaway devices and loop stops, which are changes that may make such snares more publicly acceptable compared to leghold traps. Relaxing snares have a device that allows the snare loop to loosen, releasing constriction pressure, when a captured animal stops pulling. However, it is unclear whether such improvements translate to decreased risk among eagles (Vantassel and others, 2010). Breakaway lock devices are designed to release snares when force is applied, such as when a large domestic dog (*Canis lupus familiaris*) is incidentally captured, but levels of force required are far greater than an eagle could exert; for example, snares used in Montana must release with more than 158.8 kg of pressure (Montana Fish, Wildlife and Parks, 2021)

The presence of exposed bait (sight bait or open bait), including carrion, is the underlying cause of incidental captures of Golden Eagles in traps and snares set for furbearers and predator control (Durham, 1981; Katzner and others, 2020b). The risk of incidental capture of Golden Eagles and other raptors in traps and snares can be minimized by placing exposed baits far away from traps or using lures instead of exposed baits (Durham, 1981). Trapping regulations in Great Plains States typically prohibit placement of exposed baits within specified distances of traps and snares, and some also stipulate a maximum size of bait allowed. Examples of allowable minimum distances in Great Plains States include 7.6 m in North Dakota (North Dakota Game and Fish Department, 2021) and 9.1 m in South Dakota (South Dakota Game, Fish and Parks, 2021). Bait size cannot exceed 57 grams in New Mexico (New Mexico Game and Fish Department, 2022) and 454 grams in Montana (Montana Fish, Wildlife and Parks, 2021).

Energy Development

The extent and rapid expansion of energy development in the Great Plains and shrubsteppe regions pose a complex challenge to the preservation of Golden Eagles and other biota that are already considered sensitive or vulnerable, threatened, and endangered (Copeland and others, 2011; Ott and others, 2021). The cumulative impact of energy development and other adverse landscape changes (for example, invasions by nonnative plant species, conversion of rural areas to residential areas, and climate change) is particularly challenging. Environmental impacts of energy development may be ameliorated through proactive planning that prompts stakeholders to avoid siting conflicts and develop appropriate mitigation actions to sustain biodiversity well before projects are initiated (Copeland and others, 2011; Ott and others, 2021). Kiesecker and others (2009) suggested that the impacts of energy development should, ideally, be offset by resource gains that are at least net neutral (that is, no net loss of resources of concern).

Environmental effects of mining in the United States are regulated by the Surface Mining Control and Reclamation Act (30 U.S.C. 1201 et seq.), which includes provisions that prevent or mitigate impacts of mining on Golden Eagles and other raptor species. To ensure compliance with Federal laws and regulations, before mining development begins, the proposed mining and reclamation operations must include a description of Golden and Bald eagle nests and prey areas within the affected area to minimize adverse impacts. Call (1979) emphasized the importance of educational programs to increase awareness among mine personnel of (1) the presence and basic life histories of eagles and other raptors likely to be encountered; (2) the protections for raptors per Federal and State laws; and (3) permitting considerations. Special concerns may range from potential effects of disturbance caused by extended operations or loud noise near nests during sensitive periods, to possible nest-site damage, injury, or death of raptors incidental to mine operations; spatial and temporal buffers can be used to avoid and minimize these and other negative impacts. Call (1979) specified that mining operations should be buffered by at least 0.8-1.6 km from nests in use by eagles, depending on amount of screening vegetation and terrain. Call (1979) also called attention to (1) the importance and protection of roost sites and foraging sites; (2) the potential for conflicts caused by an influx of new personnel or mine area recreationists not cognizant of raptor protection needs; (3) the need for flexibility in mine rehabilitation policies to permit highwalls or other possible nest-site habitat to be retained after mine operations are completed; and (4) avoiding all but the most essential road construction.

Reclaimed surface-mining lands in the western Great Plains and shrubsteppe, especially landscapes disturbed by strip-mining to extract coal, may provide habitat that could support prey of Golden Eagles even though vegetation on reclaimed areas may differ from predevelopment conditions and support a different prey community. On seven reclaimed coal surface mines in Wyoming, shrub cover averaged 11 percent 6 years after reclamation compared with 33 percent on undisturbed (that is, control) sites; annual forbs were prevalent initially but were replaced by perennial grasses (Parmenter and others, 1985). Vertebrate recolonization was rapid and correlated with shrub growth, but species diversity was lower than on control sites; black-tailed jackrabbits were among species that ultimately resided on reclaimed areas but shrub density apparently was too low for the area to support Uinta ground squirrels (Urocitellus armatus) (Parmenter and MacMahon, 1992). The authors concluded that flora and fauna of reclaimed areas and control areas were not very similar. Krzyszowska Waitkus (2022) provided a detailed case history of the reclamation of the largest surface coal mine in the United States, which is in northeastern Wyoming. Lands reclaimed after mining for coal in Wyoming must, by State law, have a shrub density of 1 shrub per m² on at least 20 percent of the area, resembling native shrubsteppe habitat that had been destroyed. Booth and others (1999) measured densities of shrubs that had been seeded on 14 reclaimed areas in three regions of Wyoming; seedings had been either perennial grasses with big sagebrush and fourwing saltbush or grasses with only fourwing saltbush. Ten to 15 years after seedings, shrub density and composition generally reflected the species seeded. When big sagebrush was part of the seeding mixture, seeding rates between 60 and 1,000 shrub seeds per m² exhibited a positive, linear relationship with shrub density up to 0.6 shrub per m². Booth and others (1999) recommended planting diverse mixes of shrubs at high seeding rates to reclaim shrubsteppe areas mined in Wyoming. Although these and other studies indicate that grass-shrub vegetation can be established on reclaimed surface mines in western landscapes inhabited by Golden Eagles, there apparently is little published information indicating that local abundances of key prey of Golden Eagles are restored.

Golden Eagle nests containing nestlings have been moved successfully from areas actively being mined for coal to more secure sites (Postovit and others, 1982; Fala and others, 1985). After a Golden Eagle nest near coal-mining operations in Wyoming blew down from a tree while containing a nestling, Postovit and others (1982) moved the nest to a platform 2.5 km away by shifting the nest up to 1,375 m from one temporary nest platform to another, with 6–10 days between moves. They used 500 hours of visual and telemetry observations collected before moving the nest to identify a well-used area within the pair's home range to which to move the nest; the young eagle ultimately fledged. Golden Eagle nests also have been relocated from mine highwalls (Fala and others, 1985).

As with other forms of energy development, negative impacts of oil and gas development on wildlife habitat in the Great Plains generally can be minimized by incorporating comprehensive site assessments and conservation provisions into the development planning process to target areas of relatively low ecological value for development (Ott and others, 2021). Higher quality habitat should be distinguished and, ideally, either avoided through development permitting processes or required through permitting to incorporate planning and implementation of comprehensive mitigation (Ott and others, 2021). Plans for minimizing disturbance to eagles should consider potential for impacts from seismic surveys during early exploration. Without careful planning, new roads for gas and oil-well access can quickly become extensive and negatively affect Golden Eagles (Smith and others, 2010); to reduce disturbance and potential for persecution of eagles, roads should be closed to vehicle use by the public when wells are decommissioned (Bedrosian and others, 2019). Reducing

disturbances associated with roads is especially important as access roads to oil and gas wells have increased considerably in association with new advances in hydraulic fracturing and horizontal drilling (Thompson and others, 2015). During initial drilling, a well site can cover several hectares with equipment, supplies, and mud and settling pits around the drill pad, although this site footprint can be much reduced soon after drilling begins (Kroepsch, 2018). Wherever possible, Thompson and others (2015) and Preston and Kim (2016) recommended that multiple wells should be drilled from a common pad via horizontal drilling methods, reducing fragmentation caused by scattered pads and the associated access roads and power lines. Brine disposal and oil waste pits associated with oil and gas development can attract and kill wildlife, possibly including eagles, but open pits are now illegal or require protective coverings in several Great Plains States (Ott and others, 2021). To restore habitat for Golden Eagles after oil and gas extraction has ceased, waste pits should be removed and the sites reclaimed as part of orphaned-well remediation.

Copeland and others (2009) published a spatially explicit predictive map of oil and gas development across the western United States to help support conservation planning for sensitive species of wildlife, using the Greater Sage-Grouse as an example. In the Great Plains, significant development was predicted to occur from parts of north-central Montana to southwestern North Dakota, northeastern Wyoming, northeastern and south-central Colorado, and southeastern New Mexico; Texas was not included, but development in the Permian Basin of southeastern New Mexico likely would extend into the adjoining area of Texas (Copeland and others, 2009). To support an ecoregional conservation strategy for Golden Eagles in the Northwestern Plains Ecoregion, approximating the northern Great Plains, Bedrosian and others (2019) created a more refined, detailed, and updated predictive map of Golden Eagle risk to oil and gas development, using models for both winter and breeding seasons and identifying detailed, area-specific risk potential along a gradient from low to high. Risk was defined as the combination of hazard, exposure, and vulnerability. Across the region, 54,358 wells were active as of 2016; 40.9 percent were in a very-high risk category, and 73.8 percent were in a moderate-to-very-high category of risk for breeding-habitat. Percentages of Golden Eagle winter habitat in the highest-risk and moderate-to-very-high risk categories were 27.9 and 65.1 percent, respectively. Highest risk of development to breeding eagles was in the Powder River Basin of northeastern Wyoming. Great risk also was within and near the Little Missouri Grasslands of North Dakota and Cedar Creek basin of eastern Montana and western North Dakota. Some high development areas such as parts of northcentral to northeastern Montana did not overlap large areas of high-quality breeding habitat for Golden Eagles (Bedrosian and others, 2019). Development risk by land ownership was private lands, 66.1 percent and 68.2 percent for breeding and winter seasons; Tribal lands, 14.0 and 8.7 percent; U.S. Bureau of Land Management, 7.3 and 7.8 percent; State and local governments, 5.3 and 6.9 percent; and U.S. Forest Service, 4.7

and 6.0 percent. Risk on private lands was proportional to land area but was greater than expected on all Government-owned lands except Tribal lands.

In contrast to coal mining, oil and gas development in the Great Plains is likely to increase in extent, and production in currently developed areas may increase via advanced hydraulic fracturing and horizontal drilling methods (Thompson and others, 2015; Kroepsch, 2018; Bedrosian and others, 2019). The best means of avoiding impacts to nesting, wintering, and migrating Golden Eagles may be to try focusing development on habitat of modest quality for eagles; development could be focused more on energy corridors and siting wells in areas previously altered by human activity (Preston and Kim, 2016), although Wallace and others (2019) acknowledged that the presence of Golden Eagle habitat is unlikely to influence broad-scale siting of fossil-fuel development in general. Instead, mitigation of impacts is more likely to succeed if focused on the design and configuration of developments including minimization and strategic placement of powerlines, roads, and oil pits as well as pumping infrastructure. Construction of new infrastructure in energy fields is an opportunity for agencies to require best management practices, like covering oil pits with netting and minimizing the extent of oil pads and roads, although no-surface occupancy buffers are required in many Government agency plans (Wallace and others, 2019).

Wind-energy development is a concern for the conservation of landscapes used by Golden Eagles in the western United States, including in the Great Plains. Although much attention has been given to the direct impacts of wind-energy development on Golden Eagles and other wildlife (see "Collisions" subsection), a greater understanding of indirect impacts (including habitat alteration) is needed to improve avoidance and mitigation measures and create robust impact assessments (Katzner and others, 2013). Displacement of Golden Eagles from landscapes could pose a more significant threat than direct mortality, as Fielding and others (2006) considered in Scotland. For wind energy and other forms of renewable energy, greater investment is needed in refining best management practices to conserve wildlife in general. Katzner and others (2013) recommended testing the assumption that renewable-energy development causes less ecological harm than fossil-fuel use and examining the full suite of scenarios under which this assumption can and cannot be met. Sandhu and others (2022) developed a predictive model for turbinescale simulation of Golden Eagle movements that offers a generalizable, probabilistic, and predictive tool to assist in estimating the potential for conflict between soaring Golden Eagles and wind turbines, thereby reducing the need for sitespecific data on Golden Eagle movements.

Utility-scale, solar photovoltaic projects have been developed across landscapes used by Golden Eagles, mainly in the southwestern United States (Copeland and others, 2011), but the southern Great Plains presents much opportunity for its development (Braham and others, 2015; Sengupta and others, 2018; Smith and others, 2020). Braham and others (2015) suggested that general knowledge of space use by Golden Eagles can serve a reasonable proxy for preconstruction surveys for evaluating potential effects from solar and other forms of renewable-energy development. Particular consideration should be given to patterns of increased ranging behavior that Golden Eagles may exhibit outside of the breeding season and that nonbreeding Golden Eagles may exhibit in general; resource managers should be aware that the eagle's use of habitat can be complex and standard buffers used to protect eagles may be insufficient (Braham and others, 2015). As Braham and others (2015, p. 230) simply stated, "the more space that an individual eagle uses, the more likely it is to encounter renewable energy projects." Management for species such as Golden Eagles that may regularly use solar-energy areas lacking protective conservation measures can be improved by developing and implementing range-wide conservation plans that call attention to jurisdictional boundaries and mitigate for use of space beyond these (Braham and others, 2015). In parts of the Great Plains and nearby shrubsteppe where much solar-energy development is anticipated, some lands that are used for livestock grazing and that also provide habitat for Golden Eagles may one day support utility-scale solar-energy development that accommodates increased biodiversity while remaining compatible with livestock grazing, as Nordberg and others (2021) envisioned for Australia; however, benefits of such changes to Golden Eagles are unclear.

Other Land-Use Changes

Golden Eagles prefer to nest far from human activity, including urban and suburban development (Kochert and others, 1999; McIntyre, 2004). Urbanization impacts the availability and suitability of nest sites and prey habitat (Losee, 2019). Along the western edge of the Rocky Mountains, Berry and others (1998) recommended protecting Golden Eagles and other diurnal raptors from the expansion of urban and suburban development. Cooper and others (2021) indicated a need for multidecadal studies that incorporate historical and contemporary nesting observations to better understand how the Golden Eagle's tolerance of urban development has changed over time. When planning and developing lands beyond the urban fringe, White and others (2018) emphasized the importance of considering ecosystem and societal services that raptors provide.

Eagle-aircraft collisions at airports may be reduced by nonlethal hazing with pyrotechnics, reducing vegetation cover for prey by mowing or herbicides, or installing perch deterrents (Sodhi, 2002; Washburn and others, 2015). Capture and translocation of Golden Eagles from airports may alleviate the risk of collision but perhaps only temporarily. For example, a subadult male Golden Eagle that was captured at Colorado's Denver International Airport was fitted with a satellite transmitter and then released about 200 km north of the airport in Wyoming in September 2014 (B. Massey and B. Allen, U.S. Department of Agriculture, Wildlife Services, Denver, Colo., written commun., August 20, 2022). The eagle returned to the airport in July 2018 and then resided there intermittently despite efforts by the U.S. Department of Agriculture's Wildlife Services to reduce availability of prey in the area. Perch deterrents had been installed by the airport, but the eagle often perched and roosted on communication towers and navigation aids to within 300 m of runways (R. Murphy, personal obs., April 21, 2021). More research is needed to improve strategies for reducing eagle collisions with aircraft (Washburn and others, 2015).

Military training activities can have direct short-term effects and indirect long-term effects on Golden Eagles and other raptors (U.S. Department of the Interior, 1996). The U.S. Department of the Interior (1996) indicated that management recommendations for lands that include military training activities should consider conserving existing native vegetation, reversing increasing dominance of nonnative vegetation, rehabilitating deteriorated areas, and minimizing disturbance to vegetation, prey, and Golden Eagles and other raptors. Grubb and others (2010) reported that heli-skiing and military helicopter operations did not negatively impact nesting Golden Eagles in northern Utah. The authors recommended caution in applying recommendations elsewhere without first considering circumstance-specific characteristics of any situation, including the type, level, and frequency of the anthropogenic activity; the effects of intervening topography and vegetation; potential habituation by Golden Eagles to existing activities; and local density and distribution of Golden Eagles. Grubb and others (2010), however, urged managers to not ignore results that are inconsistent with expectations; ignoring scientifically valid results undermines the integrity of natural resources management and may result in the resource (in this case, Golden Eagles) being more vulnerable to future threats.

Bubonic plague plays a critical role in regulating the presence of prairie dog populations (Barnes, 1993; Bedrosian and others, 2019). To control fleas in prairie dog colonies, Barnes (1993) recommended dusting of burrows with an acceptable and effective pulicide (flea-killing agent). In high-quality Golden Eagle habitat, Bedrosian and others (2019) recommended burrow dusting with the insecticide deltamethrin (a pyrethroid) to kill fleas or providing oral vaccinations against bubonic plague to prairie dogs to help reduce the extent of colony collapses.

Recreational Activity

Recreational activities may directly cause disturbance take (as defined in the BGEPA; Title 50 CFR § 22.6) of Golden Eagles, especially breeding pairs and their young, but such take often can be avoided or minimized by either completely banning access or by implementing spatial or temporal buffer zones around Golden Eagle nests within which activities are restricted, possibly for only certain periods (Suter and Joness, 1981; Steidl and others, 1993; Whitfield and others, 2008; Martin and others, 2011; Spaul and Heath, 2016, 2017). Buffer distance recommendations for Golden Eagles mainly come from expert opinions (Suter and Joness, 1981; Whitfield and others, 2008; Martin and others, 2011); published empirical data for buffer distances specifically for Golden Eagles may be limited to Spaul and Heath (2016, 2017). Given disturbance prohibitions under the BGEPA, experimental or manipulative research is nonexistent, although Grubb and others (2010) were able to test responses of Golden Eagles to helicopters used for heli-skiing as part of a Final Environmental Impact Statement's no-effect Record of Decision on this activity on Federal lands, and Steidl and others (1993) recommended an 800-m nest buffer based on observed responses of Golden Eagle pairs with nestlings to the investigators' campsites 400 or 800 m from nests in Alaska. Moreover, some buffer recommendations may not be specifically for mitigating recreation disturbance but can apply nonetheless, such as buffers for some construction activities (Suter and Joness, 1981). Information from other eagle species also can be helpful in refining recommendations for Golden Eagles; compared to Golden Eagles, recreation disturbance and its mitigation for Bald Eagles has been well-studied (Buehler, 2020).

Ideally, decisions on the size and configurations of spatial buffers to mitigate disturbance of eagles and wildlife in general are based on observations of distances and sometimes heights or angles at which the animals respond to disturbances by exhibiting either alert or alarm behavior (also termed vigilance or flight, respectively) (Knight and Skagen, 1988; Taylor and Knight, 2003; Gill, 2007). In canyons surrounded by shrubsteppe in southwestern Idaho, Spaul and Heath (2017) documented distances at which breeding Golden Eagles flushed from their nests in response to recreationists passing by in motor vehicles. Eagles flushed at greatest distances when recreationists stopped their vehicles and walked. Based on their data, Spaul and Heath (2017) indicated that a 650-m buffer from nest sites could reduce nest-flushing events prompted by these disturbances by 77 percent; 1,000-m buffers could reduce the events by 100 percent. The authors, however, recommended buffer distances from nest sites greater than 650 m to provide more protection for eagles early in the breeding season especially during nest initiation. Notably, use of nostopping zones for vehicles on trails near Golden Eagle nests was recommended as a viable means of controlling disturbance (Spaul and Heath, 2017), based on observations that nest attendance by pairs declined as occurrence of pedestrians in nesting focal areas increased; 66 percent of the pedestrians arrived in trucks or sport utility vehicles and 30 percent arrived via off-road vehicles, whereas only 4 percent arrived on foot. No-stopping zones also were considered an acceptable alternative to complete closures of trails because recreationists may be more likely to comply with the former (Spaul and Heath, 2017).

Spaul and Heath (2016) used data from the same area to predict occupancy of territories, nest initiation, and nest survival defined as the probability of producing at least one nestling. Probability of territory occupancy was reduced by off-road vehicle traffic; probability of nest initiation was reduced by pedestrian activity early in the breeding season;

and nest survival probability decreased with sharp peaks in off-road vehicle use. Nest attendance was reduced by presence of pedestrians, most of whom arrived in motor vehicles. Canyons where eagles nested were esthetic landscape components, prompting recreationists to stop their vehicles and hike, thus reducing suitability of the habitat for eagles (Spaul and Heath, 2016). However, presence of camping areas, shooting areas, and trailheads did not influence occupancy and nest success, probably because these were static features to which eagles were habituated, whereas pedestrian use was irregular and pedestrian behavior was unpredictable (Spaul and Heath, 2016). Overall, the extent of pedestrian traffic was the most important negative influence on nest attendance. Pedestrians arrived near eagle nests in vehicles, indicating that humaneagle contacts are more likely as road and trail networks are increasingly developed to further recreation opportunities.

As of 2012, motor vehicles were excluded from only 4 percent of the 104 million ha entrusted to the U.S. Bureau of Land Management (Steenhof and others, 2014). Steenhof and others (2014) called for development and implementation of plans to better manage off-highway vehicle use throughout the Golden Eagle's range in the western United States. Such management should include seasonal trail closures, buffer zones around nests, and appropriately sited areas designated for staging off-highway vehicle recreation. Land managers also should establish and enforce adherence to refuge zones where off-highway vehicle use is to be prohibited or regulated in specified ways to protect Golden Eagles (Steenhof and others, 2014). More broadly, Spaul and Heath (2016) urged land managers to explicitly incorporate Golden Eagle habitat protection into plans for developing access for recreation in western landscapes that could be occupied by the Golden Eagles, and to regularly revisit and update such plans as human use of recreation areas continues to increase.

Relevant work in Spain by González and others (2006) to establish protective buffers around nests of the congeneric Spanish Imperial Eagle (*Aquila adalberti*) also was based on direct observations of behavioral responses to intrusions by campers, hunters, and ecotourists. A 500-m critical inner buffer zone and an 800-m vulnerable buffer zone were selected because reactions of the eagles increased sharply when the pedestrians were within 450 m of nests but became negligible when pedestrians were more than 800 m away. However, the authors recommended adjusting configurations of zones to protect nest sites that are highly visible (González and others, 2006).

Buffering isolated nests of Golden Eagle can be relatively straightforward, but nesting territories typically have two or more eagle nest structures, including one nest that is being used in a given breeding season and others that are considered alternative nests (Kochert and Steenhof, 2012; Millsap and others, 2015; Slater and others, 2017). For example, 28 Golden Eagle territories in Utah had a mean of 2.9 nests, with a range of one to eight (98 percent of all nests were on cliffs; Slater and others [2017]). On average, alternative nests were 0.5 km apart and each was used every 3.3 years. Conservation plans for breeding Golden Eagles often focus on one nest in a territory, typically one that was recently used or has been most often used, if known, in territories having more than one nest, but Kochert and Steenhof (2012) and Millsap and others (2015) emphasized the importance of protecting alternative Golden Eagle nests as well. Thus, if a spatial nest buffer of 1 km, for example, encompassed each nest in the average territory with multiple nests, the collective buffered areas would encompass a much larger area than needed for a single nest and would be configured far differently especially when considering that some individual nests may be spaced more than 2 km from others. Resource managers could decide to annually buffer all nests within a territory, which would greatly benefit the eagles because nearly all nests tend to be within the core areas of territories that are often used by the breeding pairs (Watson and others, 2014; Millsap and others, 2015). Such an approach also seems appealing because Golden Eagles are long-lived birds that reuse nests over years (Watson and others, 2014). However, resource managers must balance the needs of outdoor recreationists, in part because public support for natural resource conservation, including eagles, is positively influenced by contact with wild places (Martin and others, 2011). This need might be addressed to some extent by using temporal buffers that limit recreational use to the nonbreeding season, and to a greater extent by annually identifying and buffering the used nests in Golden Eagle territories with multiple alternative nests.

Martin and others (2011) used an adaptive management framework to balance restrictions on hiking near breeding Golden Eagles at Denali National Park, Alaska. Using a predictive model based on a combination 20 years of data from eagle nesting territories plus expert opinion, and accounting for model uncertainty, stochasticity, and imperfect detection of snowshoe hares (Lepus americanus), the authors found that Golden Eagle productivity markedly increased when hiking in their breeding territories was restricted. Detection of snowshoe hares was included as hares are the eagle's main prey in that region, especially just before and during incubation (McIntyre and Adams, 1999), and responses of Golden Eagle breeding pairs to recreational disturbance may be accentuated by low prey availability (Martin and others, 2011). Adaptive optimization based on several model alternatives for decision-making was used to manage hiking disturbance.

Based on results from simulation modeling, D'Acunto and others (2018) reported that managers should consider both trail density and the level of human recreation activity before implementing mitigation strategies to reduce exposure of nesting eagles to chronic disturbance by nature-based recreation. The simulation models provided evidence that managing the volume of human recreation, in addition to reducing the density of trails around occupied Golden Eagle nests, is important for reducing disturbance during incubation and increasing the likelihood of successful breeding (D'Acunto and others, 2018).

Most guidance for avoiding disturbance of Golden Eagles focuses on territorial pairs, especially during the breeding season. Preadult-aged eagles and adult-aged individuals that are not attached to territories, including floaters and overwintering adults from northern regions, have received relatively little attention in this arena. Also, as Golden Eagles seldom roost communally (Katzner and others, 2020b), disturbance at roosts is not a major concern for Golden Eagles but is a concern for Bald Eagles (Buehler, 2020). During winter in northern Colorado, Holmes and others (1993) observed that Golden Eagles more readily flushed from pedestrians than vehicles; mean flushing distances were 225 and 82 m, respectively. The authors suggested use of buffers around important foraging areas of overwintering raptors in general.

Various other disturbance buffers have been recommended for Golden Eagles, mostly based on expert opinion of distances at which disturbance occurs. For example, up to 24 experts in Suter and Joness (1981) estimated distances that sensitive Golden Eagles would react 20 percent of the time by flushing from or, in some cases, abandoning their nests in response to each of six categories of human disturbance activities. Experts also considered whether responses occurred during egg-laying, incubation, or brood-rearing periods, or during nest construction for some categories. For example, off-road vehicle traffic, defined as the passing of one noisy vehicle per hour, was believed to cause nest abandonment 20 percent of the time during the egg-laying period when it occurred at a distance of 457 m (median response from 15 experts; range=91-2,414 m). However, Suter and Joness (1981) considered that, during breeding season, an essential activity that involves few people who are present for only a few minutes, no less than 500 m from nests, and only during moderate temperatures might be acceptable; construction and other similarly noisy, extended activities should be kept at least 1 km away. Recommendations from four experts for Golden Eagle nest buffers ranged from 0.2 to 1.6 km line of sight; a 400-m buffer was recommended for prey concentration areas, such as ground squirrel colonies. Suter and Joness (1981) added that these recommendations are not absolute and could be modified based on expert knowledge. They also warned that buffer zones could attract humans who seek to closely examine or photograph nests, remove eggs or nestlings, or conduct on-site protests because buffers may impede some form of development.

Heights of nests on cliffs could influence responses of Golden Eagles to recreational disturbance caused by recreation and other activities. However, Spaul and Heath (2016) found no relationship between nest survival and heights of cliff nests (mean=34.8 m) or nest-to-trail heights between trails and cliff nests (mean=74.4 m). By comparison, territory occupancy rates of Golden Eagles breeding in an oil and gas field of Wyoming increased with height of cliff nests (range=5–30 m; table A.3 *in* Wallace [2014]). Rock-climbing would likely be a marked exception, however, as climbers create both visual and auditory disturbance close to nests (Richardson and Miller, 1997). Rock-climbing is an example of disturbance of cliff-nesting raptors that can be curtailed by temporal buffers covering all or at least the most sensitive part of the nesting season. For example, climbing within 800 m of Peregrine Falcon (*Falco peregrinus*) nests at Devil's Tower, Wyoming, was prohibited during February 1 through July 15 (S. Johnson, personal commun. *in* Richardson and Miller, 1997). Temporal buffers to protect Golden Eagles and other raptors from disturbances during the breeding season should encompass at least the courtship through the early nestling stages, considered by Newton (1979) to be the most sensitive period. Knowledge of regional nesting chronology is important when creating these temporal buffers. In the southern Great Plains, corresponding dates are mid-January through early May, based on the interquartile range of nest-initiation dates estimated by backdating from nestling ages at 17 nesting territories (Murphy and Stahlecker, 2022).

Fire

Prescribed fire often is used to help restore and maintain native prairie communities in the Great Plains, especially on lands set aside for conservation purposes. However, wildfires can cause significant habitat conversion and risk to Golden Eagles and other wildlife (Bedrosian and others, 2019). In the interest of Golden Eagle conservation, Bedrosian and others (2019) recommended evaluating current wildfire risk information and availability of fire-suppression crews and equipment in areas of interest. Fire-response plans by land-management entities should include maps of high-priority breeding habitat for Golden Eagles. Bedrosian and others (2019) examined wildfire risk to Golden Eagles across the Northwestern Plains Ecoregion, which approximates the northern Great Plains, by overlapping their models of Golden Eagle winter and breeding habitat with a probabilistic model of wildfire risk from the U.S. Forest Service (Short and others, 2016). The authors reported that current risk of large fires in the eagle's habitat is relatively low compared to other western ecoregions. Areas of the northern Great Plains where eagle habitats have high probabilities of fire and high fire intensity were identified. Overall, risk was fairly high for the best quality breeding habitat and winter habitat, which constituted 3.0 and 3.1 percent of the northern Great Plains area, respectively; 22.5 percent of breeding and 20.6 percent of summer habitat were in moderate-to-high risk categories (Bedrosian and others, 2019). Season-based fire risk among subregions within the northern Great Plains also was reported. Risk was greatest in regions with wooded hills and wooded riparian corridors and least in regions having greater agricultural land cover. In general, fire risk was proportional to landowner size, with the greatest proportion of risk for lands managed by the FWS, U.S. Bureau of Land Management, and U.S. Forest Service.

Bedrosian and others (2019) pointed to loss of occupied eagle nests and nesting habitat and to direct mortality of nestlings and fledglings as the key negative consequences of wildfires on Golden Eagles in the northern Great Plains. The authors stated that fires in high-quality breeding habitat for Golden Eagles should be actively fought and extinguished.

Clearly, frequent fire in shrubsteppe west of the Great Plains has markedly diminished Golden Eagle habitat values by triggering widespread conversion of native habitat to cheatgrass-dominated landscapes (Pellant and Hall, 1994; Reid and others, 2008; Brooks and others, 2016; Pyke and others, 2016; Hansen and others, 2017a; see "Breeding Habitat" section). Conversely, suppression of frequent fires in native mixed-grass prairies of the Great Plains can contribute to invasion by nonnative perennial grasses, especially Kentucky bluegrass (Poa pratensis) and smooth brome (Bromus inermis), and proliferation of woody vegetation (Grant and others, 2011), and these changes may reduce habitat quality for prey of Golden Eagles, such as Sharp-tailed Grouse and white-tailed jackrabbits (Simes and others, 2015; Murphy and Smith, 2019). Fire may enhance expansion of colonies of black-tailed prairie dogs in shortgrass prairie during drought periods (Augustine and others, 2007) and in mixed-grass prairie when combined with brush control (Milne-Laux and Sweitzer, 2006).

Grazing

Grazing by livestock mainly affects Golden Eagles in the Great Plains and other western grassland and shrubsteppe landscapes by indirectly influencing availability of the eagle's prey. Knowledge of this interaction and management recommendations related to grazing are limited, except that livestock grazing generally is believed to be positive for the Golden Eagle and its primary prey (Bock and others, 1993); however, sustained, intensive livestock grazing generally is believed to have negative consequences to Golden Eagles (Bedrosian and others, 2019). Bock and others (1993) categorized the Golden Eagle as a species positively affected by grazing based on the known association of the species' preferred prey (that is, jackrabbits) with shrubby vegetation. Perhaps the most valuable aspect of livestock grazing to Golden Eagles in the Great Plains is that the practice is central to sustaining a land use that provides valuable habitat for the Golden Eagle and its prey on a major geographic scale; on privately owned lands at least, the grazing tradition may help avert land-use conversions to cropland (Higgins and others, 2002; Bedrosian and others, 2019). Nonetheless, pressure to convert Great Plains grazing lands to cropland persists, prompting some ranchers to concentrate cattle on increasingly limited spaces (Higgins and others, 2002). State and Federal natural resource programs have provided technical and financial resources for ranchers to develop livestock grazing systems that improve and sustain grassland health while increasing ranch income, and set-aside conservation programs (including grassland easements) are available to help perpetuate native prairies that can be used for livestock grazing in the region (Riley, 2004; Savage and others, 2014).

Livestock grazing can alter the structure and composition of grassland vegetation in ways that may influence the species composition, abundance, and availability (or vulnerability) of prey for Golden Eagles (Bedrosian and others, 2019); fire may still be an interacting abiotic factor in some contemporary

landscapes. The influences of these two defoliating forces vary across the grasslands and shrubsteppe habitats within the Golden Eagle's range, especially from east to west, making all but the coarsest recommendations from the literature for livestock grazing impractical; other variables such as nonnative plant species and herbicide use can further confound recommendations from the literature. Moreover, grazing by livestock generally varies in terms of timing (season), duration, and intensity, and stocking rate prescriptions vary with local soil type (Butler and others, 2003). Thus, livestock grazing recommendations from the literature that benefit Golden Eagles may be little more than crude generalizations, and inconsistent use of terms used for describing livestock grazing intensity in the literature could further undermine their value (see "Species' Response to Management" section). Rather than attempt to provide grazing intensity recommendations from the literature for select species of Golden Eagle prey, it may be more useful to consider the general vegetation structure and composition that support prey species of interest and then endeavor to tailor grazing prescriptions to attain that condition. Moreover, grazing need not be the only management tool to achieve vegetation structure and composition goals.

Shortgrass prairies of the Great Plains typically are more resilient to the vagaries in livestock grazing than are mixed-grass prairies and are less degraded by lack of fire (see "Species' Response to Management" section). Herbaceous vegetation of short stature is favored by black-tailed jackrabbits if there also are scattered shrubs or dense tufts of herbaceous vegetation (Hansen and others, 2017a). Whitetailed jackrabbits prefer less shrub cover and more herbaceous vegetation but may otherwise not exhibit preferences for grazing intensity levels, at least in the semiarid western Great Plains (Flinders and Hansen, 1975; Lim, 1987; Simes and others, 2015; Hansen and others, 2017a). Short-statured prairie with little vertical obstruction is preferred by black-tailed prairie dogs in either shortgrass or mixed-grass prairies, and grazing by cattle generally creates vegetation structure that favors the prairie dog (Uresk and Bjugstad, 1983; Knowles, 1986; Sharps and Uresk, 1990; Reading and Matchett, 1997). Annual, season-long grazing at high levels of intensity may promote a shrub-dominated community especially in some mixed-grass prairies, which may ultimately become unsuitable for either jackrabbit species (Brown and others, 2020). Cottontail rabbits generally tolerate relatively moderate levels of grazing if edges created by rockpiles or dense shrubs are present (Flinders and Hansen, 1975), but populations decline with prolonged heavy grazing (MacCracken and Hansen, 1982, 1984; Hansen and others, 2017b). In shortgrass prairie of Colorado, light-to-moderate grazing by cattle on fourwing saltbush resulted in denser growth of the shrub and increased cover for cottontails (Flinders and Hansen, 1975).

Livestock, especially cattle, can influence Golden Eagles by reducing tree nest sites (Call, 1979). Livestock may concentrate their activity beneath trees and hasten the death of trees by compacting soils, exposing roots, rubbing against boles of trees year after year, and grazing seedlings or sprouts from roots as they emerge. The problem is acute in landscapes where nest trees are scarce and cliff nest sites are absent (Call, 1979). A steady decline in availability of cottonwood trees for Golden Eagle nest sites in the Great Plains has been attributed to these impacts, along with decreased high flow events, hydrogeomorphic changes, and fire exclusion along rivers (Auble and Scott, 1998; Rood and others, 2007). Fencing to exclude livestock can protect cottonwood trees that support current or future Golden Eagle nests (Call, 1979).

Eagles may drown in water troughs for livestock after becoming immersed and unable to fly or climb out of the steep-sided structures (Craig and Powers, 1976; Bedrosian and others, 2019; Katzner and others, 2020b). Drowning risk can be reduced by fitting troughs with escape ramps, keeping water levels high, or draining troughs when livestock are removed from the area (Natural Resources Conservation Service, 2012; Kauffman and others, 2019). Draining also would eliminate breeding opportunities for mosquitoes that may transmit West Nile Virus, to which Golden Eagles are vulnerable (Nemeth and others, 2006).

Depredation of livestock by Golden Eagles, especially lambs in open-range settings, continues in some parts of the Great Plains and shrubsteppe regions but may be reduced by lambing at ranch buildings or in pens covered with netting, using guard dogs, removing dead livestock that can attract eagles, and placing scarecrow devices in prominent places and accompanying these with human activity and harassment; the last approach may be most effective (O'Gara and Rightmire, 1987). Based on a survey by Phillips and Blom (1988), chronic depredation of lambs from Colorado to Montana could generally be attributed to resident Golden Eagles, especially where dense breeding populations of Golden Eagles overlapped lambing areas. Capture and relocation of depredating individual eagles has been ineffective (O'Gara and Rightmire, 1987).

Climate Change

A species' physiology, habitat associations, interspecific relationships, unique life history attributes, and response to disturbances influence its sensitivity to climate change (Case and others, 2015). As reviewed under the "Species' Response to Management" section, climate change may adversely affect Golden Eagles mainly by decreasing prey availability through broad-scale reductions in primary productivity that accompany increasing aridity. Patterns of reduced territory occupancy and infrequent breeding observed among Golden Eagles inhabiting arid portions of the species' contemporary range in the conterminous western United States could shift northward. Replacement of big sagebrush communities by cheatgrass may be hastened by more frequent fire than occurred historically (reviewed in Katzner and others, 2020b), although evidence of this is not entirely clear (Larson and others, 2017). Golden Eagle productivity may decline due to increased incidence of nestling mortality stemming from hyperthermia associated with intensified sun exposure and

increasing temperatures predicted by climate-change models; Kochert and others (2019) recommended using an adaptive management framework to further evaluate the effectiveness of using artificial shade structures to reduce this mortality.

Although carbon emissions that drive climate change can be reduced by increased development and use of renewable energy, this energy transition may negatively affect Golden Eagles indirectly, especially via habitat loss and fragmentation (Katzner and others, 2013; Diffendorfer and others, 2019), and directly, in the case of wind energy, by blade-strike mortality (Smallwood and Thelander, 2008; Katzner and others, 2013; Pagel and others, 2013; New and others, 2020). Adaptive management plans are necessary to create a balance between renewable-energy generation, climate-change mitigation, and Golden Eagle conservation (New and others, 2020). Currently, Golden Eagle population size in the western United States appears to be tentatively stable but could decline with slight increases in anthropogenic mortality such as that likely to occur in association with increasing wind energy, unless other anthropogenic mortality is mitigated to boost survival or if productivity can be markedly increased (Millsap and others, 2022). However, even under optimistic projections of carbon emissions, the Golden Eagle's North American range could be more than halved within the next few decades if climate-driven changes in the environment continue unabated, even though there may be a net increase in total numbers of eagles in a few western States (Langham and others, 2015). Thus, although more aggressive actions are needed to reduce greenhouse gas emissions worldwide, the most important conservation measure for Golden Eagles may be to anticipate (through modeling and expert elicitation) and plan adaptively for distributional shifts (Langham and others, 2015). Ideally, this planning approach would include increased effort to conserve currently suitable habitat that likely will remain suitable under predicted climate-change scenarios, while also identifying and proactively conserving habitat that may be colonized by Golden Eagles as climate-change advances. Elevation may be more important than latitude in this regard; climate-change impacts on birds in general are likely to be more severe in regions of relatively level topography, such as the Great Plains, than in montane regions such as the nearby Rocky Mountains (Peterson, 2003). Uncertainty inherent in climate-scenario predictions may be best addressed adaptively by continuous assessment of Golden Eagle distribution and demography and by linking the science to conservation planning and implementation (Langham and others, 2015), although some decisions in bird conservation planning for climate change in general cannot await rigorous modeling (Peterson, 2003). Consideration also should be given to possible climate-driven changes in habitat attributes of concern to Golden Eagle conservation; for example, risk of invasion by cheatgrass, which may be driven by more than just temperature (Bradley, 2009), and afforestation in some of the northernmost parts of the species' range (Marcot and others, 2015).

Measures to sustain agricultural and rangeland resources can reduce carbon emissions and contribute to climate adaptation, while improving habitat of prey for Golden Eagles. Range management practices with carbon sequestration potential include rotational grazing to improve drought tolerance and increase long-term grassland productivity (Delgado and others, 2011). Other examples of agricultural and range management practices that may contribute to carbon sequestration and provide habitat for prey of Golden Eagles could include windbreaks for livestock protection or soil erosion control, riparian forest or grassland buffers, conservation tillage practices, diversified crop rotation, transitions to perennial crops, increased use of cover crops, wetland restoration for easement credit, and change from corn to switchgrass (Panicum virgatum) as bioenergy crops (Delgado and others, 2011). In the northern Great Plains, marginal lands (that is, lands on which food currently is not produced) pose significant potential for carbon sequestration by widely establishing switchgrass on tracts under private or Tribal ownership, excepting those with permanent conservation status (Dolan and others, 2020). Under conservative and aggressive model scenarios, an estimated 14 and 23 million ha, respectively, could be converted to switchgrass during roughly the next 40 years (fig. 1 in Dolan and others, 2020). Dolan and others (2020) recommended assessing tradeoffs of such a massive carbon sequestration project and its effects on habitat for biodiversity, ecosystem health, and societal values (Dolan and others, 2020), including effects on Golden Eagles; given the dense, tall structure of switchgrass, prey availability may be relatively low (see "Prey Habitat" section).

Climate-change models have raised concerns about the effects of increasing temperatures and changing precipitation patterns on raptor populations, especially those species that nest in hot environments and exposed locations (Wichmann and others, 2005; Kochert and others, 2019). Despite considerable current scientific expertise on the biology and management of Golden Eagles, rigorous assessments of climate-change consequences for the species apparently have not been published. Such assessments should be multifaceted, incorporating vulnerability considerations including exposure, sensitivity, and adaptive capacity (Dawson and others, 2011). A consequence of northward shifts in a species' wintering distribution is that a greater burden is placed on natural resource managers in northern areas, who become responsible for managing an increasing proportion of a species' wintering population (Paprocki and others, 2014).

References

- Abatzoglou, J.T., and Williams, A.P., 2016, Impact of anthropogenic climate change on wildfire across western US forests: Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, v. 113, no. 42, p. 11770–11775. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1607171113.]
- Alisauskas, R.T., and Ankney, C.D., 1992, Spring habitat use and diets of midcontinent adult Lesser Snow Geese: The Journal of Wildlife Management, v. 56, no. 1, p. 43–54. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.2307/3808789.]
- Allen, G.T., 1987, Estimating Prairie Falcon and Golden Eagle nesting populations in North Dakota: The Journal of Wildlife Management, v. 51, no. 4, p. 739–744. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.2307/3801735.]
- Allison, T.D., Cochrane, J.F., Lonsdorf, E., and Sanders-Reed, C., 2017, A review of options for mitigating take of Golden Eagles at wind energy facilities: The Journal of Raptor Research, v. 51, no. 3, p. 319–333. [Also available at https:// doi.org/10.3356/JRR-16-76.1.]
- Andersen, D.E., Rongstad, O.J., and Mytton, W.R., 1990, Home-range changes in raptors exposed to increased human activity levels in southeastern Colorado: Wildlife Society Bulletin, v. 18, no. 2, p. 134–142.
- Andrews, R., and Righter, R., 1992, Colorado birds—A reference to their distribution and habitat: Denver, Colo., Denver Museum of Natural History, 442 p.
- Archer, S., 1989, Have southern Texas savannas been converted to woodlands in recent history?: American Naturalist, v. 134, no. 4, p. 545–561. [Also available at https://doi. org/10.1086/284996.]
- Arnold, L.W., 1954, The Golden Eagle and its economic status, *in* Kalmbach, E.R., Imler, R.H., and Arnold, L.W., eds., The American eagles and their economic status: Washington, D.C., U.S. Department of the Interior, Fish and Wildlife Service, Circular 27, p. 1–35.
- Arizona Game and Fish Department, 2019, Gearing up for a hunt? Don't forget the non-lead ammo: Phoenix, Ariz., Arizona Game and Fish Department, accessed January 2021 at https://www.azgfd.com/gearing-up-for-a-hunt-dont-forgetthe-non-lead-ammo-2/.
- Auble, G.T., and Scott, M.L., 1998, Fluvial disturbance patches and cottonwood recruitment along the upper Missouri River, Montana: Wetlands, v. 18, no. 4, p. 546–556. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.1007/BF03161671.]

Augustine, D.J., and Derner, J.D., 2021, Long-term effects of black-tailed prairie dogs on livestock grazing distribution and mass gain: The Journal of Wildlife Management, v. 85, no. 7, p. 1332–1343. [Also available at https://doi. org/10.1002/jwmg.22103.]

Augustine, D.J., Cully, J.F., Jr., and Johnson, T.L., 2007, Influence of fire on black-tailed prairie dog colony expansion in shortgrass steppe: Rangeland Ecology and Management, v. 60, no. 5, p. 538–542. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.2111/1551-5028(2007)60[538:IOFOBP]2.0.CO;2.]

Avian Power Line Interaction Committee [APLIC], 2006, Suggested practices for raptor protection on power lines—The state of the art in 2006: Washington, D.C., Edison Electric Institute and Avian Power Line Interaction Committee, and Sacramento, Calif., California Energy Commission, 207 p.

Avian Power Line Interaction Committee [APLIC] and U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service [FWS], 2005, Avian Protection Plan (APP) guidelines: Washington, D.C., Edison Electric Institute and Avian Power Line Interaction Committee, 84 p.

Baglien, J.W., 1975, Biology and habitat requirements of the nesting Golden Eagle in southwestern Montana: Bozeman, Mont., Montana State University, Master's Thesis, 63 p.

Bardakjian, A.T., Mandadakis, P.P., and Tingle, A., 2017, Efficiency comparison of horizontal axis wind turbines and bladeless turbines: PAM Review Energy Science and Technology, v. 4, p. 59–75. [Also available at https://doi. org/10.5130/pamr.v4i0.1461.]

Barnes, A.M., 1993, A review of plague and its relevance to prairie dog populations and the black-footed ferret, *in* Oldemeyer, J.L., Biggins, D.E., Miller, B.J., and Crete, R. (eds.), Proceedings of the symposium on the management of prairie dog complexes for the reintroduction of the black-footed ferret: Washington, D.C., U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service, Biological Report 13, p. 28–38.

Barnes, T.A., Dwyer, J.F., Mojica, E.K., Petersen, P.A., and Harness, R.E., 2022, Wildland fires ignited by avian electrocutions: Wildlife Society Bulletin, v. 46, no. 3, p. e1302. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.1002/wsb.1302.]

Bates, J.W., and Moretti, M.O., 1994, Golden Eagle (*Aquila chrysaetos*) population ecology in eastern Utah: The Great Basin Naturalist, v. 54, no. 3, p. 248–255.

Bear, G.D., and Hansen, R.M., 1966, Food habits, growth and reproduction of white-tailed jackrabbits in southern Colorado: Fort Collins, Colo., Colorado Agricultural Experiment Station, Colorado State University Technical Bulletin no. 90, 59 p. Bedrosian, B., Craighead, D., and Crandall, R., 2012, Lead exposure in Bald Eagles from big game hunting, the continental implications and successful mitigation efforts: PLoS One, v. 7, no. 12, p. e51978. [Also available at https://doi. org/10.1371/journal.pone.0051978.]

Bedrosian, B.E., Domenech, R., Shreading, A., Hayes, M.M., Booms, T.L., and Barger, C.R., 2018, Migration corridors of adult Golden Eagles originating in northwestern North America: PLoS One, v. 13, no. 1, p. e0205204. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0205204.]

Bedrosian, B.E., Wallace, Z., and Bedrosian, G., 2019, Northwestern Plains Golden Eagle Conservation Strategy: Denver, Colo., U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service, Report prepared for the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service Western Golden Eagle Team by Teton Raptor Center, 194 p.

Bedrosian, G., Carlisle, J.D., Woodbridge, B., Dunk, J.R., Wallace, Z.P., Dwyer, J.F., Harness, R.E., Mojica, E.K., Williams, G.E., and Jones, T., 2020, A spatially explicit model to predict the relative risk of Golden Eagle electrocutions in the northwestern Plains, USA: The Journal of Raptor Research, v. 54, no. 2, p. 110–125. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.3356/0892-1016-54.2.110.]

Bedrosian, G., Watson, J.W., Steenhof, K., Kochert, M.N., Preston, C.R., Woodbridge, B., Williams, G.E., Keller, K.R., and Crandall, R.H., 2017, Spatial and temporal patterns in Golden Eagle diets in the western United States, with implications for conservation planning: The Journal of Raptor Research, v. 51, no. 3, p. 347–368. [Also available at https:// doi.org/10.3356/JRR-16-38.1.]

Beecham, J.J., and Kochert, M.N., 1975, Breeding biology of the Golden Eagle in southwestern Idaho: The Wilson Bulletin, v. 87, no. 4, p. 506–513.

Bennett, V.J., Beard, M., Zollner, P.A., Fernández-Juricic, E., Westphal, L., and LeBlanc, C.L., 2009, Understanding wildlife responses to human disturbance through simulation modelling—A management tool: Ecological Complexity, v. 6, no. 2, p. 113–134. [Also available at https://doi. org/10.1016/j.ecocom.2008.08.002.]

Benson, P.C., 1981, Large raptor electrocution and power pole utilization—A study in six western States: Provo, Utah, Brigham Young University, Ph.D. Dissertation, 98 p.

Bergo, G., 1987, Territorial behaviour of Golden Eagles in western Norway: British Birds, v. 80, no. 8, p. 361–376.

Berry, M.E., Bock, C.E., and Haire, S.L., 1998, Abundance of diurnal raptors on open space grasslands in an urbanized landscape: The Condor, v. 100, no. 4, p. 601–608. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.2307/1369742.]

Beston, J.A., Diffendorfer, J.E., Loss, S.R., and Johnson, D.H., 2016, Prioritizing avian species for their risk of populationlevel consequences from wind energy development: PLoS One, v. 11, no. 3, p. e0150813. [Also available at https://doi. org/10.1371/journal.pone.0150813.]

Boal, C.W., Haralson, C.L., and Howe, W.H., 2008, Status of Golden Eagles in the Texas Panhandle: The Journal of Raptor Research, v. 42, no. 3, p. 220–224. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.3356/JRR-07-23.1.]

Bock, C.E., and Root, T.L., 1981, The Christmas Bird Count and avian ecology: Studies in Avian Biology, v. 6, p. 17–23.

Bock, C.E., Saab, V.A., Rich, T.D., and Dobkin, D.S., 1993, Effects of livestock grazing on Neotropical migratory landbirds in western North America, *in* Finch, D.M., and Stangel, P.W., eds., Status and Management of Neotropical Migratory Birds: Fort Collins, Colo., U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Rocky Mountain Forest and Range Experiment Station, General Technical Report RM-229, p. 296–309.

Boeker, E.L., 1974, Status of Golden Eagle surveys in the western States: Wildlife Society Bulletin, v. 2, no. 2, p. 46–49.

Boeker, E.L., and Nickerson, P.R., 1975, Raptor electrocutions: Wildlife Society Bulletin, v. 3, no. 2, p. 79–81.

Boeker, E.L., and Ray, T.D., 1971, Golden Eagle population studies in the Southwest: The Condor, v. 73, no. 4, p. 463– 467. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.2307/1366668.]

Bonan, G.B., 2008, Forests and climate change—Forcings, feedbacks, and the climate benefits of forests: Science, v. 320, no. 5882, p. 1444–1449. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1155121.]

Booth, D.T., Gores, J.K., Schuman, G.E., and Olson, R.A., 1999, Shrub densities on pre-1985 reclaimed mine lands in Wyoming: Restoration Ecology, v. 7, no. 1, p. 24–32. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1526-100X.1999.07103.x.]

Bortolotti, G.R., 1984, Trap and poison mortality of Golden and Bald eagles: The Journal of Wildlife Management, v. 48, no. 4, p. 1173–1179. [Also available at https://doi. org/10.2307/3801778.]

Bradley, B.A., 2009, Regional analysis of the impacts of climate change on cheatgrass invasion shows potential risk and opportunity: Global Change Biology, v. 15, no. 1, p. 196–208. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2486.2008.01709.x.]

Bradley, B.A., Curtis, C.A., Fusco, E.J., Abatzoglou, J.T., Balch, J.K., Dadashi, S., and Tuanmu, M.N., 2018, Cheatgrass (*Bromus tectorum*) distribution in the intermountain western United States and its relationship to fire frequency, seasonality, and ignitions: Biological Invasions, v. 20, no. 6, p. 1493–1506. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.1007/ s10530-017-1641-8.]

Bragg, T.B., 1995, Climate, soils and fire—The physical environment of North American grasslands, *in* Keeler, K., and Joern, A., eds., The changing prairie: New York, N.Y., Oxford University Press, p. 49–81.

Bragg, T.B., and Steuter, A.A., 1996, Prairie ecology—The mixed prairie, *in* Samson, F.B., and Knopf, F.L., eds., Prairie conservation—Preserving North America's most endangered ecosystem: Washington, D.C., p. 53–65.

Braham, M., Miller, M., Duerr, A.E., Lanzone, M., Fesnock, A., LaPre, L., Driscoll, D., and Katzner, T., 2015, Home in the heat—Dramatic seasonal variation in home range of desert Golden Eagles informs management for renewable energy development: Biological Conservation, v. 186, p. 225–232. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.1016/j. biocon.2015.03.020.]

Braun, C.E., and Streeter, R.G., 1968, Observations on the occurrence of white-tailed jackrabbits in the alpine zone: Journal of Mammalogy, v. 49, no. 1, p. 160–161. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.2307/1377756.]

Brooks, M.L., Brown, C.S., Chambers, J.C., D'Antonio, C.M., Keeley, J.E., and Belnap, J., 2016, Exotic annual *Bromus* invasions—Comparisons among species and ecoregions in the western United States, *in* Germino, M.J., Chambers, J.C., and Brown, C.S., eds., Exotic brome-grasses in arid and semiarid ecosystems of the western US: Zürich, Switzerland, Springer Series on Environmental Management, p. 11–60. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-24930-8 2.]

Brooks, M.L., D'Antonio, C.M., Richardson, D.M., Grace, J.B., Keeley, J.E., DiTomaso, J.M., Hobbs, R.J., Pellant, M., and Pyke, D., 2004, Effects of invasive alien plants on fire regimes: BioScience, v. 54, no. 7, p. 677– 688. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.1641/0006-3568(2004)054[0677:EOIAPO]2.0.CO;2.]

Brown, D.E., Smith, A.T., Frey, J.K., and Schweiger, B.R., 2020, A review of the ongoing decline of the white-tailed jackrabbit: Journal of Fish and Wildlife Management, v. 11, no. 1, p. 341–352. [Also available at https://doi. org/10.3996/042019-JFWM-026.] Brown, J.L., Bedrosian, B., Bell, D.A., Braham, M.A.,
Cooper, J., Crandall, R.H., DiDonato, J., Domenech, R.,
Duerr, A.E., Katzner, T.E., Lanzone, M.L., LaPlante, D.W.,
McIntyre, C.L., Miller, T.A., Murphy, R.K., Shreading,
A., Slater, S.J., Smith, J.P., Smith, B.W., Watson, J.W., and
Woodbridge, B., 2017, Patterns of spatial distribution of
Golden Eagles across North America—How do they fit into
existing landscape-scale mapping systems?: The Journal of
Raptor Research, v. 51, no. 3, p. 197–215. [Also available at
https://doi.org/10.3356/JRR-16-72.1.]

Brown, J.L., Bedrosian, G., and Keller, K.R., 2021, Habitat associations of Golden Eagle prey inferred from prey remains at nesting sites in Utah, USA: The Journal of Raptor Research, v. 55, no. 1, p. 1–16. [Also available at https:// doi.org/10.3356/0892-1016-55.1.1.]

Brown, T.A., 1985, Human impacts on the Golden Eagle population of San Diego County from 1928 to 1981: San Diego, Calif., San Diego State University, Master's Thesis, 99 p.

Buckle, A.P., Prescott, C.V., and Ward, K.J., 1994, Resistance to the first and second generation anticoagulant rodenticides—A new perspective: Proceedings of the Vertebrate Pest Conference, v. 16, p. 138–144.

Buehler, D.A., 2020, Bald Eagle (*Haliaeetus leucocephalus*) (ver. 1.0), *in* Poole, A.F., and Gill, F.B., eds., The birds of the world: Ithaca, N.Y., Cornell Laboratory of Ornithology, accessed February 2022 at https://birdsoftheworld.org/bow/species/baleag/. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.2173/bow.baleag.01.]

Butler, L.D., Cropper, J.B., Johnson, R.H., Norman, A.J., Peacock, G.L., Shaver, P.L., and Spaeth, K.E., Jr., 2003, Management of grazing lands, chap. 5 of Butler, L.D., ed., National range and pasture handbook: Fort Worth, Tex., U.S. Department of Agriculture, Natural Resources Conservation Service, Grazing Lands Technology Institute, p. 1–83.

Call, M.W., 1979, Habitat management guides for birds of prey: Denver, Colo., U.S. Department of the Interior, Bureau of Land Management, Technical Note 338, Filing Code 6611, 70 p.

Camenzind, F.J., 1969, Nesting ecology and behavior of the Golden Eagle *Aquila chrysaetos*: Brigham Young University Science Bulletin, Biological Series, v. 10, p. 4–15.

Case, M.J., Lawler, J.J., and Tomasevic, J.A., 2015, Relative sensitivity to climate change of species in northwestern North America: Biological Conservation, v. 187, p. 127–133. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.1016/j. biocon.2015.04.013.] Chambers, J.C., Miller, R.F., Board, D.I., Pyke, D.A., Roundy, B.A., Grace, J.B., Schupp, E.W., and Tausch, R.J., 2014, Resilience and resistance of sagebrush ecosystems—Implications for state and transition models and management treatments: Rangeland Ecology and Management, v. 67, no. 5, p. 440–454. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.2111/ REM-D-13-00074.1.]

Church, M.E., Gwiazda, R., Risebrough, R.W., Sorenson, K., Chamberlain, C.P., Farry, S., Heinrich, W., Rideout, B.A., and Smith, D.R., 2006, Ammunition is the principal source of lead accumulated by California Condors re-introduced to the wild: Environmental Science and Technology, v. 40, no. 19, p. 6143–6150. [Also available at https://doi. org/10.1021/es060765s.]

Clapp, R.B., Klimkiewicz, M.K., and Kennard, J.H., 1982, Longevity records of North American birds—Gaviidae through Alcidae: Journal of Field Ornithology, v. 53, no. 2, p. 81–124.

Clippinger, N.W., 1989, Habitat Suitability Index models— Black-tailed prairie dog: Washington, D.C., U.S. Department of the Interior, Fish and Wildlife Service, Biological Report 82(10.156).

Cochrane, J.F., Lonsdorf, E., Allison, T.D., and Sanders-Reed,
C.A., 2015, Modeling with uncertain science—Estimating mitigation credits from abating lead poisoning in Golden
Eagles: Ecological Applications, v. 25, no. 6, p. 1518–1533.
[Also available at https://doi.org/10.1890/14-0996.1.]

Collopy, M.W., 1984, Parental care and feeding ecology of Golden Eagle nestlings: The Auk, v. 101, no. 4, p. 753–760. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.2307/4086902.]

Collopy, M.W., and Edwards, T.C., Jr., 1989, Territory size, activity budget, and role of undulating flight in nesting Golden Eagles: Journal of Field Ornithology, v. 60, no. 1, p. 43–51.

Cooper, D.S., Yeh, P.J., and Blumstein, D.T., 2021, Tolerance and avoidance of urban cover in a southern California suburban raptor community over five decades: Urban Ecosystems, v. 24, p. 291–300. [Also available at https://doi. org/10.1007/s11252-020-01035-w.]

Copeland, H.E., Doherty, K.E., Naugle, D.E., Pocewicz, A., and Kiesecker, J.M., 2009, Mapping oil and gas development potential in the US Intermountain West and estimating impacts to species: PLoS One, v. 4, no. 10, p. e7400. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0007400.]

Copeland, H.E., Pocewicz, A., and Kiesecker, J.M., 2011, Geography of energy development in western North America, *in* Naugle, D.E., ed., Energy Development and Wildlife Conservation in Western North America: Washington, D.C., Island Press, p. 7–22. [Also available at https:// doi.org/10.5822/978-1-61091-022-4 2.]

Coppock, D.L., Ellis, J.E., Detling, J.K., and Dyer, M.I., 1983, Plant-herbivore interactions in a North American mixedgrass prairie. II. Responses of bison to modification of vegetation by prairie dogs: Oecologia, v. 56, no. 1, p. 10–15. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00378211.]

Coyle, A.M., 2008, An investigation of the ecology of nesting Golden Eagles in North Dakota: Grand Forks, N. Dak., University of North Dakota, Ph.D. Dissertation, 141 p.

Craig, T.H., and Craig, E.H., 1984, Results of a helicopter survey of cliff nesting raptors in a deep canyon in southern Idaho: The Journal of Raptor Research, v. 18, no. 1, p. 20–25.

Craig, T.H., and Powers, L.R., 1976, Raptor mortality due to drowning in a livestock watering tank: The Condor, v. 78, no. 3, p. 412. [Also available at https://doi. org/10.2307/1367706.]

Crandall, R.H., Bedrosian, B.E., and Craighead, D., 2015, Habitat selection and factors influencing nest survival of Golden Eagles in south-central Montana: The Journal of Raptor Research, v. 49, no. 4, p. 413–428. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.3356/rapt-49-04-413-428.1.]

Crandall, R.H., Craighead, D.J., and Bedrosian, B.E., 2016, A comparison of nest survival between cliff-and tree-nesting Golden Eagles: The Journal of Raptor Research, v. 50, no. 3, p. 295–300. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.3356/JRR-15-53.1.]

Crandall, R.H., Craighead, D.J., Bedrosian, B.E., and Slabe, V.A., 2019, Survival estimates and cause of mortality of Golden Eagles in south-central Montana: The Journal of Raptor Research, v. 53, no. 1, p. 38–45. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.3356/JRR-18-22.]

Cromie, R., Newth, J., and Strong, E., 2019, Transitioning to non-toxic ammunition—Making change happen: Ambio, v. 48, no. 9, p. 1079–1096. [Also available at https://doi. org/10.1007/s13280-019-01204-y.]

Cully, J.F., Jr., 1991, Response of raptors to reduction of a Gunnison's prairie dog population by plague: American Midland Naturalist, v. 125, no. 1, p. 140–149. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.2307/2426377.]

Cully, J.F., Jr., Johnson, T.L., Collinge, S.K., and Ray, C., 2010, Disease limits populations—Plague and black-tailed prairie dogs: Vector Borne and Zoonotic Diseases, v. 10, no. 1, p. 7–15. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.1089/ vbz.2009.0045.]

Curtin, C.C., 2006. Initial results of experimental studies of prairie dogs in arid grasslands—Implications for landscape conservation and the importance, *in* Basurto, X., and Hadley, D., eds., Grasslands ecosystems, endangered species, and sustainable ranching in the Mexico-US Borderlands—Conference proceedings: Fort Collins, Colo. U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Rocky Mountain Research Station, p. 57–59.

D'Acunto, L.E., Spaul, R.J., Heath, J.A., and Zollner, P.A., 2018, Simulating the success of trail closure strategies on reducing human disturbance to nesting Golden Eagles: The Condor: Ornithological Applications, v. 120, no. 3, p. 703–718. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.1650/CON-DOR-17-223.1.]

Datta, S., 2016, Raptors in temperate grasslands—Ecology of Ferruginous Hawk, Golden Eagle, and Northern Harrier in the northern Great Plains: Brookings, S. Dak., South Dakota State University, Ph.D. Dissertation, 135 p.

Davidson, A.D., Augustine, D.J., Jacobsen, H., Pellatz, D., Porensky, L.M., McKee, G., and Duchardt, C., 2022, Boom and bust cycles of black-tailed prairie dog populations in the Thunder Basin grassland ecosystem: Journal of Mammalogy, v. 103, no. 5, p. 1112–1126. [Also available at https:// doi.org/10.1093/jmammal/gyac035.]

Davis, C.M., 2019, Recreation, fire and disease create a mosaic of threats for Golden Eagles in southwestern Idaho: Boise, Idaho, Boise State University, Master's Thesis, 72 p.

Dawson, T.P., Jackson, S.T., House, J.I., Prentic, I.C., and Mace, G.M., 2011, Beyond predictions—Biodiversity conservation in a changing climate: Science, v. 332, no. 6025, p. 53–58. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1200303.]

Delahay, R.J., and Spray, C.J., eds., 2015, Proceedings of the Oxford Lead Symposium. Lead ammunition—Understanding and minimizing the risks to human and environmental health: Oxford, United Kingdom, Edward Grey Institute, University of Oxford, 152 p.

Delgado, J.A., Groffman, P.M., Nearing, M.A., Goddard, T., Reicosky, D., Lal, R., Kitchen, N.R., Rice, C.W., Towery, D., and Salon, P., 2011, Conservation practices to mitigate and adapt to climate change: Journal of Soil and Water Conservation, v. 66, no. 4, p. 118A–129A. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.2489/jswc.66.4.118A.]

- DeLoach, C.J., 1985, Conflicts of interest over beneficial and undesirable aspects of mesquite (*Prosopis* spp.) in the United States as related to biological control, *in* Delfosse, E.S., ed., Proceedings of the 6th International Symposium on Biological Control of Weeds: Ottawa, Ontario, Agriculture Canada, p. 301–340.
- de Lucas, M., Ferrer, M., Bechard, M.J., and Muñoz, A.R., 2012, Griffon Vulture mortality at wind farms in southern Spain—Distribution of fatalities and active mitigation measures: Biological Conservation, v. 147, no. 1, p. 184–189. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.1016/j. biocon.2011.12.029.]
- Desmond, M.J., 2004, Habitat associations and co-occurrence of Chihuahuan Desert hares (*Lepus californicus* and *L. callotis*): American Midland Naturalist, v. 151, no. 2, p. 414–419. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.1674/0003-0031(2004)151[0414:HAACOC]2.0.CO;2.]
- Detling, J.K., 2006, Do prairie dogs compete with livestock?, *in* Hoogland, J., ed., Conservation of the black-tailed prairie dog—Saving North America's western grasslands: Washington, D.C., Island Press, p. 65–88.
- Diffendorfer, J.E., Dorning, M.A., Keen, J.R., Kramer, L.A., and Taylor, R.V., 2019, Geographic context affects the landscape change and fragmentation caused by wind energy facilities: PeerJ, v. 7, p. e7129. [Also available at https://doi. org/10.7717/peerj.7129.]
- Dixon, J.B., 1937, The Golden Eagle in San Diego County, California: The Condor, v. 39, no. 2, p. 49–56. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.2307/1363773.]
- Dolan, K.A., Stoy, P.C., and Poulter, B., 2020, Land management and climate change determine second-generation bioenergy potential of the US northern Great Plains, GCB Bioenergy, v. 12, no. 7, p. 491–509. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.1111/gcbb.12686.]
- Dolbeer, R.A., and Wright, S.E., 2008, Wildlife strikes to civil aircraft in the United States, 1990–2007: U.S. Department of Agriculture, Animal and Plant Health Inspection Service, Wildlife Services, Federal Aviation Administration National Wildlife Strike Database Series Report No. 14, 57 p.
- Domenech, R., Bedrosian, B.E., Crandall, R.H., and Slabe, V.A., 2015, Space use and habitat selection by adult migrant Golden Eagles wintering in the western United States: The Journal of Raptor Research, v. 49, no. 4, p. 429–440. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.3356/rapt-49-04-429-440.1.]
- Domenech, R., Shreading, A., Ramsey, P., and McTee, M., 2021, Widespread lead exposure in Golden Eagles captured in Montana: The Journal of Wildlife Management, v. 85, no. 2, p. 195–201. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.1002/ jwmg.21980.]

- Donovan, V.M., Wonkka, C.L., and Twidwell, D., 2017, Surging wildfire activity in a grassland biome: Geophysical Research Letters, v. 44, no. 12, p. 5986–5993. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.1002/2017GL072901.]
- Dudek, B.M., 2017, The role of disease and ectoparasites in the ecology of nestling Golden Eagles: Boise, Idaho, Boise State University, Master's Thesis, 96 p.
- Duerr, A.E., Braham, M.A., Miller, T.A., Cooper, J., Anderson, J.T., and Katzner, T.E., 2019a, Roost-and perch-site selection by Golden Eagles (*Aquila chrysaetos*) in eastern North America: The Wilson Journal of Ornithology, v. 131, no. 2, p. 310–328. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.1676/18-38.]
- Duerr, A.E., Miller, T.A., Dunn, L., Bell, D.A., Bloom, P.H., Fisher, R.N., Tracey, J.A., and Katzner, T.E., 2019b, Topographic drivers of flight altitude over large spatial and temporal scales: The Auk, v. 136, no. 2, p. 1–11. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.1093/auk/ukz002.]
- Dunk, J.R., Woodbridge, B., Lickfett, T.M., Bedrosian, G., Noon, B.R., LaPlante, D.W., Brown, J.L., and Tack, J.D., 2019, Modeling spatial variation in density of Golden Eagle nest sites in the western United States: PLoS One, v. 14, no. 9, p. e0223143. [Also available at https://doi. org/10.1371/journal.pone.0223143.]
- Durham, K., 1981, Injuries to birds of prey caught in leghold traps: International Journal for the Study of Animal Problems, v. 2, no. 6, p. 317–328.
- Dwyer, J.F., and Doloughan, K.W., 2014, Testing systems of avian perch deterrents on electric power distribution poles in sage-brush habitat: Human-Wildlife Interactions, v. 8, no. 1, p. 39–55.
- Dwyer, J.F., Gerber, B.D., Petersen, P., Armstrong, W.E., and Harness, R.E., 2020a, Power pole density and avian electrocution risk in the western United States: The Journal of Raptor Research, v. 54, no. 2, p. 93–109. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.3356/0892-1016-54.2.93.]
- Dwyer, J.F., Harness, R.E., Gerber, B.D., Landon, M.A., Petersen, P., Austin, D.D., Woodbridge, B., Williams, G.E., and Eccleston, D., 2016, Power pole density informs spatial prioritization for mitigating avian electrocution: The Journal of Wildlife Management, v. 80, no. 4, p. 634–642. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.1002/jwmg.1048.]
- Dwyer, J.F., and Mojica, E.K., 2022, Can an avian electrocution risk model from California guide retrofitting throughout the western United States?: Journal of Fish and Wildlife Management, v. 13, no. 1, p. 17–27. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.3996/JFWM-21-046.]

Dwyer, J.F., Murphy, R.K., Stahlecker, D.W., Dwyer, A.M., and Boal, C.W., 2020b, Golden Eagle perch-site use in the U.S. Southern Plains—Understanding electrocution risk: The Journal of Raptor Research, v. 54, no. 2, p. 126–135. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.3356/0892-1016-54.2.126.]

Ecke, F., Singh, N.J., Arnemo, J.M., Bignert, A., Helander,
B., Berglund, Å.M.M., Borg, H., Bröjer, C., Holm, K.,
Lanzone, M., Miller, T., Nordström, Å., Räikkönen, J.,
Rodushkin, I., Ågren, E., and Hörnfeldt, B., 2017, Sublethal
lead exposure alters movement behavior in free-ranging
Golden Eagles: Environmental Science and Technology,
v. 51, no. 10, p. 5729–5736. [Also available at https://doi.
org/10.1021/acs.est.6b06024.]

Ellis, D.H., and Lish, J.W., 2006, Thinking about feathers—Adaptations of Golden Eagle rectrices: The Journal of Raptor Research, v. 40, no. 1, p. 1–28. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.3356/0892-1016(2006)40[1:TAFAOG]2. 0.CO;2.]

Erickson, W., and Urban, D., 2004, Potential risks of nine rodenticides to birds and nontarget mammals—A comparative approach: Washington, D.C., U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Office of Prevention, Pesticides and Toxic Substances, 225 p.

Faanes, C.A., and Lingle, G.R., 1995, Breeding birds of the Platte River Valley of Nebraska: Jamestown, N. Dak., U.S. Geological Survey, Northern Prairie Wildlife Research Center, 412 p.

Fala, R.A., Anderson, A., and Ward, J.P., 1985, High-wall-topole Golden Eagle nest site relocations: Raptor Research, v. 19, no. 1, p. 1–7.

Fargione, J., Kiesecker, J., Slaats, M.J., and Olimb, S., 2012, Wind and wildlife in the northern Great Plains—Identifying low-impact areas for wind development: PLoS One, v. 7, no. 7, p. e41468. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.1371/ journal.pone.0041468.]

Fautin, R.W., 1946, Biotic communities of the northern desert shrub biome in western Utah: Ecological Monographs, v. 16, no. 4, p. 251–310. [Also available at https://doi. org/10.2307/1961637.]

Fielding, A.H., Whitfield, D.P., and McLeod, D.R.A., 2006, Spatial association as an indicator of the potential for future interactions between wind energy developments and Golden Eagles *Aquila chrysaetos* in Scotland: Biological Conservation, v. 131, no. 3, p. 359–369. [Also available at https://doi. org/10.1016/j.biocon.2006.02.011.] Flinders, J.T., and Chapman, J.A, 2003, Black-tailed jackrabbit (*Lepus californicus* and allies), *in* Feldhamer, G.A., Thompson, B.C., and Chapman J.A., eds., Wild mammals of North America—Biology, management, and conservation: Baltimore, Md., Johns Hopkins University Press, p. 126–146.

Flinders, J.T., and Hansen, R.M., 1975, Spring population responses of cottontails and jackrabbits to cattle grazing shortgrass prairie: Journal of Range Management, v. 28, no. 4, p. 290–293. [Also available at https://doi. org/10.2307/3897779.]

Friend, M., Franson, J.C., and Anderson, W.L., 2009, Biological and societal dimensions of lead poisoning in birds in the USA, *in* Watson, R.T. Fuller, M. Pokras, M. and Hunt, W.G., eds., Ingestion of lead from spent ammunition— Implications for wildlife and humans: Boise, Idaho, The Peregrine Fund, p. 34–60. [Also available at https://doi. org/10.4080/ilsa.2009.0104.]

Fusco, E.J., Finn, J.T., Balch, J.K., Nagy, R.C., and Bradley, B.A., 2019, Invasive grasses increase fire occurrence and frequency across the US ecoregions: Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, v. 116, no. 47, p. 23594–23599. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.1073/ pnas.1908253116.]

Fyfe, R.W., and Olendorff, R.R., 1976, Minimizing the dangers of nesting studies to raptors and other sensitive species: Ottawa, Ontario, Canadian Wildlife Service, Occasional Paper no. 23, 17 p.

Geaumont, B.A., Sedivec, K.K., and Schauer, C.S., 2017, Ring-necked Pheasant use of post-Conservation Reserve Program lands: Rangeland Ecology and Management, v. 70, no. 5, p. 569–575. [Also available at https://doi. org/10.1016/j.rama.2017.04.003.]

Gill, J.A., 2007, Approaches to measuring the effects of human disturbance on birds: The Ibis, v. 149, suppl. no. 1, p. 9–14. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1474-919X.2007.00642.x.]

Glinski, R.L., ed., 2021, The raptors of Arizona: Tucson, AZ, University of Arizona Press, 220 p. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.2307/j.ctv21r3jn9.]

Golden, N.H., and Gober, J., 2010, Prairie dogs, pesticides, and protected species—Concerns for anticoagulant use in a sensitive ecosystem: Proceedings of the Vertebrate Pest Conference, v. 24, p. 181–185. [Also available at https://doi. org/10.5070/V424110598.]

- Golden, N.H., Warner, S.E., and Coffey, M.J., 2016, A review and assessment of spent lead ammunition and its exposure and effects to scavenging birds in the United States: Reviews of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology, v. 237, p. 123–191. [Also available at https://doi. org/10.1007/978-3-319-23573-8 6.]
- González, L.M., Arroyo, B.E., Margalida, A., Sánchez, R., and Oria, J., 2006, Effect of human activities on the behaviour of breeding Spanish Imperial Eagles (*Aquila adalberti*)—Management implications for the conservation of a threatened species: Animal Conservation, v. 9, no. 1, p. 85–93. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-1795.2005.00016.x.]
- Grant, T.A., Shaffer, T.L., and Flanders, B., 2020, Resiliency of native prairies to invasion by Kentucky bluegrass, smooth brome, and woody vegetation: Rangeland Ecology and Management, v. 73, no. 2, p. 321–328. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rama.2019.10.013.]
- Grant, T.A., Shaffer, T.L., Madden, E.M., and Berkey, G.B., 2011, Ducks and passerines nesting in northern mixed-grass prairie treated with fire: Wildlife Society Bulletin, v. 35, no. 4, p. 368–376. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.1002/wsb.65.]
- Grubb, T.G., Delaney, D.K., Bowerman, W.W., and Wierda, M.R., 2010, Golden Eagle indifference to heli-skiing and military helicopters in northern Utah: The Journal of Wildlife Management, v. 74, no. 6, p. 1275–1285. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.2193/2009-337.]
- Grubb, T.G., and Eakle, W.L., 1987, Comparative morphology of Bald and Golden eagle nests in Arizona: The Journal of Wildlife Management, v. 51, no. 4, p. 744–748. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.2307/3801736.]
- Grubb, T.G., Eakle, W.L., and Tuggle, B.N., 1986, *Haematosiphon inodorus* (Hemiptera: Cimicidae) in a nest of a Bald Eagle (*Haliaeetus leucocephalus*) in Arizona: Journal of Wildlife Diseases, v. 22, no. 1, p. 125–127. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.7589/0090-3558-22.1.125.]
- Grubb, T.G., Lopez, R.G., and Ellis, M.M., 2018, Winter scavenging of ungulate carrion by Bald Eagles, Common Ravens, and coyotes in northern Arizona: The Journal of Raptor Research, v. 52, no. 4, p. 471–481. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.3356/JRR-17-93.1.]
- Gruell, G.E., 1996, Influence of fire on Great Basin wildlife habitats: Transactions of the Western Section of The Wildlife Society, v. 32, p. 55–61.

- Gruell, G.E., 1999, Historical and modern roles of fire in pinyon-juniper, *in* Monson S.B., and Stevens, R., compilers, Proceedings—Ecology and management of pinyon-juniper communities within the Interior West: Ogden, Utah, U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Rocky Mountain Research Station: Proceedings RMRS-P-9, p. 24–28.
- Guenther, D.A., and Detling, J.K., 2003, Observations of cattle use of prairie dog towns: Journal of Range Management, v. 56, no. 5, p. 410–417. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.2307/4003830.]
- Haig, S.M., D'Elia, J., Eagles-Smith, C., Fair, J.M., Gervais, J., Herring, G., Rivers, J.W., and Schulz, J.H., 2014, The persistent problem of lead poisoning in birds from ammunition and fishing tackle: The Condor, v. 116, no. 3, p. 408–428. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.1650/CONDOR-14-36.1.]
- Haller, H., 1996, Der Steinadler in Graubünden—Langfristige Untersuchungen zur Populationsökologie von Aquila chrysaetos im Zentrum der Alpen: Ornithologische Beobachter, v. 9, p. 1–167.
- Hanna, W.C., 1930, Notes on the Golden Eagle in southern California: The Condor, v. 32, no. 2, p. 121–123.
- Hansen, D.L., Beatty, G.L., and Bedrosian, G., 2017a, Biology of jackrabbits (*Lepus* spp.) as prey of Golden Eagles (*Aquila chrysaetos*) in the western United States: Denver, Colo., U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service, Report prepared by the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service's Western Golden Eagle Team, 34 p.
- Hansen, D.L., Bedrosian, G., and Beatty, G., 2017b, Biology of cottontail rabbits (*Sylvilagus* spp.) as prey of Golden Eagles (*Aquila chrysaetos*) in the western United States: Denver, Colo., U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service, Report prepared by the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service's Western Golden Eagle Team, 24 p.
- Hansen, R.M., and Gold, I.K., 1977, Blacktail prairie dogs, desert cottontails and cattle trophic relations on shortgrass range: Journal of Range Management, v. 30, no. 3, p. 210– 214. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.2307/3897472.]
- Harmata, A.R., and Restani, M., 1995, Environmental contaminants and cholinesterase in blood of vernal migrant Bald and Golden eagles in Montana: Intermountain Journal of Sciences, v. 1, no. 1, p. 1–15.
- Harmata, A.R., and Restani, M., 2013, Lead, mercury, selenium, and other trace elements in tissues of Golden Eagles from southwestern Montana, USA: Journal of Wildlife Diseases, v. 49, no. 1, p. 114–124. [Also available at https:// doi.org/10.7589/2012-01-004.]

Harness, R.E., Milodragovich, S., and Schomburg, J., 2003, Raptors and power line collisions: Colorado Birds, v. 37, no. 3, p. 118–122.

Harness, R.E., and Wilson, K.R., 2001, Electric-utility structures associated with raptor electrocutions in rural areas: Wildlife Society Bulletin, v. 29, no. 2, p. 612–623.

Harrison, J.T., Kochert, M.N., Pauli, B.P., and Heath, J.A., 2019, Using motion-activated trail cameras to study diet and productivity of cliff-nesting Golden Eagles: The Journal of Raptor Research, v. 53, no. 1, p. 26–37. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.3356/JRR-18-26.]

Heath, J.A., and Kochert, M.N., 2016, Golden Eagle dietary shifts in response to habitat alteration and consequences for eagle productivity in the Morley Nelson Snake River Birds of Prey National Conservation Area: Boise, Idaho, U.S. Bureau of Land Management, Boise District, Final report for U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service, 19 p.

Heath, J.A., Kochert, M.N., and Steenhof, K., 2021, Golden Eagle dietary shifts following wildfire and shrub loss have negative consequences for nestling survivorship: The Condor, v. 123, no. 4, p. 1–14. [Also available at https://doi. org/10.1093/ornithapp/duab034.]

Heath, J.A., Steenhof, K., and Foster, M.A., 2012, Shorter migration distances associated with higher winter temperatures suggest a mechanism for advancing nesting phenology of American Kestrels *Falco sparverius*: Journal of Avian Biology, v. 43, no. 4, p. 376–384. [Also available at https:// doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-048X.2012.05595.x.]

Herring, G., Eagles-Smith, C.A., and Buck, J., 2017, Characterizing Golden Eagle risk to lead and anticoagulant rodenticide exposure—A review: The Journal of Raptor Research, v. 51, no. 3, p. 273–292. [Also available at https:// doi.org/10.3356/JRR-16-19.1.]

Herring, G., Eagles-Smith, C.A., Buck, J.A., Shiel, A.E., Vennum, C.R., Emery, C., Johnson, B., Leal, D., Heath, J.A., Dudek, B.M., Preston, C.R., and Woodbridge, B., 2020, The lead (Pb) lining of agriculture-related subsidies—Enhanced Golden Eagle growth rates tempered by Pb exposure: Ecosphere, v. 11, no. 1, p. e03006. [Also available at https://doi. org/10.1002/ecs2.3006.]

Herzog, J.L., Eisaguirre, J.M., Linkhart, B.D., and Booms, T.L., 2019, Golden Eagle diet in western Alaska: The Journal of Raptor Research, v. 53, no. 4, p. 393–401. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.3356/0892-1016-53.4.393.]

Higgins, K.F., 1986, Interpretation and compendium of historical fire accounts in the northern Great Plains: Washington, D.C., U.S. Department of the Interior, Fish and Wildlife Service, Resource Publication 161, 39 p.

Higgins, K.F., Naugle, D.E., and Forman, K.J., 2002, A case study of changing land use practices in the northern Great Plains, USA—An uncertain future for waterbird conservation: Waterbirds, v. 25, Special Publication 2, p. 42–50.

Hoffman, R.S., and Pattie, D.L., 1968, A guide to Montana mammals—Identification, habitat, distribution and abundance: Missoula, Mont., University of Montana, 133 p.

Holechek, J.L., Baker, T.T., Boren, J.C., and Galt, D., 2006, Grazing impacts on rangeland vegetation—What we have learned: Rangelands, v. 28, no. 1, p. 7–13. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.2111/1551-501X(2006)28.1[7:GIORVW] 2.0.CO;2.]

Holmes, T.L., Knight, R.L., Stegall, L., and Craig, G.R., 1993, Responses of wintering grassland raptors to human disturbance: Wildlife Society Bulletin, v. 21, no. 4, p. 461–468.

Hoogland, J., ed., 2013, Conservation of the black-tailed prairie dog—Saving North America's western grasslands: Washington, D.C., Island Press, 342 p.

Houston, C.S., 1985, Golden Eagle banding in the South Saskatchewan River Valley: North American Bird Bander, v. 10, no. 4, p. 110–114.

Humburg, D.D., Sheriff, S.L., Geissler, P.H., and Roster, T., 1982, Shotshell and shooter effectiveness—Lead vs. steel shot for duck hunting: Wildlife Society Bulletin, v. 10, no. 2, p. 121–126.

Hunt, G., and Hunt, T., 2006, The trend of Golden Eagle territory occupancy in the vicinity of the Altamont Pass Wind Resource Area—2005 survey: Sacramento, Calif, California Energy Commission, PIER Energy-Related Environmental Research, CEC-500-2006-056, 17 p.

Hunt, W.G., 1998, Raptor floaters at Moffat's equilibrium: Oikos, v. 82, no. 1, p. 191–197. [Also available at https:// doi.org/10.2307/3546929.]

Hunt, W.G., Jackman, R.E., Brown, T.L., Driscoll, D.E., and Culp, L., 1997, A population study of Golden Eagles at the Altamont Pass Wind Resource Area—Second year progress report: Santa Cruz, Calif., University of California, Predatory Bird Research Group, Report to National Renewable Energy Laboratory, Subcontracts XAT-5-15174-01 and XAT-6-16459-01, 93 p.

Hunt, W.G., Jackman, R.E., Brown, T.L., Gilardi, J.G., Driscoll, D.E., and Culp, L., 1995, A pilot Golden Eagle population study in the Altamont Pass Wind Resource Area, California: Santa Cruz, Calif., University of California, Predatory Bird Research Group, Report to National Renewable Energy Laboratory, Subcontract No. XCG-4-14200, 224 p.

- Hunt, W.G., Jackman, R.E., Hunt, T.L., Driscoll, D.E., and Culp, L., 1999, A population study of Golden Eagles in the Altamont Pass Wind Resource Area—Population trend analysis, 1994–1997: Santa Cruz, Calif., University of California, Predatory Bird Research Group, Report to National Renewable Energy Laboratory, Subcontract XAT-6-16459-01, 33 p. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.2172/12148.]
- Hunt, W.G., and Watson, J.W., 2016, Addressing the factors that juxtapose raptors and wind turbines: The Journal of Raptor Research, v. 50, no. 1, p. 92–96. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.3356/rapt-50-01-92-96.1.]
- Hunt, W.G., Wiens, D.J., Law, P.R., Fuller, M.R., Hunt, T.L., Driscoll, D.E., and Jackman, R.E., 2017, Quantifying the demographic cost of human-related mortality to a raptor population: PLoS One, v. 12, no. 2, p. e0172232. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0172232.]
- Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, 2000, IPCC special report—Emissions scenarios: United Kingdom, accessed February 2022 at https://www.ipcc.ch/site/assets/uploads/2018/03/sres-en.pdf.
- Janss, G.F., and Ferrer, M., 1998, Rate of bird collision with power lines—Effects of conductor-marking and static wiremarking: Journal of Field Ornithology, v. 69, no. 1, p. 8–17.
- Johnsgard, P.A., 1980, A preliminary list of the birds of Nebraska and adjacent Plains States: Lincoln, Nebr., University of Nebraska, 156 p.
- Johnson, D.H., 1980, The comparison of usage and availability measurements for evaluating resource preference: Ecology, v. 61, no. 1, p. 65–71. [Also available at https:// doi.org/10.2307/1937156.]
- Johnson, D.R., and Peek, J.M., 1984, The black-tailed jackrabbit in Idaho—Life history, population dynamics and control: Moscow, Idaho, University of Idaho, College of Agriculture, Cooperative Extension Service, Bulletin no. 637, 16 p.
- Johnson, R.D., and Anderson, J.E., 1984, Diets of black-tailed jack rabbits in relation to population density and vegetation: Journal of Range Management, v. 37, no. 1, p. 79–83. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.2307/3898830.]
- Johnston, N.N., Bradley, J.E., and Otter, K.A., 2014, Increased flight altitudes among migrating Golden Eagles suggest turbine avoidance at a Rocky Mountain wind installation: PLoS One, v. 9, no. 3, p. e93030. [Also available at https:// doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0093030.]
- Jones, J.K., Jr., Armstrong, D.M., Hoffmann, R.S., and Jones, C., 1983, Mammals of the northern Great Plains: Lincoln, Nebr., University of Nebraska Press, 379 p.

- Kanstrup, N., Balsby, T.J., and Thomas, V.G., 2016, Efficacy of non-lead rifle ammunition for hunting in Denmark: European Journal of Wildlife Research, v. 62, no. 3, p. 333–340. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.1007/s10344-016-1006-0.]
- Katzner, T.E., Carlisle, J.D., Poessel, S.A., Thomason, E.C., Pauli, B.P., Pilliod, D.S., Belthoff, J.R., Heath, J.A., Parker, K.J., Warner, K.S., and Hayes, H.M., 2020a, Illegal killing of nongame wildlife and recreational shooting in conservation areas: Conservation Science and Practice, v. 2, no. 11, p. e279. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.1111/csp2.279.]
- Katzner, T.A., Johnson, J.A., Evans, D.M., Garner, T.W.J., Gompper, M.E., Altwegg, R., Branch, T.A., Gordon, I.J., and Pettorelli, N., 2013, Challenges and opportunities for animal conservation from renewable energy development: Animal Conservation, v. 16, no. 4, p. 367–369. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.1111/acv.12067.]
- Katzner, T.E., Kochert, M.N., Steenhof, K., McIntyre, C.L., Craig, E.H., and Miller, T.A., 2020b, Golden Eagle (*Aquila chrysaetos*) (ver. 2.0), *in* Rodewald, P.G., and Keeney, B.K., eds., The birds of the world: Ithaca, N.Y., Cornell Lab of Ornithology, accessed February 2022 at https://birdsoftheworld.org/bow/species/goleag/. [Also available at https:// doi.org/10.2173/bow.goleag.02.]
- Katzner, T.E., Nelson, D.M., Braham, M.A., Doyle, J.M., Fernandez, N.B., Duerr, A.E., Bloom, P.H., Fitzpatrick, M.C., Miller, T.A., Culver, R.C.E., Braswell, L., and DeWoody, J.A., 2016, Golden Eagle fatalities and the continental-scale consequences of local wind-energy generation: Conservation Biology, v. 31, no. 2, p. 406–415. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.1111/cobi.12836.]
- Katzner, T.E., Stuber, M.J., Slabe, V.A., Anderson, J.T., Cooper, J.L., Rhea, L.L., and Millsap, B.A., 2017, Origins of lead in populations of raptors: Animal Conservation, v. 21, no. 3, p. 232–240. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.1111/ acv.12379.]
- Kauffman, K., Elmore, D., and Goodman, L., 2019, Minimizing impacts to wildlife from livestock infrastructure:Stillwater, Okla., Oklahoma Cooperative Extension Service, Publication NREM-9028, 7 p.
- Kelly, T.R., Bloom, P.H., Torres, S.G., Harnandez, Y.Z., Poppenga, R.H., Boyce, W.M., and Johnson, C.K., 2011, Impact of the California lead ammunition ban on reducing lead exposure in Golden Eagles and Turkey Vultures: PLoS One, v. 6, no. 4, p. e17656. [Also available at https://doi. org/10.1371/journal.pone.0017656.]

Kiesecker, J.M., Copeland, H., Pocewicz, A., Nibbelink, N., McKenney, B., Dahlke, J., Holloran, M., and Stroud, D., 2009, A framework for implementing biodiversity offsets— Selecting sites and determining scale: BioScience, v. 59, no. 1, p. 77–84. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.1525/ bio.2009.59.1.11.]

Knick, S.T., Dobkin, D.S., Rotenberry, J.T., Schroeder, M.A., Vander Haegen, W.M., and van Riper, C., III, 2003, Teetering on the edge or too late? Conservation and research issues for avifauna of sagebrush habitats: The Condor, v. 105, no. 4, p. 611–634. [Also available at https://doi. org/10.1093/condor/105.4.611.]

Knick, S.T., and Dyer, D.L., 1997, Distribution of black-tailed jackrabbit habitat determined by GIS in southwestern Idaho: The Journal of Wildlife Management, v. 61, no. 1, p. 75–85. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.2307/3802416.]

Knick, S.T., and Rotenberry, J.T., 1997, Landscape characteristics of disturbed shrubsteppe habitats in southwestern Idaho (U.S.A.): Landscape Ecology, v. 12, p. 287–297. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1007915408590.]

Knight, R.L., and Skagen, S.K., 1988, Effects of recreational disturbance on birds of prey—A review, *in* Glinski, R.L., Pendleton, B.G., Moss, M.B., LeFranc, M.N., Jr., Millsap, B.A., and Hoffman, S.W., eds., Proceedings of the Southwest Raptor Management Symposium and Workshop: Washington, D.C., National Wildlife Federation, National Wildlife Federation Scientific and Technical Series no. 11, p. 355–359.

Knott, J., Gilbert, J., Green, R.E., and Hoccom, D.G., 2009, Comparison of the lethality of lead and copper bullets in deer control operations to reduce incidental lead poisoning; field trials in England and Scotland: Conservation Evidence, v. 6, p. 71–78.

Knowles, C.J., 1986, Some relationships of black-tailed prairie dogs to livestock grazing: The Great Basin Naturalist, v. 46, no. 2, p. 198–203.

Kochert, M.N., 1972, Population status and chemical contamination in Golden Eagles in southwestern Idaho: Moscow, Idaho, University of Idaho, Master's Thesis, 102 p.

Kochert, M.N., and Steenhof, K., 2002, Golden Eagles in the U.S. and Canada—Status, trends, and conservation challenges: The Journal of Raptor Research, v. 36, no. 1, Supplement, p. 32–40.

Kochert, M.N., and Steenhof, K., 2012, Frequency of nest use by Golden Eagles in southwestern Idaho: The Journal of Raptor Research, v. 46, no. 3, p. 239–247. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.3356/JRR-12-00001.1.] Kochert, M.N., Steenhof, K., and Brown, J.L., 2019, Effects of nest exposure and spring temperatures on Golden Eagle brood survival—An opportunity for mitigation: The Journal of Raptor Research, v. 53, no. 1, p. 91–97. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.3356/JRR-17-100.]

Kochert, M.N., Steenhof, K., Carpenter, L.B., and Marzluff, J.M., 1999, Effects of fire on Golden Eagle territory occupancy and reproductive success: The Journal of Wildlife Management, v. 63, no. 3, p. 773–780. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.2307/3802790.]

Kochert, M.N., Steenhof, K., McIntyre, C.L., and Craig, E.H., 2002, Golden Eagle (*Aquila chrysaetos*) (ver. 2.0), *in* Rodewald, P.G., ed., The birds of North America: Ithaca, N.Y., Cornell Lab of Ornithology, accessed February 2022 at https://birdsoftheworld.org/bow/historic/bna/goleag/2.0/ introduction. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.2173/ bna.684.]

Koford, C.B., 1958, Prairie dogs, whitefaces, and blue grama: Wildlife Monographs, no. 3, 78 p.

Kopeny, M.T., 1988, White-tailed Hawk *Buteo albicaudatus*, *in* Palmer, R.S., ed., Handbook of North American birds, volume 5: New Haven, Conn., Yale University Press, p. 74–84.

Kovacs, K.E., 2013, Eagles, Indian tribes, and the free exercise of religion: Loyola of Los Angeles Law Review, v. 47, no. 1, p. 53–117.

Kramer, J.L., and Redig, P.T., 1997, Sixteen years of lead poisoning in eagles, 1980–95—An epizootiologic view: The Journal of Raptor Research, v. 31, no. 4, p. 327–332.

Kroepsch, A.C., 2018, Horizontal drilling, changing patterns of extraction, and piecemeal participation—Urban hydrocarbon governance in Colorado: Energy Policy, v. 120, p. 469–480. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.1016/j. enpol.2018.04.074.]

Kuvlesky, W.P., Jr., Brennan, L.A., Morrison, M.L., Boydston, K.K., Ballard, B.M., and Bryant, F.C., 2007, Wind energy development and wildlife conservation—Challenges and opportunities: The Journal of Wildlife Management, v. 71, no. 8, p. 2487–2498. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.2193/2007-248.]

Krzyszowska Waitkus, A., 2022, Sustainable reclamation practices for a large surface coal mine in shortgrass prairie, semiarid environment (Wyoming, USA)—Case study: International Journal of Coal Science and Technology, v. 9, no. 1, p. 1–14. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.1007/ s40789-022-00502-3.] Langham, G.M., Schuetz, J.G., Distler, T., Soykan, C.U., and Wilsey, C., 2015, Conservation status of North American birds in the face of future climate change: PLoS One, v. 10, no. 9, p. e0135350. [Also available at https://doi. org/10.1371/journal.pone.0135350.]

Larson, C.D., Lehnhoff, E.A., and Rew, L.J., 2017, A warmer and drier climate in the northern sagebrush biome does not promote cheatgrass invasion or change its response to fire: Oecologia, v. 185, no. 4, p. 763–774. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.1007/s00442-017-3976-3.]

Lee, R.D., 1954, First report of the poultry bug from a Golden Eagle's nest, with new locality records: Journal of Economic Entomology, v. 47, no. 6, p. 1114. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.1093/jee/47.6.1144.]

Lehman, R.N., 2002, Raptor electrocutions and associated fire hazards in the Snake River Birds of Prey National Conservation Area: Boise, Idaho, Idaho Bureau of Land Management, Technical Bulletin No. 02-7, 22 p.

Lehman, R.N., Kennedy, P.L., and Savidge, J.A., 2007, The state of the art in raptor electrocution research—A global review: Biological Conservation, v. 136, no. 2, p. 159–174. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.1016/j. biocon.2006.09.015.]

Lightfoot, D.C., Davidson, A.D., McGlone, C.M., and Parker, D.G., 2010, Rabbit abundance relative to rainfall and plant production in northern Chihuahuan Desert grassland and shrubland habitats: Western North American Naturalist, v. 70, no. 4, p. 490–499. [Also available at https://doi. org/10.3398/064.070.0409.]

Lim, B.K., 1987, *Lepus townsendii*: Mammalian Species, no. 288, p. 1–6. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.2307/3504001.]

Lish, J.W., 1975, Status and ecology of Bald Eagles and nesting of Golden Eagles in Oklahoma: Stillwater, Okla., Oklahoma State University, Master's Thesis, 99 p.

Lonsdorf, E., Sanders-Reed, C.A., Boal, C., and Allison, T.D., 2018, Modeling Golden Eagle-vehicle collisions to design mitigation strategies: The Journal of Wildlife Management, v. 82, no. 8, p. 1633–1644. [Also available at https://doi. org/10.1002/jwmg.21527.]

Losee, M., 2019, Habitat characteristics and nesting ecology of Golden Eagles in Arizona: Keene, N.H., Antioch University New England, Ph.D. Dissertation, 120 p.

MacCracken, J.G., and Hansen, R.H., 1982, Herbaceous vegetation of habitat used by blacktail jackrabbits and Nuttall cottontails in southeastern Idaho: American Midland Naturalist, v. 107, no. 1, p. 180–184. [Also available at https:// doi.org/10.2307/2425199.] MacCracken, J.G., and Hansen, R.H., 1984, Seasonal foods of blacktail jackrabbits and Nuttall cottontails in southeastern Idaho: Journal of Range Management, v. 37, no. 3, p. 256–259.

MacLaren, P.A., Anderson, S.H., and Runde, D.E., 1988, Food habits and nest characteristics of breeding raptors in southwestern Wyoming: The Great Basin Naturalist, v. 48, no. 3, p. 548–553.

Madden, K.K., Rozhon, G.C., and Dwyer, J.F., 2019, Conservation letter—Raptor persecution: The Journal of Raptor Research, v. 53, no. 2, p. 230–233. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.3356/JRR-18-37.]

Marcot, B.G., Jorgenson, M.T., Lawler, J.P., Handel, C.M., and DeGange, A.R., 2015, Projected changes in wildlife habitats in Arctic natural areas of northwest Alaska: Climatic Change, v. 130, no. 3, p. 145–154. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.1007/s10584-015-1354-x.]

Marion, W.R., and Ryder, R.A., 1975, Perch-site preferences of four diurnal raptors in northeastern Colorado: The Condor, v. 77, no. 3, p. 350–352. [Also available at https://doi. org/10.2307/1366241.]

Marlon, J.R., Bartlein, P.J., Walsh, M.K., Harrison, S.P., Brown, K.J., Edwards, M.E., Higuera, P.E., Power, M.J., Anderson, R.S., Briles, C., Brunelle, A., Carcaillet, C., Daniels, M., Hu, F.S., Lavoie, M., Long, C., Minckley, T., Richard, P.J.H., Scott, A.C., Shafer, D.S., Tinner, C.E., Umbanhowar, C.E., Jr., and Whitlock, C., 2009, Wildfire responses to abrupt climate change in North America: Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, v. 106, no. 8, p. 2519–2524. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.1073/ pnas.0808212106.]

Marquiss, M., Ratcliffe, D.A., and Roxburgh, R., 1985, The numbers, breeding success and diet of Golden Eagles in southern Scotland in relation to changes in land use: Biological Conservation, v. 34, no. 2, p. 121–140. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.1016/0006-3207(85)90104-1.]

Marshall, W.H., 1940, An "Eagle Guard" developed in Idaho: The Condor, v. 42, no. 3, p. 166.

Martel, M., Redig, P., Nibe, J., Buhl, G., and Frenzel, D., 1991, Survival and movements of released rehabilitated Bald Eagles: The Journal of Raptor Research, v. 25, no. 3, p. 72–76.

Martin, J., Fackler, P.L., Nichols, J.D., Runge, M.C., McInTyre, C.L., Lubow, B.L., McCluskie, M.C., and Schmutz, J.A., 2011, An adaptive-management framework for optimal control of hiking near Golden Eagle nests in Denali National Park: Conservation Biology, v. 25, no. 2, p. 316–323. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1523-1739.2010.01644.x.]

Marzluff, J.M., Knick, S.T., Vekasy, M.S., Schueck, L.S., and Zarriello, T.J., 1997, Spatial use and habitat selection of Golden Eagles in southwestern Idaho: The Auk, v. 114, no. 4, p. 673–687. [Also available at https://doi. org/10.2307/4089287.]

Mathisen, J.E., and Mathisen, A., 1968, Species and abundance of diurnal raptors in the panhandle of Nebraska: The Wilson Bulletin, v. 80, no. 4, p. 479–486.

May, R., Nygård, T., Falkdalen, U., Åström, J., Hamre, Ø., and Stokke, B.G., 2020, Paint it black—Efficacy of increased wind turbine rotor blade visibility to reduce avian fatalities: Ecology and Evolution, v. 10, no. 16, p. 8927–8935. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.1002/ece3.6592.]

Maynard, L.D., Therrien, J.F., Lemaître, J., Booms, T., Miller, T.A., Katzner, T., Somershoe, S., Cooper, J., Sargent, R., and Lecomte, N., 2022, Interannual consistency of migration phenology is season-and breeding region-specific in North American Golden Eagles: Ornithology, v. 139, no. 4, article ukac029. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.1093/ ornithology/ukac029.]

McCollister, M.F., and van Manen, F.T., 2010, Effectiveness of wildlife underpasses and fencing to reduce wildlifevehicle collisions: The Journal of Wildlife Management, v. 74, no. 8, p. 1722–1731. [Also available at https://doi. org/10.2193/2009-535.]

McFadzen, M.E., Vekasy, M.S., Morishita, T.Y., and Greve, J.H., 1996, Northern range extension for *Haematosiphon inodorus* (Dugès) (Hemiptera: Cimicidae): The Pan-Pacific Entomologist, v. 72, no. 1, p. 41–42.

McGahan, J., 1968, Ecology of the Golden Eagle: The Auk, v. 85, no. 1, p. 1–12. [Also available at https://doi. org/10.2307/4083617.]

McClure, C.J.W., Rolek, B.W., Dunn, L., McCabe, J.D., Martinson, L., and Katzner, T., 2021, Eagle fatalities are reduced by automated curtailment of wind turbines: Journal of Applied Ecology, v. 58, no. 3, p. 446–452. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2664.13831.]

McClure, C.J.W., Rolek, B.W., Dunn, L., McCabe, J.D., Martinson, L., and Katzner, T.E., 2022, Confirmation that eagle fatalities can be reduced by automated curtailment of wind turbines: Ecological Solutions and Evidence, v. 3, no. 3, p. e12173. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.1002/2688-8319.12173.]

McIntyre, C.L., 2004, Golden Eagles in Denali National Park and Preserve—Productivity and survival in relation to landscape characteristics of nesting territories: Corvallis, Oreg., Oregon State University, Ph.D. dissertation, 125 p. McIntyre, C.L., and Adams, L.G., 1999, Reproductive characteristics of migratory Golden Eagles in Denali National Park, Alaska: The Condor, v. 101, no. 1, p. 115–123. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.2307/1370452.]

McIntyre, C.L., Collopy, M.W., Kidd, J.G., Stickney, A.A., and Paynter, J., 2006, Characteristics of the landscape surrounding Golden Eagle nest sites in Denali National Park and Preserve, Alaska: The Journal of Raptor Research, v. 40, no. 1, p. 46–51. [Also available at https://doi. org/10.3356/0892-1016(2006)40[46:COTLSG]2.0.CO;2.]

Menkens, G.E., Jr., and Anderson, S.H., 1987, Nest site characteristics of a predominantly tree-nesting population of Golden Eagles: Journal of Field Ornithology, v. 58, no. 1, p. 22–25.

Mikula, E.J., Martz, G.F., and Ryel, L.A., 1977, A comparison of lead and steel shot for waterfowl hunting: Wildlife Society Bulletin, v. 5, no. 1, p. 3–8.

Milchunas, D.G., Lauenroth, W.K., and Burke, I.C., 1998, Livestock grazing—Animal and plant biodiversity of shortgrass steppe and the relationship to ecosystem function: Oikos, v. 83, no. 1, p. 65–74. [Also available at https://doi. org/10.2307/3546547.]

Milchunas, D.G., Lauenroth, W.K., Chapman, P.L., and Kazempour, M.K., 1989, Effects of grazing, topography, and precipitation on the structure of a semiarid grassland: Vegetatio, v. 80, no. 1, p. 11–23. [Also available at https:// doi.org/10.1007/BF00049137.]

Miller, R.F., and Rose, J.A., 1999, Fire history and western juniper encroachment in sagebrush steppe: Journal of Range Management, v. 52, no. 6, p. 550–559. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.2307/4003623.]

Miller R.F., and Tausch, R.J., 2001, The role of fire in pinyon and juniper woodlands—A descriptive analysis, *in* Galley, K.E.M. and Wilson T.P., eds., Proceedings of the invasive species workshop—The role of fire in the control and spread of invasive species: Tallahassee, Fla., Tall Timbers Research Station Miscellaneous Publication No. 11, p. 15–30.

Miller, T.A., Brooks, R.P., Lanzone, M.J., Cooper, J., O'Malley, K., Brandes, D., Duerr, A., and Katzner, T.E., 2017, Summer and winter space use and home range characteristics of Golden Eagles (*Aquila chrysaetos*) in eastern North America: The Condor, v. 119, no. 4, p 697–719. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.1650/CONDOR-16-154.1.]

Millsap, B.A., 1978, Raptor nesting and production in southern Wyoming during 1978: Denver, Colo., U.S. Department of the Interior, Bureau of Land Management, 27 p. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.5962/bhl.title.62850.] Millsap, B.A., 1981, Distributional status of Falconiformes in west central Arizona with notes on ecology, reproductive success and management: Phoenix, Ariz., U.S. Department of the Interior, Bureau of Land Management, 102 p.

Millsap, B.A., Grubb, T.G., Murphy, R.K., Swem, T., and Watson, J.W., 2015, Conservation significance of alternative nests of Golden Eagles: Global Ecology and Conservation, v. 3, p. 234–241. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.1016/j. gecco.2014.11.017.]

Millsap, B.A., Harmata, A.R., Stahlecker, D.W., and Mikesic, D.G., 2014, Natal dispersal distance of Bald and Golden eagles originating in the coterminous United States as inferred from band encounters: The Journal of Raptor Research, v. 48, no. 1, p. 13–23. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.3356/JRR-13-00005.1.]

Millsap, B.A., Zimmerman, G.S., Kendall, W.L., Barnes, J.G., Braham, M.A., Bedrosian, B.E., Bell, D.A., Bloom, P.H., Crandall, R.H., Domenech, R., Driscoll, D., Duerr, A.E., Gerhardt, R., Gibbs, S.E.J., Harmata, A.R., Jacobsen, K., Katzner, T.E., Knight, R.N., Lockhart, J.M., McIntyre, C., Murphy, R.K., Slater, S.J., Smith, B.W., Smith, J.P., Stahlecker, D.W., and Watson, J.W., 2022, Age-specific survival rates, causes of death, and allowable take of Golden Eagles in the western United States: Ecological Applications, v. 32, no. 3, p. e2544. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.1002/eap.2544.]

Milne-Laux, S., and Sweitzer, R.A., 2006, Experimentally induced colony expansion by black-tailed prairie dogs (*Cynomys ludovicianus*) and implications for conservation: Journal of Mammalogy, v. 87, no. 2, p. 296–303.
[Also available at https://doi.org/10.1644/05-MAMM-A-056R2.1.]

Mineau, P., Fletcher, M.R., Glaser, L.C., Thomas, N.J., Brassard, C., Wilson, L.K., Elliott, J.E., Lyon, L.A., Henny, C.J., Bollinger, T., and Porter, S.L., 1999, Poisoning of raptors with organophosphorus and carbamate pesticides with emphasis on Canada, US and UK: The Journal of Raptor Research, v. 33, no. 1, p. 1–37.

Mitchell, N.R., 2017, Assessment of Golden Eagles in the southern Great Plains and Trans Pecos Regions: Lubbock, Tex., Texas Tech University, Master's Thesis, 96 p.

Mitchell, N.R., Boal, C.W., and Skipper, B.R., 2020, Distribution, density, and land cover associations of wintering Golden Eagles in the southern Great Plains: Western North American Naturalist, v. 80, no. 4, p. 452–461. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.3398/064.080.0402.] Mojica, E.K., Dwyer, J.F., Harness, R.E., Williams, G.E., and Woodbridge, B., 2018, Review and synthesis of research investigating Golden Eagle electrocutions: The Journal of Wildlife Management, v. 82, no. 3, p. 495–506. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.1002/jwmg.21412.]

Mojica, E.K., Eccleston, D.T., and Harness, R.E., 2022, Importance of power pole selection when retrofitting for eagle compensatory mitigation: Journal of Fish and Wildlife Management, v. 13, no. 1, p. 1–9. [Also available at https:// doi.org/10.3996/JFWM-21-045.]

Montana Fish, Wildlife and Parks, 2021, Trapping and hunting regulations—Furbearer and trapping: Helena, Mont., Montana Fish, Wildlife and Parks, 16 p.

Morefield, P.E., LeDuc, S.D., Clark, C.M., and Iovanna, R., 2016, Grasslands, wetlands, and agriculture—The fate of land expiring from the Conservation Reserve Program in the midwestern United States: Environmental Research Letters, v. 11, no. 9, article 094005. [Also available at https://doi. org/10.1088/1748-9326/11/9/094005.]

Morneau, F., Tremblay, J.A., Todd, C., Chubbs, T.E., Maisonneuve, C., Lemaître, J., and Katzner, T., 2015, Known breeding distribution and abundance of Golden Eagles in eastern North America: Northeastern Naturalist, v. 22, no. 2, p. 236–247. [Also available at https://doi. org/10.1656/045.022.0201.]

- Morse, W.B., 1973, Law enforcement—One third of the triangle: Wildlife Society Bulletin, v. 1, no. 1, p. 39–44.
- Mosher, J.A., and White, C.M., 1976, Directional exposure of Golden Eagle nests: Canadian Field-Naturalist, v. 90, no. 3, p. 356–359.
- Moss, E.H.R., Hipkiss, T., Ecke, F., Dettki, H., Sandström, P., Bloom, P.H., Kidd, J.W., Thomas, S.E., and Hörnfeldt, B., 2014, Home-range size and examples of post-nesting movements for adult Golden Eagles (*Aquila chrysaetos*) in boreal Sweden: The Journal of Raptor Research, v. 48, p. 93–105. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.3356/JRR-13-00044.1.]

Mowbray, T.B., Cooke, F., and Ganter, B., 2020, Snow Goose (*Anser caerulescens*) (ver. 1.0), *in* Rodewald, P.G., ed., Birds of the World: Ithaca, N.Y., Cornell Lab of Ornithology, accessed March 2022 at https://birdsoftheworld.org/bow/species/snogoo/cur. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.2173/bow.snogoo.01.]

Mulero-Pázmány, M., Stolper, R., Van Essen, L.D., Negro, J.J., and Sassen, T., 2014, Remotely piloted aircraft systems as a rhinoceros anti-poaching tool in Africa: PLoS One, v. 9, no. 1, p. e83873. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.1371/ journal.pone.0083873.]

Murphy, R.K., 1993, History, nesting biology, and predation ecology of breeding raptors in the Missouri Coteau of northwestern North Dakota: Bozeman, Mont., Montana State University, Ph.D. Dissertation, 212 p.

Murphy, R.K., Dunk, J.R., Woodbridge, B., Stahlecker, D.W., LaPlante, D.W., Millsap, B.A., and Jacobson, K.B., 2017, First-year dispersal of Golden Eagles from natal areas in the southwestern United States and implications for secondyear settling: The Journal of Raptor Research, v. 51, no. 3, p. 216–233. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.3356/JRR-16-80.1.]

Murphy, R.K., Millsap, B.A., Stahlecker, D.W., Boal, C.W., Smith, B.W., Mullican, S.D., and Borgman, C.C., 2023, Ectoparasitism and energy infrastructure limit survival of preadult Golden Eagles in the southern Great Plains: The Journal of Raptor Research, v. 57, no. 4.

Murphy, R.K., and Smith, K.A., 2007, Swainson's Hawks gather to forage at fires on a northern prairie: Blue Jay, v. 65, no. 2, p. 78–81. [Also available at https://doi. org/10.29173/bluejay5734.]

Murphy, R.K., and Smith, K.A., 2019, Sharp-tailed Grouse (*Tympanuchus phasianellus*) population dynamics and restoration of fire-dependent northern mixed-grass prairie: Canadian Field-Naturalist, v. 133, no. 3, p. 253–262. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.22621/cfn.v133i3.2115.]

Murphy, R.K., and Stahlecker, D.W., 2022, Nesting chronology of Golden Eagles in the southern Great Plains: New Mexico Ornithological Society Bulletin, v. 50, no. 1, p. 1–6.

Murray, W.F., 2009, "The Gods Above Have Come"—A contemporary analysis of the eagle as a cultural resource in the northern Plains: Tucson, Ariz., University of Arizona, Master's Thesis.

Murray, W.F., 2011, Feathers, fasting, and the eagle complex—A contemporary analysis of the eagle as a cultural resource in the northern Plains: Plains Anthropologist, v. 56, no. 218, p. 143–153. [Also available at https://doi. org/10.1179/pan.2011.013.]

Murray, W.F., Laluk, N.C., Mills, B.J., and Ferguson, T.J., 2009, Archaeological collaboration with American Indians—Case Studies from the western United States: Collaborative Anthropologies, v. 2, no. 1, p. 65–86. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.1353/cla.0.0019.]

Nandutu, I., Atemkeng, M., and Okouma, P., 2022, Intelligent systems using sensors and/or machine learning to mitigate wildlife-vehicle collisions—A review, challenges, and new perspectives: Sensors, v. 22, no. 7, p. 1–47. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.3390/s22072478.]

National Renewable Energy Laboratory, 2017, Wind resource maps and data, high resolution wind data: U.S. wind speed at 80-meter above surface level: Golden, Colo., U.S. Department of Energy, National Renewable Energy Laboratory, accessed March 2022 at https://www.nrel.gov/gis/ wind-resource-maps.html.

Natural Resources Conservation Service, 2012, Wildlife escape ramps for livestock watering troughs: Portland, Oreg., U.S. Department of Agriculture, Natural Resources Conservation Service, 2 p.

Neilson, R.P., Lenihan, J.M., Bachelet, D., and Drapek, R.J., 2005, Climate change implications for sagebrush ecosystems: Transactions of the North American Wildlife and Natural Resources Conference, v. 70, p. 146–159.

Nemeth, N., Gould, D., Bowen, R., and Komar, N., 2006, Natural and experimental West Nile virus infection in five raptor species: Journal of Wildlife Diseases, v. 42, no. 1, p. 1–13. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.7589/0090-3558-42.1.1.]

New, L., Bjerre, E., Millsap, B., Otto, M.C., and Runge, M.C., 2015, A collision risk model to predict avian fatalities at wind facilities—An example using Golden Eagles, *Aquila chrysaetos*: PLoS One, v. 10, no. 7, p. e0130978. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0130978.]

New, L., Simonis, J.L., Otto, M.C., Bjerre, E., Runge, M.C., and Millsap, B., 2020, Adaptive management to improve eagle conservation at terrestrial wind facilities: Conservation Science and Practice, v. 3, no. 8, p. e449. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.1111/csp2.449.]

New Mexico Game and Fish Department, 2022, New Mexico furbearer rules and regulations: Santa Fe, N. Mex., New Mexico Game and Fish Department, 22 p.

Newton, I., 1979, Population ecology of raptors: Berkhamsted, England, ET & AD Poyser Ltd., 399 p.

Newton, I., 1998, Population limitation in birds: San Diego, Calif., Academic Press, 597 p.

Newton, I., Shore, R.F., Wyllie, I., Birks, J.D.S., and Dale, L., 1999, Empirical evidence of side-effects of rodenticides on some predatory birds and mammals, *in* Cowan, D.P., and Feare, C.J., eds., Advances in vertebrate pest management: Fürth, Germany, Filander Verlag, p. 347–367.

Niedringhaus, K.D., Nemeth, N.M., Gibbs, S., Zimmerman, J., Shender, L., Slankard, K., Fenton, H., Charlie, B., Dalton, M.F., Elsmo, E.J., and Poppenga, R., 2021, Anticoagulant rodenticide exposure and toxicosis in Bald Eagles (*Haliaeetus leucocephalus*) and Golden Eagles (*Aquila chrysaetos*) in the United States: PLoS One, v. 16, no. 4, p. e0246134. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0246134.] Noguera, J.C., Perez, I., and Minguez, E., 2010, Impact of terrestrial wind farms on diurnal raptors—Developing a spatial vulnerability index and potential vulnerability maps: Ardeola, v. 57, no. 1, p. 41–53.

Nordberg, E.J., Caley, M.J., and Schwarzkopf, L., 2021, Designing solar farms for synergistic commercial and conservation outcomes: Solar Energy, v. 228, p. 586–593. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.1016/j.solener.2021.09.090.]

North Dakota Game and Fish Department, 2021, Furbearer hunting and trapping guide: Bismarck, N. Dak., North Dakota Game and Fish Department, 6 p.

O'Gara, B.W., and Rightmire, W., 1987, Wolf, Golden Eagle, and coyote problems in Montana: Proceedings of the Eastern Wildlife Damage Control Conference, v. 3. paper no. 42, p. 275–283.

O'Halloran, J., Myers, A.A., and Duggan, P.F., 1989, Some sub-lethal effects of lead on Mute Swan *Cygnus olor*: Journal of Zoology, v. 218, no. 4, p. 627–632. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-7998.1989.tb05004.x.]

O'Neil, T.A., 1988, An analysis of bird electrocutions in Montana: The Journal of Raptor Research, v. 22, no. 1, p. 27–28.

Olendorff, R.R., 1973, The ecology of the nesting birds of prey of northeastern Colorado: Fort Collins, Colo., Natural Resource Ecology Laboratory, Colorado State University, 233 p.

Olendorff, R.R., and Lehman, R.N., 1986, Raptor collisions with utility lines—An analysis using subjective field observations, final report: San Ramon, Calif., Pacific Gas and Electric Company, Research and Development, 100 p.

Olson, L.E., Oakleaf, R.J., Squires, J.R., Wallace, Z.P., and Kennedy, P.L., 2015, Nesting pair density and abundance of Ferruginous Hawks (*Buteo regalis*) and Golden Eagles (*Aquila chrysaetos*) from aerial surveys in Wyoming: The Journal of Raptor Research, v. 49, no. 4, p. 400–412. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.3356/rapt-49-04-400-412.1.]

Orr, R.T., 1940, The rabbits of California: Occasional Papers of the California Academy of Sciences, v. 19, p. 1–227.

Ott, J.P., Hanberry, B.B., Khalil, M., Paschke, M.W., Post van der Burg, M., and Prenni, A.J., 2021, Energy development and production in the Great Plains—Implications and mitigation opportunities: Rangeland Ecology and Management, v. 78, p. 257–272. [Also available at https://doi. org/10.1016/j.rama.2020.05.003.]

Pagel, J.E., Kritz, K.J., Millsap, B.A., Murphy, R.K., Kershner, E.L., and Covington, S., 2013, Bald Eagle and Golden Eagle mortalities at wind energy facilities in the contiguous United States: The Journal of Raptor Research, v. 47, no. 3, p. 311–316. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.3356/JRR-12-00019.1.] Pain, D.J., Mateo, R., and Green, R.E., 2019, Effects of lead from ammunition on birds and other wildlife—A review and update: Ambio, v. 48, no. 9, p. 935–953. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.1007/s13280-019-01159-0.]

Palmer, R.S., ed., 1988, The handbook of North American birds, volume 5: New Haven, Conn., Yale University Press, 465 p.

Paprocki, N., Heath, J.A., and Novak, S.J., 2014, Regional distribution shifts help explain local changes in wintering raptor abundance—Implications for interpreting population trends: PLoS One, v. 9, no. 1, p. e86814. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0086814.]

Parmenter, R.R., and MacMahon, J.A., 1992, Faunal community development, *in* Chambers, J.C., and Wade, G.L. (eds.), Proceedings of the symposium on evaluating reclamation success—The ecological consideration: Radnor, Penn., U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Northeastern Forest Experiment Station, General Technical Report NE-164, p. 73–90.

Parmenter, R.R., MacMahon, J.A., Waaland, M.E., Stuebe, M.M., Landres, P., and Crisafulli, C.M., 1985, Reclamation of surface coal mines in western Wyoming for wildlife habitat—A preliminary analysis: Reclamation and Revegetation Research (Netherlands), v. 4, no. 2, p. 93–115.

Parry-Jones, J., Nicholls, M., and Farmer, G.C., 2007, Public education, *in* Bird, D.M., and Bildstein, K.L., eds., Raptor Research and Management Techniques: Blain, Wash., Hancock House Publishers, Ltd., p. 423–435.

Pattee, O.H., Bloom, P.H., Scott, J.M., and Smith, M.R., 1990, Lead hazards within the range of the California Condor: The Condor, v. 92, no. 4, p. 931–937. [Also available at https:// doi.org/10.2307/1368729.]

Pauli, B.P., Spaul, R.J., and Heath, J.A., 2017, Forecasting disturbance effects on wildlife—Tolerance does not mitigate effects of increased recreation on wildlands: Animal Conservation, v. 20, no. 3, p. 251–260. [Also available at https:// doi.org/10.1111/acv.12308.]

Pellant, M., and Hall, C., 1994, Distribution of two exotic grasses on public lands in the Great Basin—Status in 1992, *in* S.B. Monsen and S.G. Kitchen, compilers, Proceedings—Ecology and management of annual rangelands: Ogden, Utah, U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Intermountain Research Station, General Technical Report INT-GTR-313, p. 109–112.

Peterson, A.T., 2003, Projected climate change effects on Rocky Mountain and Great Plains birds—Generalities of biodiversity consequences: Global Change Biology, v. 9, no. 5, p. 647–655. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.1046/ j.1365-2486.2003.00616.x.]

Phillips, R.L., 1986, Current issues concerning the management of Golden Eagles in western USA: Birds of Prey Bulletin, v. 3, p. 149–153.

Phillips, R.L., and Beske, A.E., 1990, Distribution and abundance of Golden Eagles and other raptors in Campbell and Converse counties, Wyoming: Washington, D.C., U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service, Fish and Wildlife Technical Report 27, 31 p.

Phillips, R.L., and Blom, F.S., 1988, Distribution and magnitude of eagle/livestock conflicts in the western United States: Proceedings of the Vertebrate Pest Conference, v. 13, p. 241–244.

Phillips, R.L., McEneaney, T.P., and Beske, A.E., 1984, Population densities of breeding Golden Eagles in Wyoming: Wildlife Society Bulletin, v. 12, no. 3, p. 269–273.

Phillips, R.L., Wheeler, A.H., Forrester, N.C., Lockhart, J.M., and McEneaney, T.P., 1990, Nesting ecology of Golden Eagles and other raptors in southeastern Montana and northern Wyoming: Washington, D.C., U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service, Technical Report 26, 13 p.

Platt, S.W., 1975, The Mexican chicken bug as a source of raptor mortality: The Wilson Bulletin, v. 87, no. 4, p. 557.

Plumb, G.E., and Dodd, J.L., 1994, Foraging ecology of bison and cattle: Rangelands, v. 16, no. 3, p. 107–109.

Pocewicz, A., Copeland, H., and Kiesecker, J., 2011, Potential impacts of energy development on shrublands in western North America: Natural Resources and Environmental Issues, v. 17, no. 1, p. 1–5.

Poole, K.G., and Bromley, R.G., 1988, Interrelationships within a raptor guild in the central Canadian Arctic: Canadian Journal of Zoology, v. 66, no. 10, p. 2275–2282. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.1139/z88-338.]

Postovit, H.R., Grier, J.W., Lockhart, J.M., and Tate, J., Jr., 1982, Directed relocation of a Golden Eagle nest site: The Journal of Wildlife Management, v. 46, no. 4, p. 1045–1048. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.2307/3808237.]

Postovit, H.R., and Postovit, B.C., 1987, Impacts and mitigation techniques, *in* Giron Pendledton, B.A., Millsap, B.A., Cline, K.W., and Bird, D.M., eds., Raptor management techniques manual: Washington, D.C. National Wildlife Federation, p. 183–213.

Postovit, H.R., and Postovit, B.C., 1989, Mining and energy development: Washington, D.C., Proceedings of the Western Raptor Management Symposium and Workshop, National Wildlife Federation Scientific and Technical Series, no. 12, p. 167–172. Preston, C.R., Jones, R.E., and Horton, N.S., 2017, Golden Eagle diet breadth and reproduction in relation to fluctuations in primary prey abundance in Wyoming's Bighorn Basin: The Journal of Raptor Research, v. 51, no. 3, p. 334–346. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.3356/JRR-16-39.1.]

Preston, T.M., and Kim, K., 2016, Land cover changes associated with recent energy development in the Williston Basin; northern Great Plains, USA: The Science of the Total Environment, v. 566, p. 1511–1518. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2016.06.038.]

Proulx, G., 2011, Field evidence of non-target and secondary poisoning by strychnine and chlorophacinone used to control Richardson's ground squirrels in southwest Saskatchewan: Proceedings of the Prairie Conservation and Endangered Species Conference, v. 9, p. 128–134.

Pyke, D.A., Chambers, J.C., Beck, J.L., Brooks, M.L., and Mealor, B.A., 2016, Land uses, fire, and invasion—Exotic annual *Bromus* and human dimensions, *in* Germino, M. Chambers, J.C., and Brown, C.S., eds., Exotic bromegrasses in arid and semi-arid ecosystems of the western US—Causes, consequences, and management implications: Switzerland, Springer International Publishing, p. 307–337. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-24930-8_11.]

Ralph, C.J., Geupel, G.R., Pyle, P., Martin, T.E., and DeSante, D.F., 1993, Handbook of field methods for monitoring landbirds: Albany, Calif., U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Pacific Southwest Research Station, General Technical Report PSW-GTR-144, 41 p.

Reading, R.P., and Matchett, R., 1997, Attributes of blacktailed prairie dog colonies in northcentral Montana: The Journal of Wildlife Management, v. 61, no. 3, p. 664–673. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.2307/3802174.]

Reichel, W.L., Cromartie, E., Lamont, T.G., Mulhern, B.M., and Prouty, R.M., 1969, Pesticide residues in eagles: Pesticides Monitoring Journal, v. 3, no. 3, p. 142–144.

Reid, C.R., Goodrich, S., and Bowns, J.E., 2008, Cheatgrass and red brome—History and biology of two invaders, *in* Kitchen, S.G. Pendleton, R.L. Monaco, T.A., and Vernon J., compilers, Proceedings—Shrublands under fire—Disturbance and recovery in a changing world: Fort Collins, Colo., U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Rocky Mountain Research Station: Proceedings RMRS-P-52, p. 27–32.

Reynolds, H.V., III, 1969, Population status of the Golden Eagle in south-central Montana: Missoula, Mont., University of Montana, Master's Thesis, 61 p. Richardson, C.T., and Miller, C.K., 1997, Recommendations for protecting raptors from human disturbance—A review: Wildlife Society Bulletin, v. 25, no. 3, p. 634–638.

Riley, T.Z., 2004, Private-land habitat opportunities for prairie grouse through federal conservation programs: Wildlife Society Bulletin, v. 32, no. 1, p. 83–91. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.2193/0091-7648(2004)32[83:PHOFPG]2 .0.CO;2.]

Rischette, A.C., Geaumont, B.A., Elmore, R.D., Schauer, C.S., Sedivec, K.K., and Hovick, T.J., 2021, Duck nest density and survival in post-Conservation Reserve Program lands: Wildlife Society Bulletin, v. 45, no. 4, p. 630–637. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.1002/wsb.1233.]

Roberts, T.S., 1932, The birds of Minnesota, volume 1: Minneapolis, Minn., University of Minnesota Press, 691 p.

Rood, S.B., Goater, L.A., Mahoney, J.M., Pearce, C.M., and Smith, D.G., 2007, Floods, fire, and ice—Disturbance ecology of riparian cottonwoods: Botany, v. 85, no. 11, p. 1019– 1032. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.1139/B07-073.]

Rosenfield, R.N., Grier, J.W., Fyfe, R.W., Bird, D.M., and Bildstein, K.L., 2007, Reducing research and management disturbance of nesting raptors, *in* Bird, D.M., and Bildstein, K.L., eds., Raptor Research and Management Techniques: Blaine, Wash., and Surrey, British Columbia, Hancock House Publishers, p. 351–364.

Roster, T., 1983, Steel shot—A national perspective: Transactions of the Western Section of The Wildlife Society, v. 19, p. 126–137.

Russell, R.E., and Franson, J.C., 2014, Causes of mortality in eagles submitted to the National Wildlife Health Center 1975–2013: Wildlife Society Bulletin, v. 38, no. 4, p. 697– 704. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.1002/wsb.469.]

Ryder, R.A., 1972, Avian population studies on the Pawnee Site, 1968–1971: Fort Collins, Colo., Colorado State University, U.S. International Biological Program, Grassland Biome Technical Report 171, 62 p.

Samson, F.B., and Knopf, F.L., eds., 1996, Prairie conservation—Preserving North America's most endangered ecosystem: Washington, D.C., Island Press, 109 p.

Samson, F.B., Knopf, F.L., and Oslie, W.R., 2004, Great Plains ecosystems—Past, present, and future: Wildlife Society Bulletin, v. 32, no. 1, p. 6–15. [Also available at https://doi. org/10.2193/0091-7648(2004)32[6:GPEPPA]2.0.CO;2.] Sanderson, R.H., 1959, Relationship between jackrabbit use and availability of forage on native Sandhills range: Fort Collins, Colo., Colorado State University, Master's Thesis, 85 p.

Sandhu, R., Tripp, C., Quon, E., Thedin, R., Lawson, M., Brandes, D., Farmer, C.J., Miller, T.A., Draxl, C., Doubrawa, P., Williams, L., Duerr, A.E., Braham, M.A., and Katzner, T., 2022. Stochastic agent-based model for predicting turbine-scale raptor movements during updraftsubsidized directional flights: Ecological Modelling, v. 466, article 109876. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ecolmodel.2022.109876.]

Santos, R.A.L., Ascensão, F., Ribeiro, M.L., Bager, A., Santos-Reis, M., and Aguiar, L.M.S., 2017, Assessing the consistency of hotspot and hot-moment patterns of wildlife road mortality over time: Perspectives in Ecology and Conservation, v. 15, no. 1, p. 56–60. [Also available at https://doi. org/10.1016/j.pecon.2017.03.003.]

Santos, R.A.L., Mota-Ferreira, M., Aguiar, L.M.S., and Ascensão, F., 2018, Predicting wildlife road-crossing probability from roadkill data using occupancy-detection models: The Science of the Total Environment, v. 642, p. 629–637. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2018.06.107.]

Savage, J., Claassen, R., Breneman, V.E., Loesch, C., and Williams, R., 2014, Additionality in conservation easements programs—Grassland easements in the Prairie Pothole Region: Minneapolis, Minn., Presentation at the Agricultural and Applied Economics Association's annual meeting, 11 p.

Scanlon, B.R., Reedy, R.C., Male, F., and Walsh, M., 2017, Water issues related to transitioning from conventional to unconventional oil production in the Permian Basin: Environmental Science and Technology, v. 51, no. 18, p. 10903–10912. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.1021/ acs.est.7b02185.]

Schmalzried, J.T., 1976, Nesting and food habits of the Golden Eagle on the Laramie Plains: Laramie, Wyo., University of Wyoming, Master's Thesis, 86 p.

Schueler, D.G., 1982, Incident at Eagle Ranch—Man and predator in the American West: San Francisco, Calif., Sierra Club Books, 287 p.

Schumacher, K.W., Wonkka, C.L., Volesky, J.D., and Twidwell, D., 2016, Prairie dog legislation and Burrowing Owls in Nebraska: Lincoln, Nebr., University of Nebraska, Institute of Agriculture and Natural Resources, Nebraska Extension, 6 p.

Schweiger, A., Fünfstück, H.J., and Beierkuhnlein, C., 2015, Availability of optimal-sized prey affects global distribution patterns of the Golden Eagle *Aquila chrysaetos*: Journal of Avian Biology, v. 46, v. 1, p. 81–88. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.1111/jav.00396.]

Scott, S.J., and Bollinger, T.K., 2015, The causes of eagle mortality in Saskatchewan, 1992–2012: Canadian Wildlife Biology and Management, v. 4, no. 1, p. 31–39.

Scott, T.A., 1985, Human impacts on the Golden Eagle population of San Diego County from 1928 to 1981: San Diego, Calif., San Diego State University, Master's Thesis, 99 p.

Sengupta, M., Xie, Y., Lopez, A., Habte, A., Maclaurin, G., and Shelby, J., 2018, The National Solar Radiation Data Base (NSRDB): Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews, v. 89, p. 51–60. [Also available at https://doi. org/10.1016/j.rser.2018.03.003.]

Shaffer, J.A., Igl, L.D., and Johnson, D.H., 2019, The effects of management practices on grassland birds—Rates of Brown-headed Cowbird (*Molothrus ater*) parasitism in nests of North American grassland birds, chap. PP of Johnson, D.H., Igl, L.D., Shaffer, J.A., and DeLong, J.P., eds., The effects of management practices on grassland birds: U.S. Geological Survey Professional Paper 1842, 24 p. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.3133/pp1842PP.]

Sharps, J.C., and Uresk, D.W., 1990, Ecological review of black-tailed prairie dogs and associated species in western South Dakota: The Great Basin Naturalist, v. 50, no. 4, p. 339–345.

Shields, L., 2022, Pulling the trigger on hunting regulations for lead ammunition: Villanova Environmental Law Journal, v. 33, no. 1, p. 85–112.

Short, K.C., Finney, M.A., Scott, J.H., Gilbertson-Day, J.W., and Grenfell, I.C., 2016, Spatial dataset of probabilistic wildfire risk components for the conterminous United States, first edition: Fort Collins, Colo., U.S. Forest Service, Forest Service Research Data Archive. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.2737/RDS-2016-0034.]

Sieg, R., Sullivan, K.A., and Parish, C.N., 2009, Voluntary lead reduction efforts within the northern Arizona range of the California Condor, *in* Watson, R.T., Fuller, M., Pokras, M., and Hunt, W.G., eds., Ingestion of lead from spent ammunition—Implications for wildlife and humans: Boise, Idaho, The Peregrine Fund, p. 341–349. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.4080/ilsa.2009.0309.]

Simes, M.T., Longshore, K.M., Nussear, K.E., Beatty, G.L., Brown, D.E., and Esque, T.C., 2015, Black-tailed and white-tailed jackrabbits in the American West—History, ecology, ecological significance, and survey methods: Western North American Naturalist, v. 75, no. 4, p. 491–519. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.3398/064.075.0406.] Slabe, V.A., Anderson, J.T., Millsap, B.A., Cooper, J.L., Harmata, A.R., Restani, M., Crandall, R.H., Bodenstein, B., Bloom, P.H., Booms, T., Buchweitz, J., Culver, R., Dickerson, K., Domenech, R., Dominguez-Villegas, E., Driscoll, D., Smith, B.W., Lockhart, M.J., McRuer, D., Miller, T.A., Ortiz, P.A., Rogers, K., Schwarz, D., Turley, N., Woodbridge, B., Finkelstein, M.E., Triana, C.A., Desorbo, C.R., and Katzner, T.E., 2022, Demographic implications of lead poisoning for eagles across North America: Science, v. 375, no. 6582, p. 779–782. [Also available https://doi. org/10.1126/science.abj3068.]

Slater, S.J., Keller, K.R., and Knight, R.N., 2017, Interannual Golden Eagle (*Aquila chrysaetos*) nest-use patterns in central Utah—Implications for long-term nest protection: The Journal of Raptor Research, v. 51, no. 2, p. 129–135. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.3356/JRR-15-50.1.]

Slater, S.J., Maloney, D.M., and Taylor, J.M., 2022, Golden Eagle use of winter roadkill and response to vehicles in the western United States: The Journal of Wildlife Management, v. 86, no. 6, p. e22246. [Also available at https://doi. org/10.1002/jwmg.22246.]

Sleeter, B.M., Sohl, T.L., Bouchard, M.A., Reker, R.R., Soulard, C.E., Acevedo, W., Griffith, G.E., Sleeter, R.R., Auch, R.F., Sayler, K.L., Prisley, S., and Zhu, Z., 2012, Scenarios of land use and land cover change in the conterminous United States—Utilizing the special report on emission scenarios at ecoregional scales: Global Environmental Change, v. 22, no. 4, p. 896–914. [Also available at https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.gloenvcha.2012.03.008.]

Smallwood, K.S., 2017, The challenges of addressing wildlife impacts when repowering wind energy projects, *in* Köppel, J., ed., Wind energy and wildlife interactions: Berlin, Germany, Springer, p. 175–187. [Also available at https:// doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-51272-3 10.]

Smallwood, K.S., and Karas, B., 2009, Avian and bat fatality rates at old-generation and repowered wind turbines in California: The Journal of Wildlife Management, v. 73, no. 7, p. 1062–1071. [Also available at https://doi. org/10.2193/2008-464.]

Smallwood, K.S., Neher, L., and Bell, D.A., 2009a, Mapbased repowering and reorganization of a wind resource area to minimize Burrowing Owl and other bird fatalities: Energies, v. 2, no. 4, p. 915–943. [Also available at https:// doi.org/10.3390/en20400915.]

Smallwood, K.S., Neher, L., Bell, D.A., Didonato, J.E., Karas, B.R., Snyder, S.A., and Lopez, S.R., 2008, Range management practices to reduce wind turbine impacts on Burrowing Owls and other raptors in the Altamont Pass Wind Resource Area, California: Oakland, Calif., California Energy Commission, PIER Energy-Related Environmental Research Program CEC-500-2008-080, 183 p. Smallwood, K.S., Rugge, L., and Morrison, M.L., 2009b, Influence of behavior on bird mortality in wind energy developments: The Journal of Wildlife Management, v. 73, no. 7, p. 1082–1098. [Also available at https://doi. org/10.2193/2008-555.]

Smallwood, K.S., and Thelander, C., 2008, Bird mortality in the Altamont Pass Wind Resource Area, California: The Journal of Wildlife Management, v. 72, no. 1, p. 215–223. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.2193/2007-032.]

Smart, A.J., Dunn, B.H., Johnson, P.S., Xu, L., and Gates, R.N., 2007, Using weather data to explain herbage yield on three Great Plains plant communities: Rangeland Ecology and Management, v. 60, no. 2, p. 146–153. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.2111/05-099R4.1.]

Smith, A.M., 2016, Native American use of eagle feathers under the Religious Freedom Restoration Act: University of Cincinnati Law Review, v. 84, no. 2, p. 575–594.

Smith, J.P., Lenihan, C.M., and Zirpoli, J.A., 2020, Golden Eagle breeding response to utility-scale solar development and prolonged drought in California: The Journal of Raptor Research, v. 54, no. 2, p. 154–165. [Also available at https:// doi.org/10.3356/0892-1016-54.2.154.]

Smith, J.P., Slater, S.J., and Neal, M.C., 2010, An assessment of the effects of oil and gas field activities on nesting raptors in the Rawlins, Wyoming and Price, Utah field offices of the Bureau of Land Management: Washington, D.C., U.S. Department of the Interior, Bureau of Land Management, 63 p.

Sodhi, N.S., 2002, Competition in the air—Birds versus aircraft: The Auk, v. 119, no. 3, p. 587–595. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.1093/auk/119.3.587.]

Sohl, T.L., Sleeter, B.M., Zhu, Z., Sayler, K.L., Bennett, S., Bouchard, M., Reker, R., Hawbaker, T., Wein, A., Liu, S., Kanengieter, R., and Acevedo, W., 2012, A land-use and land-cover modeling strategy to support a national assessment of carbon stocks and fluxes: Applied Geography, v. 34, p. 111–124. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.1016/j. apgeog.2011.10.019.]

South Dakota Game, Fish and Parks, 2021, South Dakota hunting and trapping regulations handbook: Pierre, S. Dak., South Dakota Game, Fish and Parks, 120 p.

South Dakota Ornithologists' Union, 1991, The birds of South Dakota, revised edition: Aberdeen, S. Dak., South Dakota Ornithologists' Union, 411 p. Spaul, R.J., and Heath, J.A., 2016, Nonmotorized recreation and motorized recreation in shrub-steppe habitats affects behavior and reproduction of Golden Eagles (*Aquila chrysaetos*): Ecology and Evolution, v. 6, no. 22, p. 8037–8049. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.1002/ece3.2540.]

Spaul, R.J., and Heath, J.A., 2017, Flushing responses of Golden Eagles (*Aquila chrysaetos*) in response to recreation: The Wilson Journal of Ornithology, v. 129, no. 4, p. 834–845. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.1676/16-165.1.]

Squires, J.R., Olson, L.E., Wallace, Z.P., Oakleaf, R.J., and Kennedy, P.L., 2020, Resource selection of apex raptors— Implications for siting energy development in sagebrush and prairie ecosystems: Ecosphere, v. 11, no. 8, p. e03204. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.1002/ecs2.3204.]

Stahlecker, D.W., Cartron, J.-L.E., and Mikesic, D.G., 2010, Golden Eagle, *in* Cartron, J.-L., ed., The raptors of New Mexico: Albuquerque, N. Mex., University of New Mexico Press, p. 371–391.

Stahlecker, D.W., Mikesic, D.G., White, J.N., Shaffer, S., DeLong, J.P., Blakemore, M.R., and Blakemore, C.E., 2009, Prey remains in nests of four corners Golden Eagles, 1998–2008: Western Birds, v. 40, no. 4, p. 301–306.

Stahlecker, D.W., Wallace, Z.P., Mikesic, D.G., Boal, C.W., Murphy, R.K., Howe, W.H., and Ruehmann, M.B., 2022, Golden Eagle breeding area distribution in wind energy landscapes of the southern Great Plains: The Journal of Raptor Research, v. 56, no. 4, p. 387–397. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.3356/JRR-21-68.]

State of Minnesota, 2021, Nontoxic ammunition required, State of Minnesota, House of Representatives, ninetysecond session: H.F. no. 2556, Section 1 [97B.032], accessed February 2022 at https://www.revisor.mn.gov/ bills/text.php?number=HF2556&version=0&session_ year=2021&session_number=0&format=pdf.

State of New York, 2021, Prohibits using toxic ammunition in the taking of wildlife: The New York State Senate, 2021– 2022 Legislative Session, Assembly Bill A3614, accessed February 2022 at https://www.nysenate.gov/legislation/ bills/2021/A3614.

Steenhof, K., Brown, J.L., and Kochert, M.N., 2014, Temporal and spatial changes in Golden Eagle reproduction in relation to increased off highway vehicle activity: Wildlife Society Bulletin, v. 38, no. 4, p. 682–688. [Also available at https:// doi.org/10.1002/wsb.451.]

Steenhof, K., Kochert, M.N., and Doremus, J.H., 1983, Nesting of subadult Golden Eagles in southwestern Idaho: The Auk, v. 100, no. 3, p. 743–747. [Also available at https:// doi.org/10.1093/auk/100.3.743.]

Steenhof, K., Kochert, M.N., and McDonald, T.L., 1997, Interactive effects of prey and weather on Golden Eagle reproduction: Journal of Animal Ecology, v. 66, no. 3, p. 350– 362. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.2307/5981.]

Steenhof, K., Kochert, M.N., and McIntyre, C.L., 2017, Coming to terms about describing Golden Eagle reproduction: The Journal of Raptor Research, v. 51, no. 3, p. 378–390. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.3356/JRR-16-46.1.]

Steenhof, K., Kochert, M.N., and Roppe, J.A., 1993, Nesting by raptors and Common Ravens on electrical transmission line towers: The Journal of Wildlife Management, v. 57, no. 2, p. 271–281. [Also available at https://doi. org/10.2307/3809424.]

Steidl, R.J., Kozie, K.D., Dodge, G.J., Pehowski, T., and Hogan, R.E., 1993, Effects of human activity on breeding behavior of Golden Eagles in Wrangell-St. Elias National Park and Preserve—A preliminary assessment: Copper Center, Alaska, National Park Service, WRST Research and Resource Management Report No. 93-3.

Stevens, B.S., Connelly, J.W., and Reese, K.P., 2012, Multiscale assessment of greater sage-grouse fence collision as a function of site and broad scale factors: The Journal of Wildlife Management, v. 76, no. 7, p. 1370–1380. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.1002/jwmg.397.]

Stevenson, A.L., Scheuhammer, A.M., and Chan, H.M., 2005, Effects of nontoxic shot regulations on lead accumulation in ducks and American Woodcock in Canada: Archives of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology, v. 48, no. 3, p. 405–413. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.1007/ s00244-004-0044-x.]

Stewart, R.E., 1975, Breeding birds of North Dakota: Fargo, N. Dak., Tri-College Center for Environmental Studies, 295 p.

Stone, W.B., Okoniewski, J.C., and Stedelin, J.R., 1999, Poisoning of wildlife with anticoagulant rodenticides in New York: Journal of Wildlife Diseases, v. 35, no. 2, p. 187–193. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.7589/0090-3558-35.2.187.]

Sullivan, K., Sieg, R., and Parish, C., 2007, Arizona's efforts to reduce lead exposure in California Condors, *in* Mee, A., Hall, L.S., and Grantham, J., eds., California Condors in the 21st century: Washington, D.C., American Ornithologists' Union and Cambridge, Mass., Nuttall Ornithological Club, Series in Ornithology no. 2, p. 109–121. Sullivan, T.L., Williams, A.F., Messmer, T.A., Hellinga, L.A., and Kyrychenko, S.Y., 2004, Effectiveness of temporary warning signs in reducing deer-vehicle collisions during mule deer migrations: Wildlife Society Bulletin, v. 32, no. 3, p. 907–915. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.2193/0091-7648(2004)032[0907:EOTWSI]2.0.CO;2.]

Suter, G.W., II, and Joness, J.L., 1981, Criteria for Golden Eagle, Ferruginous Hawk, and Prairie Falcon nest site protection: Raptor Research, v. 15, no. 1, p. 12–18.

Sutton, J.D., 1984, Land use in the Great Plains: Washington, D.C., U.S. Department of Agriculture, Economic Research Service, Natural Resource Economics Division, ERS Staff Report no. AGES 840329, 36 p.

Tack, J.D., and Fedy, B.C., 2015, Landscapes for energy and wildlife—Conservation prioritization for Golden Eagles across large spatial scales: PLoS One, v. 10, no. 8, p. e0134781. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0134781.]

Tack, J.D., Noon, B.R., Bowen, Z.H., and Fedy, B.C., 2020, Ecosystem processes, land cover, climate, and human settlement shape dynamic distributions for Golden Eagle across the western US: Animal Conservation, v. 23, no. 1, p. 72–82. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.1111/ acv.12511.]

Tallman, D.A., Swanson, D.L., and Palmer, J.S., 2002, Birds of South Dakota: Aberdeen, S. Dak., South Dakota Ornithologists' Union, Northern State University, 441 p.

Taylor, A.R., and Knight, R.L., 2003, Wildlife responses to recreation and associated visitor perceptions: Ecological Applications, v. 13, no. 4, p. 951–963. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.1890/1051-0761(2003)13[951:WRTRAA]2.0.CO;2.]

Tetra Tech, Inc., 2012, Mohave County Wind Farm—Eagle Conservation Plan and Bird Conservation Strategy: Portland, Ore., Tetra Tech EC, Inc., prepared for BP Wind Energy North America, Inc., 141 p.

Thomas, P.J., Mineau, P., Shore, R.F., Champoux, L., Martin, P.A., Wilson, L.K., Fitzgerald, G., and Elliott, J.E., 2011, Second generation anticoagulant rodenticides in predatory birds—Probabilistic characterisation of toxic liver concentrations and implications for predatory bird populations in Canada: Environmental Management, v. 37, no. 5, p. 914–920. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.1016/j. envint.2011.03.010.] Thompson, S.J., Johnson, D.H., Niemuth, N.D., and Ribic, C.A., 2015, Avoidance of unconventional oil wells and roads exacerbates habitat loss for grassland birds in the North American Great Plains: Biological Conservation, v. 192, p. 82–90. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.1016/j. biocon.2015.08.040.]

- Tosh, D.G., Shore, R.F., Jess, S., Withers, A., Bearhop, S., Montgomery, W.I., and McDonald, R.A., 2011, User behaviour, best practice and the risks of non-target exposure associated with anticoagulant rodenticide use: Journal of Environmental Management, v. 92, no. 6, p. 1503–1508. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2010.12.014.]
- Tracey, J.A., Madden, M.C., Bloom, P.H., and Fisher, R.N., 2020, A clarification on the effects of urbanization on Golden Eagle (*Aquila chrysaetos*) habitat selection: U.S. Geological Survey Open-File Report 2020–1110, 7 p. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.3133/ofr20201110.]
- Tracey, J.A., Madden, M.C., Bloom, P.H., Katzner, T.E., and Fisher, R.N., 2018, Golden Eagle (*Aquila chrysaetos*) habitat selection as a function of land use and terrain, San Diego County, California: U.S. Geological Survey Open-File Report 2018–1067, 13 p. [Also available at https://doi. org/10.3133/ofr20181067.]
- Uresk, D.W., and Bjugstad, A.J., 1983, Prairie dogs as ecosystem regulators on the northern High Plains, *in* Kucera, C. L., ed., Proceedings of the seventh North American Prairie Conference: Springfield, Mo, Southwest Missouri State University, p. 91–94.
- U.S. Department of Energy, 2021, Land-based wind market report, 2021 edition: Washington, D.C., U.S. Department of Energy, Office of Energy Efficiency and Renewable Energy, 71 p. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.2172/1818841.]
- U.S. Department of the Interior, 1996, Effects of military training and fire in the Snake River birds of Prey National Conservation Area: Boise, Idaho, U.S. Department of Interior, Geological Survey, Biological Resources Division, Snake River Field Station, BLM/IDARNG Research Project Final Report, 130 p.
- U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service [FWS], 1986, Final supplemental environmental impact statement—Use of lead shot for hunting migratory birds in the United States: Washington, D.C., U.S. Department of Interior, Fish and Wildlife Service, FES 86–16, 559 p.
- U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service [FWS], 2009, Eagle permits; take necessary to protect interests in particular localities; final rules: Federal Register, v. 74, p. 46836–46879, accessed on February 2022 at https://www.federalregister. gov/documents/2009/09/11/E9-21589/eagle-permits-takenecessary-to-protect-interests-in-particular-localities.

- U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service [FWS], 2013, Eagle Conservation Plan Guidance. Module 1—Land-based wind energy, version 2: Washington, D.C., U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service, Division of Migratory Bird Management, 103 p.
- U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service [FWS], 2016a, Bald and Golden eagles—Population demographics and estimation of sustainable take in the United States, 2016 update: Washington, D.C., U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service, Division of Migratory Bird Management, 101 p., accessed February 2022 at https://www.fws.gov/migratorybirds/pdf/management/EagleRuleRevisions-StatusReport.pdf.
- U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service [FWS], 2016b, Eagle permits; revisions to regulations for eagle incidental take and take of eagle nests, final rule: Federal Register, v. 81, p. 91494–91554, accessed on February 2022 at https://www. federalregister.gov/documents/2016/12/16/2016-29908/ eagle-permits-revisions-to-regulations-for-eagle-incidentaltake-and-take-of-eagle-nests.]
- U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service [FWS], 2020, Updated eagle nest survey protocol: Washington, D.C., U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service, Division of Migratory Birds, 4 p., accessed February 2022 at https://www.fws.gov/media/updatedeagle-nest-survey-protocol.
- U.S. Forest Service, 2015, Black-tailed prairie dog conservation assessment and management strategy for the Thunder Basin National Grassland: Laramie, Wyo., U.S. Forest Service, Medicine Bow-Routt National Forests and Thunder Basin National Grassland, 51 p.
- Utah Division of Wildlife Resources, 2021, Hunters helping condors program: Salt Lake City, Utah, Utah Division of Wildlife Resources, accessed February 2022 at https://wildlife.utah.gov/hunters-helping-condors.html.
- Van Auken, O.W., 2000, Shrub invasions of North American semiarid grasslands: Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics, v. 31, no. 1, p. 197–215. [Also available at https:// doi.org/10.1146/annurev.ecolsys.31.1.197.]
- van den Brink, N.W., Elliott, J.E., Shore, R.F., and Rattner, B.A., 2018, Anticoagulant rodenticides and wildlife— Concluding remarks, *in* van den Brink, N.W., Elliott, J.E., Shore, R.F., and Rattner, B.A., eds., Anticoagulant rodenticides and wildlife: Cham, Switzerland, Springer, Emerging Topics in Ecology—Principles, Approaches and Perspectives, volume 5, p. 379–386. [Also available at https://doi. org/10.1007/978-3-319-64377-9 14.]
- van der Leek, S.A., DeMerritt, S.L.A., and Kasner, A.C., 2020, Description of a Peregrine Falcon (*Falco peregrinus*) fence mortality in the southern High Plains of Texas: The Southwestern Naturalist, v. 64, nos. 3–4, p. 228–230. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.1894/0038-4909-64.3-4.228.]

Van Lanen, N.J., Green, A.W., Gorman, T.R., Quattrini, L.A., and Pavlacky, D.C., Jr., 2017, Evaluating efficacy of fence markers in reducing Greater Sage-Grouse collisions with fencing: Biological Conservation, v. 213, p. 70–83. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2017.06.030.]

Vantassel, S.M., Hiller, T.L., Powell, K.D., and Hygnstrom, S.E., 2010, Using advancements in cable-trapping to overcome barriers to furbearer management in the United States: The Journal of Wildlife Management, v. 74, no. 5, p. 934– 939. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.2193/2009-298.]

Wagnon, C.J., Schooley, R.L., and Cosentino, B.J., 2020, Shrub encroachment creates a dynamic landscape of fear for desert lagomorphs via multiple pathways: Ecosphere, v. 11, no. 9, p. e03240. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.1002/ ecs2.3240.]

Walker, D., McGrady, M., McCluskie, A., Madders, M., and McLeod, D.R.A., 2005, Resident Golden Eagle ranging behaviour before and after construction of a windfarm in Argyll: Scottish Birds, v. 25, p. 24–40.

Wallace, Z.P., 2014, Effects of oil and natural gas development on territory occupancy of Ferruginous Hawks and Golden Eagles in Wyoming: Corvallis, Ore., Oregon State University, Master's Thesis, 124 p.

Wallace, Z., Bedrosian, G., Woodbridge, B., Williams, G., Bedrosian, B.E., and Dunk, J., 2019, Wyoming and Uinta Basins Golden Eagle Conservation Strategy: Report prepared for the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service Western Golden Eagle Team by the Wyoming Natural Diversity Database and Eagle Environmental, Inc., 152 p.

Ward, J.P., Hanebury, L.R., and Phillips, R.L., 1983, Raptor inventory of coal areas in western North Dakota: Bismarck, N. Dak., Report prepared for U.S. Fish Wildlife Service, 54 p.

Washburn, B.E., Begier, M.J., and Wright, S.E., 2015, Collisions between eagles and aircraft—An increasing problem in the airport environment: The Journal of Raptor Research, v. 49, no. 2, p. 192–200. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.3356/rapt-49-02-192-200.1.]

Washington Department of Fish and Wildlife, 2015, Washington's State Wildlife Action Plan—2015 update: Olympia, Wash., Washington Department of Fish and Wildlife, 1095 p., accessed February 2022 at https://wdfw.wa.gov/sites/ default/files/publications/01742/wdfw01742.pdf.

Watson, J., 1992, Golden Eagle *Aquila chrysaetos* breeding success and afforestation in Argyll: Bird Study, v. 39, no. 3, p. 203–206. [Also available at https://doi. org/10.1080/00063659209477120.] Watson, J., 2010, The Golden Eagle (2d ed.): London, England, T & AD Poyser, 464 p.

Watson, J., and Dennis, R.H., 1992, Nest site selection by Golden Eagles *Aquila chrysaetos* in Scotland: British Birds, v. 85, no. 9, p. 469–481.

Watson, J.W., Hayes, G.E., Keren, I.N., and Owens, T.E., 2020, Evidence for depressed reproduction of Golden Eagles in Washington: The Journal of Wildlife Management, v. 84, no. 5, p. 1002–1011. [Also available at https:// doi.org/10.1002/jwmg.21860.]

Watson, J.W., Marheine, R., and Fitzhenry, T., 2014, Focal activity of nesting Golden Eagles near unused nests: The Journal of Raptor Research, v. 48, no. 3, p. 284–289. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.3356/JRR-13-77.1.]

Watson, J.W., Vekasy, M.S., Nelson, J.D., and Orr, M.R., 2019, Eagle visitation rates to carrion in a winter scavenging guild: The Journal of Wildlife Management, v. 83, no. 8, p. 1735–1743. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.1002/ jwmg.21760.]

Wayland, M., and Bollinger, T., 1999, Lead exposure and poisoning in Bald Eagles and Golden Eagles in the Canadian prairie provinces: Environmental Pollution, v. 104, no. 3, p. 341–350. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.1016/ S0269-7491(98)00201-2.]

Wells, K., Butterworth, A., and Richards, N., 2020, A review of secondary pentobarbital poisoning in scavenging wildlife, companion animals and captive carnivores: Journal of Veterinary Forensic Sciences, v. 1, no. 1, p. 1–15. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.32473/jvfs.v1i1.128307.]

Wheeler, B.K., 2003, Raptors of western North America: Princeton, N.J., Princeton University Press, 560 p.

Wichmann, M.C., Groeneveld, J., Jeltsch, F., and Grimm, V., 2005, Mitigation of climate change impacts on raptors by behavioural adaptation—Ecological buffering mechanisms: Global and Planetary Change, v. 47, nos. 2–4, p. 273–281. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.1016/j.glopla-cha.2004.10.016.]

White, W.H., Smith, J.M., Bassett, S.D., Brown, J.L., and Ormsby, Z.E., 2018, Raptor nesting locations along an urban density gradient in the Great Basin, USA: Urban Ecosystems, v. 21, no. 1, p. 51–60. [Also available at https://doi. org/10.1007/s11252-017-0705-y.]

Whitfield, D.P., Fielding, A.H., McLeod, D.R.A., and Haworth, P.F., 2004, The effects of persecution on age of breeding and territory occupation in Golden Eagles in Scotland: Biological Conservation, v. 118, no. 2, p. 249–259. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.1016/j. biocon.2003.09.003.]
Whitfield, D.P., McLeod, D.R., Fielding, A.H., Broad, R.A., Evans, R.J., and Haworth, P.F., 2001, The effects of forestry on Golden Eagles on the island of Mull, western Scotland: Journal of Applied Ecology, v. 38, no. 6, p. 1208– 1220. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.1046/j.0021-8901.2001.00675.x.]

Whitfield, D.P., Ruddock, M., and Bullman, R., 2008, Expert opinion as a tool for quantifying bird tolerance to human disturbance: Biological Conservation, v. 141, no. 11, p. 2708–2717. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.1016/j. biocon.2008.08.007.]

Wiens, J.D., and Kolar, P.S., 2021, Golden Eagle population surveys in the vicinity of the Altamont Pass Wind Resource Area, California, 2014–21: U.S. Geological Survey Open-File Report 2021–1107, 18 p. [Also available at https://doi. org/10.3133/ofr20211107.]

Wiens, J.D., Schumaker, N.H., Inman, R.D., Esque, T.C., Longshore, K.M., and Nussear, K.E., 2017, Spatial demographic models to inform conservation planning of Golden Eagles in renewable energy landscapes: The Journal of Raptor Research, v. 51, no. 3, p. 234–257. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.3356/JRR-16-77.1.] Woodgerd, W., 1952, Food habits of the Golden Eagle: The Journal of Wildlife Management, v. 16, no. 4, p. 457–459. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.2307/3797495.]

Young, D.D., Jr., McIntyre, C.L., Bente, P.J., McCabe, T.R., and Ambrose, R.E., 1995, Nesting by Golden Eagles on the North Slope of the Brooks Range in northeastern Alaska: Journal of Field Ornithology, v. 66, no. 3, p. 373–379.

Young, D.P., Jr., LeBeau, C., Erickson, W., Nomani, S., Boehrs, J.R., and Oakleaf, B., 2010, Status of breeding populations of Ferruginous Hawks, Golden Eagles, and Bald Eagles in Albany and Carbon County, Wyoming, *in* Orbana, A.C., ed., Wyoming Game and Fish Department Threatened, Endangered, and Nongame Bird and Mammal Investigations: Lander, Wyo., Wyoming Game and Fish Department, p. 42–54.

Zouhar, K., 2021, Fire regimes of plains grassland and prairie ecosystems, *in* Fire Effects Information System [Online]: Missoula, Mont., U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Rocky Mountain Research Station, Missoula Fire Sciences Laboratory, accessed July 2022 at https://www. fs.usda.gov/database/feis/fire_regimes/PlainsGrass_Prairie/ all.html.

Table 01. Nesting chronology of Golden Eagles (*Aquila chrysaetos*) recorded across the Great Plains and adjoining areas. Dates above parentheses are medians and those within parentheses are ranges.

Location	п	Laying dates	Hatching dates	Study
Southwestern Montana	9	(March 17–April 11)	(April 28–May 24)	Baglien, 1975
Southwestern North Dakota		(March 27–May 1) ^a	~May 8–June 12 ^b	Stewart, 1975
Western South Dakota		(~March 6–April 18)°	(~April 17-May 30) ^b	South Dakota Ornithologists' Union, 1991
Northeastern Wyoming	86	March 20 (February 24–April 12)	May 1 ^b (April 10–May 25)	Phillips and Beske, 1990
Southeastern Wyoming	7	(March 20–April 4)	(May 2–May 31)	Schmalzried, 1976
Northeastern Colorado	11	(March 10–April 1)	(April 21–May 13)	Olendorff, 1973
Four Corners region ^d	53	March 1° (February 1–March 31)°	April 14 ^f (March 16–May 13)	Murphy and others, 2017
Southern Great Plains region	17	March 2° (January 28–March 23) ^f	April 13 ^f (March 11–May 4)	Murphy and Stahlecker, 2022

[n, number of nests; --, no data; ~, approximately]

^aExtreme egg dates.

^bEstimated by adding a 42-day incubation period (Katzner and others, 2020b) to reported laying dates.

'Earliest laying is the presumed "incubating" reported for March 6 and latest is coarsely estimated by subtracting 30 days from observation of "half-grown young" on July 3.

^dSoutheastern Utah, southwestern Colorado, northeastern Arizona, and northwestern New Mexico.

eEstimated by subtracting a 42-day incubation period (Katzner and others, 2020b) from reported hatching dates.

^fBased on back-dating from mid-May through June marking of nestlings at 52 days of age.

For more information about this publication, contact: Director, USGS Northern Prairie Wildlife Research Center 8711 37th Street Southeast Jamestown, ND 58401 701–253–5500

For additional information, visit: https://www.usgs.gov/centers/npwrc

Publishing support provided by the Rolla Publishing Service Center

